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This integrated annual report presents the operational and financial 
performance of Transcend Residential Property Fund Limited (“Transcend” 
or “the company”) for the year from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019.

It includes a range of financial and 
non-financial disclosures, performance 
measures and reviews over the period, 
providing an insight into its strategy, the 
business and growth opportunities, as 
well as the risks facing the company and 
the steps taken to mitigate those risks.

The purpose of this report is to provide 
all stakeholders with relevant, accurate 
and transparent information in order 
to enable them to objectively assess 
Transcend’s ability to create and sustain 
value in the future, and further allows 
for informed decision making by users.

This report also provides information 
on the company’s corporate governance 
principles and structures, as well as its 
commitment to social, environmental, 
financial and economic objectives.

Framework applied
The framework applied for the 
preparation of this report is in 
accordance with best practice and 
applies the principles of the following:

 > The King IV Report on Corporate 
Governance for South Africa 2016 
(“King IV”);

 > The JSE Limited (“JSE”) Listings 
Requirements; and

 > The Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008, 
as amended (“Companies Act”).

The financial information provided in 
the annual financial statements set out 
on pages 56 to 104 has been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), SAICA’s 
Financial Reporting Guidelines as issued 
by the Accounting Practices Committee 
and Financial Pronouncements as 
issued by the Financial Reporting 
Standards Council, the requirements 
of the Companies Act and the JSE 
Listings Requirements.

Forward-looking 
statements
This integrated annual report may 
contain certain forward-looking 
statements concerning Transcend’s 
operations and future financial 
performance. While these statements 
reflect best estimates of management 
and the Board of Directors (“the Board”), 
such views inherently contain 
uncertainties around known and 
unknown risks facing the company. As 
such, no assurance can be given, and no 
representation or warranty expressed as 
to the accuracy or completeness of such 
views or statements. Forward-looking 
information has not been reviewed or 
reported on by the external auditors.

Assurance
The Board is responsible for preparing 
the annual financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS, the JSE Listings 
Requirements and the Companies Act. 
Over and above its regulatory reporting 
obligations, the company strives to 
present disclosures that are useful and 
informative to stakeholders.

The financial statements set out on 
pages 56 to 104 were independently 
audited by the company’s external 
auditors, KPMG Inc (“KPMG”).

Shareholders are advised that certain 
performance measures used in this 
integrated annual report are not  
defined by IFRS and may accordingly 
differ from company to company. 
The Board however believes that these 
are relevant performance measures to 
the company. The methodology for the 
calculation of the performance measures 
is set out on the company’s website 
www.transcendproperty.co.za. The Board 
is responsible for the preparation of the 
performance measures and ensuring 
compliance with Practice Note 4/2019 
(Performance Measures) of the JSE 
Listings Requirements. The performance 
measures have not been reviewed by the 
company’s external auditors.

Board responsibility 
statement
The Board acknowledges its responsibility 
to ensure the integrity of this integrated 
annual report for the 2019 financial 
year. The Board has accordingly applied 
its judgment and in its opinion, this 
integrated annual report addresses all 
material matters, and offers a holistic 
view of the performance of Transcend. 
The Board is working towards full 
compliance with the International 
Integrated Reporting Council’s 
International <IR> Framework.

The Board authorised the integrated 
annual report for publication on  
28 April 2020.

Robert Emslie 
Chairman
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On 31 December 2019, the World Health 
Organization (“WHO”) reported a series 
of pneumonia cases in Wuhan City, China. 
Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome 
Coronavirus 2 was confirmed as the causal 
viral infection of what is now known to be 
the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19”). 
Since then the virus has spread drastically, 
affecting more than 100 countries 
globally, including South Africa. The 
COVID-19 pandemic has given rise to 
unprecedented circumstances, resulting in 
mass disruption and a global “lockdown” 
with more than a quarter of the world’s 
population adopting preventative and 
protective measures of self-isolating and 
social distancing.

Similarly, and under the leadership of 
our president, South Africa announced 
a 21-day nationwide lockdown on 
23 March 2020. This period of lockdown 
was extended by a further 14 days, ending 
on 30 April 2020. Measures implemented 
by the South African Government have 
included severe restrictions on travel and 
movement. In addition, our borders have 
been closed to reduce the rate of infection 
from those travelling into South Africa 
from other countries.

The pandemic has seen significant 
worldwide economic contraction with 
considerable impact on financial markets. 
COVID-19 has caused both a supply and 
a demand shock globally. From a South 
African context, we are aware that 
most businesses’ ability to continue 
operations has been hampered by the 
lockdown and, therefore, revenues will 
be negatively affected.

The Government and its departments have 
implemented various interim measures 
to combat the short- and medium-term 
effects of the COVID-19 pandemic to 
assist local businesses, their employees 
and individuals during this time of 
difficulty. These include a series of funding 
interventions available to select and deeply 
affected industries, including small, micro 
and medium-sized enterprises (“SMMEs”); 
the hospitality and tourism sector; as 
well as the health sector. The National 
Treasury has also reduced the repo rate 
by 200 basis points to ease financial 
pressure on businesses and the consumer. 
The president further noted that the 
Unemployment Insurance Fund (“UIF”) has 
set aside R40 billion to help employees who 
will be unable to work as part of efforts to 
prevent jobs losses and sustain income due 
to the lockdown. 

These measures, including other private 
sector initiatives such as the Solidarity 
Fund, will surely assist in relieving pressure.

Management and the Board supports 
President Ramaphosa’s initiatives which 
have been implemented in a nationwide 
effort to “flatten the curve” in respect of 
COVID-19 infections in South Africa.

Property market
The slowdown of economic activity 
expects to see a sector-wide suspension 
of rental growth and drop in net operating 
income in the months to come. Amid 
anticipated loss of revenues, operational 
curtailment and resultant job losses, 
tenants may seek some form of rental 
relief or concession from landlords 
or renewal of leases at lower rates. 
Occupancies and valuations are likely to 
come under pressure in the short term and 
this will require thoughtful and proactive 
investment and asset management.

Residential property is viewed as one 
of the more defensive sectors during 
economic downturns. But the longer the 
pandemic and the downturn persists, the 
hit to the job market and wage growth will 
start to bear down on rental affordability.

Transcend’s operations
The safety and well-being of Transcend’s 
people, tenants, communities and wider 
stakeholders remain our top priority while 
we work hard to contain and mitigate 
the potential effects of the pandemic. 
Transcend is closely monitoring the 
recommendations issued by WHO, the 
South African Government and relevant 
authorities and will continue to comply 
with these across our operations. The 
company is in constant communication 
with tenants and key service providers 
to keep abreast of and review their 
circumstances as they respond to the 
pandemic. Operational staff are providing 
ongoing feedback to management, and 
consequently, to the Board. Management 
will adjust the company’s approach when 
and where necessary.

Management continues to take the 
necessary steps to ensure that a 
sound financial and liquidity position 
is maintained during this period of 
uncertainty. During the initial months of 
2020 the business has performed in line 
with budgeted targets. This is supported 
by high occupancies and strong positive 
cash flows generated by Transcend’s 
portfolio, although management and the 
Board are aware that the impact of the 
lockdown and a slowdown in economic 
activity may affect these conditions in 
the short term.

In addition to its performance the 
company also has no commercial bank 
debt obligations maturing during the next 
12-month period.

The majority of our tenant base earns 
income of between R15 000 to R40 000 per 
month, who as a result of their employers 
being impacted by the COVID-19 may 
find it difficult to continue paying their 
rent if the situation persists. Therefore, 
the company has implemented an 
income declaration process for tenants 
whose income has been affected by 
this pandemic. This allows tenants to 
utilise their deposits for rental and 
make arrangements for lower rental 
payments until after 16 June 2020 or 
sooner, depending on the duration of 
this uncertain period.

Transcend’s portfolio currently extends 
across 4 722 individual units that are 
let on month-to-month leases with 
tenants. The company and its property 
management teams have been working 
constantly through this challenging 
time to maintain, secure and operate 
its properties and business effectively. 
The company’s portfolio achieved an 
occupancy of 95.7% at 31 March 2020 
and an average collection on rental 
income of 97% for the first quarter 
ending 31 March 2020. The following 
considerations are pertinent:

 > Residential property is a more defensive 
and resilient asset class than others 
due to a broad and diversified tenant 
base; however, the current set of 
circumstances bring significant 
uncertainty and unchartered territory 
to all financial markets, the property 
sector and the company.

 > The company currently continues 
to generate strong cash flows at 
a property level, as monthly and 
quarterly rental collections continue 
uninterrupted to date.

 > The company continues to be in constant 
communication with tenants and key 
service providers during this period.

 > Evictions have been prohibited during 
lockdown which could specifically 
impact Transcend's performance. 

We will continue monitoring the situation 
and assist workers and companies to 
limit the negative financial impact of the 
COVID-19 on business and our economy. 
We Are All in it Together!
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TRANSCEND is a public company, listed 
on the Main Board of the JSE (“Main 
Board”) since 12 February 2020, after 
its migration from the Alternative 
Exchange (“AltX”) of the JSE. The 
company initially listed on the AltX 
on 1 December 2016 in the Financial 
Services — Real Estate Investment Trust 
(Residential REITs) sector. Transcend’s 
country of operation is in the Republic 
of South Africa.

Vision
Transcend's vision is to provide high-quality, well-
located, affordable rental apartments to its tenants. 
It aims to create stakeholder value by growing its 
existing residential portfolio through investment into 
high-demand rental properties offering competitive 
rentals and providing attractive risk-adjusted returns 
to shareholders. Its portfolio demonstrates resilience 
through the property cycle, with competitive open 
market rental properties across South Africa.

The company acquires and owns quality assets that attract best 
rate rentals. Core to its business is the company's tenant base and 
the people who live in the Transcend units. Transcend will continue 
to focus on providing rental homes to the affordable market 
segment where the payment profiles are above national averages 
and are located in growth orientated geographic markets. The 
combination of specialist residential expertise, superior property 
management and asset investment in select locations will 
continue to give the company an additional competitive edge.

Part of this vision was achieved during the 2019 financial year, 
which saw the company successfully implement the acquisition 
of a significant portfolio of eight properties, consisting over 
2 000 units. During the year under review, Transcend also acquired 
an additional property consisting of 76 units in Silverton, Tshwane. 
The company will continue to build its existing pipeline of rental 
properties and has identified nearly 1 000 affordable units with 
a total value of approximately R485 million, demonstrating the 
immediate opportunities available for portfolio expansion.

Mission
Transcend’s mission is to drive the performance of 
portfolio by providing a quality rental service to its 
tenants, establish a stable and consistent track record 
of dividend growth by investing in accretive properties 
and leveraging off the experience and expertise of its 
executive management, and its property and asset 
management service providers.

With its recent move to the Main Board, Transcend aims to benefit 
from improved access to capital and liquidity and secure a diverse 
and broader shareholder spread. Its well-managed, quality 
portfolio provides a defensive and resilient asset class for both 
existing and potential investors and shareholders.

The company’s primary business activities are the acquisition 
and management of income-generating residential properties 
— focusing on housing opportunities that are affordable, lifestyle 
enhancing and located in established urban areas. Transcend holds 
a portfolio of 23 properties valued at R2.77 billion, comprising 
4 730 units, located in Gauteng, as well as the Western Cape and 
Mpumalanga in South Africa. In line with its strategy, Transcend 
acquired a new property consisting of 76 units during 2019, 
in addition to the 2 219 units acquired during 2018.

Unlike conventional inner-city residential housing, the company’s 
properties are predominantly two- and three-storey walk-up 
apartments, strategically located in desirable neighbourhoods, 
close to work opportunities and equipped with lifestyle-enhancing 
amenities. On average, the properties are in the region of six 
years old, and because of their location, quality, specification and 
management they tend to have a high underlying capital value, 
providing greater potential for capital appreciation. As a result, 
performance is at lower rental yields than inner-city properties, 
and in the view of the Board and management, attracts a better 
profile of tenant and less risk of rental reversions and non-
payment by tenants.

The company has majority ownership of units on all properties 
and outright owns 19 of its 23 properties. In instances where the 
company does not own the property outright, Transcend will have 
the majority ownership of units at each of the properties in order 
to control the body corporates. 
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The international residential REIT market 
has proven itself to be sophisticated, 
as residential assets have the ability 
to be less volatile over time than other 
classes of real estate, making them 
more defensive than other segments 
of the market. The South African REIT 
market is still heavily under-weighted 
relative to other markets in respect of its 
exposure to the residential asset class, 
which provides significant opportunity 
and runway for this property class.

Transcend’s strategy is to keep investing 
in the affordable housing market — one of 
the few market segments where demand 
continues to exceed supply and where this 
gap continues to grow. Urbanisation is still 
rapidly increasing in South Africa and it 
follows that Transcend will offer investors 
exposure to a defensive and resilient 
asset class, that delivers quality housing 
to a heavily underserviced portion of the 
real estate market.

Through the property cycle and in what 
continues to be a difficult market and 
economy, Transcend aims to achieve 
consistent long-term growth in dividends 
by optimising the performance of its 
property portfolio through stable rental 
escalations, efficiently controlled cost 
management in property and asset 
management, and economies of scale.

COMPLIANCE  
AND GOVERNANCE

OPERATIONAL 
EXPERTISE

REPUTATIONALPEOPLE REGULATORY FINANCIAL

Investment thesis
Residential housing is a unique investment which has the potential to act as an inflation 
hedge over the long term, returning attractive risk-adjusted, real growth distributions to 
shareholders. Transcend provides investors with exposure to the defensive nature of this 
asset class, and maintains its strategy of owning well-located, quality properties in high 
demand areas. Its portfolio is geographically diverse, well-managed and well-maintained, 
providing investors with the security of quality underlying capital assets which should 
appreciate in value over time.

Transcend aims to establish a track record of consistent performance and growth in 
distributions. Transcend’s intention to optimise the performance of the core portfolio and 
only acquire properties that is yield accretive and suit the profile of property owned in its 
portfolio. Its current portfolio consists of long-term income-generating assets which the 
company believes could generate additional value through high tenant demand, careful 
management and income growth. Transcend is focused on “value add” initiatives to 
improve performance of the portfolio:

ATTRACTING  
and retaining quality tenants.

PROVIDING  
well-managed, secure and safe homes to tenants in desirable areas.

REDUCING  
vacancies and improving recoveries on properties.

STRATEGIC  
capital investment for better long-term performance and to maintain asset quality.

EFFECTIVE  
cost and financial management.

UNDERPINNED  
by a strong and established corporate governance structure which ensures not only good 
risk management of the business and compliance with the relevant laws and regulations 
but also the adoption of best industry practice and necessary frameworks.

Transcend will dispose of non-core properties that are not suited to the long-term strategy 
of the portfolio. In addition, this will support its strategy to reduce the company’s loan-to-
value ratio (“LTV”) to a targeted long-term range of 30% to 40%. 

4 730 23 3
COMPANY  PROFILE
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Listed as a REIT on the 
on the AltX of the JSE 
on 1 December 2016

On listing raised 

R48.6m in capital 
through an IPO

10.95% held by 
public shareholders

13 properties located 
across 3 provinces 
valued at  

R1.19bn

Outperformed 
forecast guidance by 

0.32m (Dividend of 

64.04cps)

Portfolio occupancy  

of 92.7%

Net operating income 
from continuing 
operations of 

R90.7m

Increased portfolio 

value to R1.22bn

Outperformed revised 
forecast guidance by 
declaring a dividend  

of 64.68cps  

(1% growth)

Stabilised portfolio 

occupancy of 94.6%

Net operating income 
from continuing 
operations of 

R105.4m

Acquired 2 219  
units increasing the 
total portfolio to  

4 691 units

22 properties located 
across 3 provinces 

valued at R2.72bn

Raised over R415m 
of capital by private 
placement and 
diversified our 
shareholder base, while 
strategically securing 
Emira as a cornerstone 

investor, with a 34.9% 
shareholding

Secured over R820m 
of senior debt for new 
acquisitions

Outperformed forecast 
guidance by declaring a 

dividend of 65.14cps 
(0.7% growth)

Stabilised portfolio 

occupancy of 96%

Net operating income 
from continuing 
operations of 

R225.9m  
(114% increase)

Acquired a further 
property consisting  

of 76 units

23 properties located 

across 3 provinces 

valued at R2.77bn

Portfolio arrears of 1%

Migrated to the  

Main Board  
of the JSE

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
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TRANSCEND RESIDENTIAL  
PROPERTY FUND LIMITED

ASSET 
MANAGEMENT 

AGREEMENT

PROPERTY 
MANAGEMENT 

AGREEMENT

PORTFOLIO OF 23 PROPERTIES  
VALUED AT R2.77bn

IHS AMIHS PM

25.1% 

34.9% 15% 8.6% 9.9% 11.4% 35.2% 

100% 59.9% 

100% 

PUBLIC  
SHAREHOLDERS  
AND DIRECTORS

EMIRA 
PROPERTY 

FUND

BNYM15
Omnibus  
Account

SAWHF 
PVE (SA)

SAWHF  
SA 1

MEAGO 
CAPITAL 

(PTY) LTD

Note: The JSE approved the transfer of the company’s listing from the AltX to the “SA Listed Property” sector of the Main Board of the JSE with effect from Wednesday, 
12 February 2020. The move followed a request by Transcend to move to the Main Board as a result of the company fulfilling all of the criteria for a Main Board listing as set out in the 
JSE Listings Requirements.

IHS (RF) 
(PTY) LTD
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During 2018, 
Transcend 
acquired 2 219 
units from 
related parties.

IHS 2019 highlights

R6.1bn
INVESTOR COMMITMENTS

R6.9bn 
ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT

78 
FUNDED INVESTMENTS IN 
REAL ESTATE PROJECTS

27 657  
COMPLETED UNITS

10 268  
RENTAL UNITS UNDER 
MANAGEMENT 

> 12 000 
UNITS APPROVED AND  
UNDER CONSTRUCTION

Introduction
During 2018 Transcend acquired nine 
new properties located across Gauteng 
and the Western Cape from three related 
parties, being:

 > International Housing Solutions 
Residential Partners 1 (RF) Proprietary 
Limited, a limited liability private 
company incorporated in South Africa, 
in its capacity as general partner for 
the South African en commandite 
partnership International Housing 
Solutions Residential Partners 
Partnership, (“IHS Res 1”);

 > Sunnyshore Trade and Invest 105 
Proprietary Limited (“Sunnyshore”); and

 > SAWHF SA Rental 4 Trust (“Rental 4 Trust”).

To fund the acquisition of these properties, 
Transcend secured a strategic investor 
in Emira Property Fund Limited (“Emira”) 
who acquired a 34.9% shareholding in the 
company by way of a vendor placement 
of ordinary shares. Part of this share issue 
also saw International Housing Solutions 
(RF) (Pty) Ltd (“IHS” or “IHS RF (Pty) Ltd”) 
take up shares in Transcend, which holds 
an 11.4% stake in the company at year-end.

South African Workforce Housing Fund 
PVE (SA) (“SAWHF”), a South African 
en commandite partnership (“the 
Partnership”) and related party, also holds  
a significant stake at 35.2% of the shares 
at 31 December 2019.

Transcend does not have any subsidiaries.

IHS background
IHS has successfully managed residential 
property investments since 2008. The role 
of IHS, through IHS Asset Management 
(Pty) Ltd (“IHS AM”), covers the full scope 
of asset management services required 
by Transcend. This includes seeking 
new investment opportunities for the 
company through its strong network and 
deal-making capabilities. IHS has a proven 
track record of successfully sourcing, 
stabilising and managing properties, 
which will be utilised for the benefit of 
Transcend. IHS currently provides asset 
management services to:

 > Transcend;

 > SAWHF;

 > IHS Fund II SA;

 > IHS Fund II SSA; and

 > IHS Res 1.

Transcend’s asset management function 
is externally managed by IHS AM, a 
subsidiary of IHS.

Transcend suppliers  
and property managers

IHS AM
IHS AM manages Transcend in terms 
of an asset management agreement. 
The agreement became effective on 
1 October 2016, prior to its listing on the 
AltX in December 2016. Based on the 
size of the portfolio, and the residential 
expertise offered by IHS, this is a more 
cost-effective approach than performing 
this function internally. IHS AM is a 59.9% 
held subsidiary of IHS, and in turn, IHS AM 
outsources its main asset management 
functions to IHS in terms of a service 
level agreement. 

Transcend pays IHS AM an annual 
asset management fee, calculated as 
a percentage (excluding VAT) of the 
enterprise value of the company. This 
fee is currently 0.5% (excluding VAT) per 
annum and is payable monthly in arrears.

IHS AM charged Transcend asset 
management fees of R13.75 million 
(2018: R5.75 million) during the year in 
accordance with the asset management 
agreement. This is a 10-year agreement 
and will remain in force for 2020.

IHS PM
The property management function of the 
company is outsourced on market related 
terms to IHS Property Management (Pty) 
Ltd (“IHS PM”).

A property management agreement was 
entered into by Transcend and IHS PM 
on 16 October 2016. IHS PM’s functions 
as property manager include, inter alia, 
managing, letting and lease agreements, 
collection of income, credit control 
(including vetting of tenants), electricity 
and water accounts, all repairs and 
maintenance, security, cleaning services, 
as well as instigating legal proceedings 
(subject to prior written consent of 
Transcend), preparing draft budgets, 
financial reporting and dealing with 
local authorities.

Transcend pays IHS PM property 
management fees, calculated at between 
5% to 7% of the gross cash collected from 
tenants on a monthly basis, including 
rent and recoveries. IHS PM charged 
Transcend property management fees of 
R24.37 million (2018: R12.4 million) during 
the year in accordance with the property 
management agreement.
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Shareholders

EMIRA
Emira is a limited liability public company 
registered and incorporated in South 
Africa and a REIT listed on the Main Board 
of the JSE. Emira first subscribed to shares 
in Transcend in October 2018 for which 
it previously held 9.9% or 7.3 million of 
Transcend shares. On 14 December 2018 
Emira took up a further 38.38 million 
shares on private placement and now 
hold a total of 34.9% or 45.68 million of 
Transcend shares.

In addition to its shareholding, Emira 
has also provided a shareholder’s loan 
to Transcend. This loan was also used 
to finance Transcend’s investment in 
eight of the properties acquired during 
2018. This loan is subordinated against 
all other interest-bearing borrowings. 
Interest is payable to Emira quarterly 
at an effective rate of JIBAR plus 3.5%. 
At 31 December 2019 the loan payable 
was R146.53 million. The total principal 
borrowings of the loan are repayable 
in June 2020, however, Transcend has 
extended the repayment of R93.46 
million for an additional 12 months with 
repayment in June 2021. Refinancing of 
this loan attracts interest payable to 
Emira quarterly at an effective rate of 
JIBAR plus 3.95%.

SAWHF
Transcend is 35.2% owned by SAWHF, a 
South African en commandite partnership 
(the “Partnership”) duly represented 
by its general partner, the South Africa 
Workforce Housing Fund (SA GP) (RF) 
Pty Ltd. The Partnership is comprised of 
one en commandite partner being the 
South African Workforce Housing SA I 
(“SAWHF SA 1”), which in turn has three 
partners being: SAWHF (Cayman) I Ltd, 
SAWHF (Cayman) II Ltd and SAWHF (SA) II.

The relationship between the Partnership 
and IHS is governed by a signed investment 
management agreement.

Related party 
transactions

ACQUISITIONS AND RELATED 
PARTY TRANSACTIONS
At 31 December 2018, the loans payable 
to related parties were in respect of 
outstanding amounts owing to IHS Res 1 
and Sunnyshore for the acquisition of 
eight properties (2 159 units).

The purchase considerations payable 
were funded partially through equity 
and debt on transfer of the properties. 
These properties transferred to and 
registered in the name of Transcend 
during the period April to August 2019, 
and the corresponding related parties 
loans payable were settled in full through 
surplus cash and senior secured interest-
bearing borrowings with The Standard 
Bank of South Africa Limited (“Standard 
Bank”) and under a syndicated agency 
agreement between Standard Bank and 
Nedbank Limited (“Nedbank”).

IHS RES 1 
IHS Res 1 is managed by IHS. During 2018, 
Transcend acquired 1 983 units across 
7 properties from IHS Res 1 for an aggregate 
purchase consideration of R1.21 billion. 
This was agreed by way of several sale 
agreements between the parties and 
as effective date transactions, which 
collectively included the acquisition of:

 > Birchwood Village;

 > De Velde;

 > Midrand Village;

 > Southgate Ridge;

 > Urban Ridge East;

 > Urban Ridge South; and

 > Urban Ridge West.

Although these agreements were 
unconditional on 30 November 2018  
with an effective date of 1 December 2018 
(“effective date”), the units only transferred 
to Transcend during the course of 2019. 
However, the risks and rewards of 
ownership passed to Transcend on the 
effective date and these units are included 
in the portfolio reported at year-end 
31 December 2018.

At 31 December 2018, the total loan 
payable to IHS Res 1 amounted to 
R768.62 million and was classified as 
current as it was settled within 12 months 
from the year ended 31 December 2018. 
This loan was unsecured until final 
settlement of the amount outstanding. 
Throughout 2019 this loan was replaced 
by interest-bearing borrowings secured 
under new three-year, five-year and 
overdraft facilities upon transfer of 
the respective units to Transcend. 
At 31 December 2019, there was no 
balance payable to IHS Res 1 as senior 
debt secured of R740 million (and cash 
reserves) was drawn on upon transfer 
of the respective properties and used 
to settle the loan in full.

In terms of the sales agreement with 
IHS Res 1 an escalation of 6% per annum 
was levied on the purchase consideration 
payable to IHS Res 1 from the effective date 
of 1 December 2018. This escalation accrued 
until 30 August 2019 — the date on which all 
the properties had transferred to Transcend 
— and amounted to R37.31 million  
(a purchase consideration escalation 
provision of R22.19 million was recognised 
in 2018). A final settlement amount was 
discounted to R35.6 million and paid to IHS 
Res 1 during December 2019.

SUNNYSHORE
Sunnyshore is a limited liability private 
company duly registered and incorporated 
in the Republic of South Africa and 
effectively wholly owned by SAWHF. 
Sunnyshore is a subsidiary of Picture Perfect 
Trading 203 Proprietary Limited, a subsidiary 
of SAWHF GP (RF), a partner in SAWHF. 

On 4 October 2018, Transcend and 
Sunnyshore entered into a sale agreement 
where Transcend acquired 176 sectional 
title units in the scheme known as Protea 
Glen, a property situated on erven 8 487 
and 8 488 Protea Glen Extension 11 
Township, Soweto, for an aggregate 
purchase consideration of R60 million. 
Similar to the IHS Res 1 portfolio sales 
agreements, this was also an effective 
date contract with an effective date of 
1 December 2018.

At 31 December 2018, the total loan 
payable to Sunnyshore amounted to 
R60.22 million and was classified as current 
as it was settled within 12 months from 
the year ended 31 December 2019. This 
loan was unsecured until final settlement 
of the amount outstanding. In March 2019, 
this loan was replaced by interest-
bearing borrowings of R46.72 million 
secured under existing debt facilities 
with Standard Bank, upon transfer of 
the respective units to Transcend. At 
31 December 2019 there was no balance 
payable to Sunnyshore as the senior debt 
secured (and cash reserves) was drawn on 
upon transfer of the respective properties 
and used to settle the loan in full.
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Transcend’s strategic priorities outline the company’s 
objectives and focus areas for providing rental homes. 
These include its immediate and long-term plans for 
ongoing and future success and sustaining stakeholder 
value. Transcend continuously concentrates its efforts 
on achieving these goals and effectively executing its 
business activities.

The degree to which the company achieves its main objectives during each year, determines its 
progression and the quality of its performance. Defined outputs and performance objectives 
are measured against clear targets set by management and the Board. Transcend’s 3 key 
areas of strategic focus include Financial, Operational and Stakeholder. These areas and the 
performance of each are described in the following table.
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Create sustainable 
income growth by 
optimising portfolio  
net income.

Grow distributions  
to shareholders.

Increase in value 
of our Investment 
Properties.

Maintain a stable 
capital structure and 
target a short-term 
LTV range of 40% to 
45% and long-term LTV 
range of 30% to 40%  
of Investment 
Properties value.

TARGET 
Further value creation and optimisation of the portfolio 
through effective asset and cost management.

ACHIEVED 
Positive growth of 0.7% on 2018 distribution.

Dividend per share (cents) of 65.14.

Increased NOI from continuing operations R225.9m 
(increase of 114% from 2018).

Profit attributable to shareholders of R66.78m 
(excluding a fair value gain on investment property  
of 15.27 m).

TARGET 
To maintain the quality of our properties and preserve 
future value of our portfolio.

Keep our properties as high-demand. Secure,  
well-managed rental homes and attract a strong  
tenant base.

ACHIEVED 
23 Investment Properties valued at R2.77bn at year end: 
Implemented the acquisition of 8 properties (2 159 units) 
acquired in December 2018. Acquired a further single 
property consisting of 76 units to increase total portfolio 
units owned to 4 730 units. 

A slight increase in fair value of R15.27m on the portfolio.

Portfolio occupancies have remained high at 96% on the 
stabilised portfolio.

Portfolio arrears of 1% for 2019. 

TARGET 
Reduce LTV to below 45% within the medium-term  
by raising equity for new acquisitions and using 
proceeds from the sale of Acacia Place to pay down  
on existing borrowings.

NOT ACHIEVED 
Maintained a LTV of 47% (2018: 47%) due to new 
debt secured and recognised for the acquisition 
of new properties. 

No new shares were issued during the year.

Acacia Place is still in the process of being sold. Various 
units at Midrand Village and De Velde are also being sold 
to 3rd party buyers. 

Proceeds from sales will be applied against debt until 
required for reinvestment.

Pre-COVID-19 impact: 
Forecast similar growth in 
distribution and portfolio 
performance for 2020.

Maintain high levels of 
occupancies and low levels  
of arrears by providing tenants 
with a quality offering.

Grow portfolio NOI and 
optimise portfolio costs.

Maintain and improve 
portfolio quality and demand 
through continued capital 
expenditure, maintenance  
and property-level initiatives.

Reduce LTV to below 45% 
within the short-term by 
using proceeds from the sale 
of Acacia Place and units at 
Midrand Village and  
De Velde to pay down on 
existing borrowings.

2019 TARGET AND PERFORMANCESTRATEGIC OBJECTIVES 2020 TARGETS

Financial
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Operational

2019 TARGET AND PERFORMANCESTRATEGIC OBJECTIVES 2020 TARGETS

Have a balanced 
geographical 
exposure with well-
located, high-quality 
rental properties.

TARGET 
Increase exposure to other geographical areas  
and in the long-term expand the portfolio to at least  
5 provinces in total.

Increase our exposure to the Western Cape by acquiring 
accretive properties in the region.

PARTIALLY ACHIEVED 
4 730 units spread across 3 provinces: Gauteng 77%, 
Western Cape 18%, Mpumalanga 5% based on gross revenue.

Acquired a further single property consisting of 76 units 
located in Tshwane, Gauteng.

Recycle capital from disposal 
properties and invest proceeds 
back into interest-bearing debt 
or yield accretive properties. 

Identify and dispose  
of non-core or  
non-performing 
properties.

TARGET 
Continually assess the market and our portfolio to 
identify non-core assets or non-performing properties.

PARTIALLY ACHIEVED 
Sold Acacia Place to a social housing developer, Instratin. 
The property is still to transfer to the buyer.

Currently selling various units at Midrand Village and 
De Velde. Sales have been successful to date.

Ongoing

Identify properties where value 
can be better realised through 
sale rather then held for rental.

Leverage off our existing 
network to establish 
opportunities for disposal.

Reduce vacancies  
and arrears.

Manage lease  
expiry profile.

TARGET 
Maintain vacancy levels of between 3% to 7.5%.

Maintain portfolio arrears at a range of 1% to 2%.

Continuously engage tenants and improve property 
management standards to increase average tenants stay.

ACHIEVED 
Stabilised portfolio vacancies of 4%.

Portfolio arrears of 1% of revenue.

Average lease/tenancy term of 20 months across the 
properties (increased from 19 months in 2018). 

Maintain vacancy levels of 
between 3% to 7.5%.

Maintain portfolio arrears at a 
range of 1% to 2%.

Continuously engage tenants 
and improve property 
management standards to 
increase average tenants stay.

Maintain a high-quality 
portfolio through continuous 
maintenance and improvement 
to our properties.

Grow the  
residential portfolio.

TARGET 
Identified an actionable pipeline of over 2 000 units  
at a cost of approximately R1.1bn.

PARTIALLY ACHIEVED 
Acquired a single property consisting of 76 units.

Ongoing

Identified an actionable 
pipeline of over 1 000 units at  
a cost of approximately R0.5bn.

Remain a defensive 
asset class with focus 
on the affordable, 
residential market.

TARGET 
Target properties with rentals between R4 500 to R9 000.

Projecting rental income growth of 4.23% for 2019.

ACHIEVED 
Average value per unit of R585 000.

Average rental per unit of R6 134.

Achieved 4.6% rental income growth.

Ongoing

Target properties with rentals 
between R4 500 to R9 000.

Projecting rental income growth 
of 2.2% for 2020.
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Stakeholder

2019 TARGET AND PERFORMANCESTRATEGIC OBJECTIVES 2020 TARGETS

Increase market 
capitalisation, 
liquidity and spread 
of investors by 
selective acquisitions 
and capital raising.

TARGET 
Transcend will aim to issue equity in 2019 for  
new acquisitions.

Shares issued will aim to increase the current 
shareholder spread.

NOT ACHIEVED 
No new issues of shares during the year.

Minimum shareholder spread requirement of 20% public 
shareholders was met in January 2020 with resultant  
move to the Main Board.

Ongoing

Transcend will aim to 
issue equity in 2020 for 
new acquisitions.

Shares issued will aim 
to increase the current 
shareholder spread and 
improve liquidity.

Migrate to the Main 
Board of the JSE to 
improve liquidity.

TARGET 
Achieve the minimum shareholder spread of 20%  
public shareholding and immediately migrate to  
the Main Board.

ACHIEVED 
Minimum shareholder spread of 20% achieved. Transcend 
migrated to the Main Board in February 2020.

None

Improve 
transformation 
credentials.

NOT ACHIEVED 
Currently rated as Level 8 non-compliant for B-BBEE.

Appointed a consultant 
to assess and recommend 
mechanisms for improving 
the current B-BBEE rating with 
specific focus on ownership 
and control, procurement, 
enterprise development and 
supplier development. This will 
remain a focus area for 2020  
and 2021. 

Ongoing

Race and gender diversity 
will be assessed regularly and 
targets will be set by the Board. 

Continued leveraging 
of our established 
network through 
relationships with IHS, 
IHS AM and IHS PM.

ACHIEVED 
The portfolio was efficiently and effectively managed 
from a property and asset management perspective.
Implemented a significant transaction with various 
parties and stakeholders.

Ongoing
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UNDERPINNED BY

REGULATORY AND GOVERNANCE

Capitals Inputs

FINANCIAL CAPITAL
Transcend uses its financial resources available 
to unlock value and opportunities through its 
other capitals.

> Balanced capital structure 

> Cornerstone shareholder, Emira 

> Strategic reinvestments into portfolio  
of rental homes 

> Refinancing loans and LTV management

> Recycled capital proceeds 

MANUFACTURED CAPITAL
Transcend’s defensive and resilient portfolio of 
residential properties are well located, secure, 
lifestyle estates.

> Continue to grow a quality portfolio of rental homes

> Ongoing property maintenance and improvement 

> Own well-managed and efficiently operated properties

> Recycle non-core properties

> IHS Asset Management services

> IHS Property Management services

> Skills, expertise and experience of its Board 

> Driving strategic objectives through hands on 
operational management

HUMAN AND  
INTELLECTUAL CAPITAL
Transcend draws on its specialised residential 
sector industry knowledge and network, including 
its seamless asset management and property 
management approach, skills and experience.

> Stakeholder management

> Sustainability and social awareness

> Continued care for its tenant base

SOCIAL AND 
RELATIONSHIP CAPITAL
Transcend is a good corporate citizen that builds 
strong relationships with stakeholders to cultivate a 
positive reputation and improve the performance of 
the business.

> Management of water and electricity 
consumption 

> Compliance with environmental laws  
and regulations

NATURAL CAPITAL
Transcend is mindful of the energy consumption, 
waste creation and emissions that stem from  
its operations.
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> Providing high-quality, rental housing for tenants in desirable areas 
> Competitive advantage through a dedicated team of property specialists
> Defensive and resilient asset
> Creating stakeholder value
> Committed dedicated asset and property management

> Board and Committees
> JSE Limited, Sponsor and External Auditors

Outputs Outcomes

> Shareholders: provide equity capital and receive  
growing distributions (2019 DPS growth: 0.7%)

> Ongoing shareholder support

> All stakeholders: quality property portfolio of 4 730 units

> Banks: provide debt and receive interest

> Banks: reduced debt and increased value creation  
for the business

> Deliver stable, consistent returns with DPS growth from 2016 to 2019

> Optimising portfolio performance and increasing value

> Meeting obligations and commitments and providing quality 
security to funders

> Migration to JSE Main Board

> Improving liquidity and shareholder spread

> Increasing the portfolio footprint across 3 provinces

> Owning high demand properties and attracting a strong 
tenant base

> High occupancies (96%) and low arrears (1%)

> Distribution growth of 0.7% in 2019

> Portfolio and NAV growth

> Delivering quality housing to the affordable market across 
South Africa

> Robust portfolio delivers sustainable value for stakeholders

> Reducing risk through a diversified residential offering

> Enhancing the investment case for residential property

> Asset management fees

> Property management fees

> Transfer of knowledge and skills and access  
to industry-wide network

> Market leaders in the residential property market 

> Niche residential sector advantage

> Attracting and retaining key personnel

> Growing a specialist pool of staff and ensuring long-term 
sustainability

> Support from stakeholders

> Attracting quality tenants in good standing

> Maintaining a high quality of housing for the  
affordable market

> Improved and safe community living 

> Good governance and ethical leadership

> Access to an agile team of on-the-ground property experts

> Reduced impact on environment

> Resource efficiency with EDGE and “Green” measures

> Reducing cost and impact on scarce resources

> Reduced impact on environment

> Less reliant on natural resources
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Transcend recognises key 
issues that may impact 
all stakeholders and the 
business, the risks that 
these issues might carry 
and the way in which 
this is communicated to 
its various stakeholders. 
These considerations are 
often interrelated, and it 
is management and the 
Board’s responsibility 
to proactively identify 
relevant issues as well 
as implement mitigants 
and processes which 
safeguard the company 
against both strategic, 
operational, financial 
and other risk factors.

Issues that could be material to 
stakeholders and the company are those 
matters that management and the Board 
believes are of importance to stakeholders 
and impact their decision-making criteria 
about the business, its performance 
and its sustainability. These matters are 
identified and assessed as either having 
or that potentially could have a material 
effect on the short-, medium- and long-
term value of Transcend.

Material matters are forward-looking, and 
management is committed to proactively 
identifying all items that could either 
be installed or avoided by the business, 
and be a response to Transcend’s 
sustainability, profitability, opportunities 
and challenges.

Stakeholder engagement
Transcend develops meaningful 
and lasting relationships with all 
of its key stakeholders. This is done 
through continuous engagement and 
communication with each stakeholder 
group to establish their requirements 
and needs from the company. 

Transcend also has a transparent 
information communication policy, 
to enable stakeholders to assess the 
company’s strategy, performance, 
economic value add and prospects.

The Board provides ongoing oversight of 
stakeholder relationship management, 
while the responsibility for effective 
stakeholder engagement and relationship 
management has been delegated to 
Transcend’s executive management team. 
The company’s main stakeholders are 
its tenants, employees, shareholders, 
financing partners, analysts, suppliers and 
service providers, local government and 
the communities in which it operates. The 
method of engagement of each of these 
parties is described below.

Core to its business is the tenant base 
and the people who live in the Transcend 
homes. The company ensures that it 
is always accessible to its tenants by 
using easy and effective methods of 
communication. This includes, among 
others, SMS, e-mail and an on-the-ground 
presence at its properties as a point of 
contact for tenants, as well as developing 
digital applications that will benefit both 
Transcend and its tenants in future.

Transcend currently offers its 
shareholders investment in the residential 
asset class, and maintains its strategy 
of investing and owning well-located, 
quality properties in high demand areas. 
The company prioritises proactive 
engagement with shareholders, including 
results presentations and roadshows, as 
well as its annual general meeting (“AGM”), 
where directors are available to respond 
to any shareholders’ queries on how 
the Board has executed its governance 
duties. Transcend’s management meets 
frequently with its shareholders (and 
prospective investors) to discuss its 
performance, with emphasis given to its 
strategic focus areas as well as trending 
market conditions. During February 2020, 
the company migrated to the Main Board 
of the JSE and endeavours to keep growing 
its shareholder spread by offering current 
shareholders and potential investors the 
opportunity to invest into a defensive 
asset class, delivering consistent returns.

The company’s ongoing interaction 
with its financiers strengthens the 
relationships already built over time 
with these institutions. 2019 resulted 
in the inclusion of a second lender to 
the business, Nedbank, by providing a 
portion of the R780 million debt funding 
required for the implementation of a 
significant acquisition executed during 
December 2018. 

Transcend keeps engaging its network of 
financiers and as a result retains access 
to the financial services it needs to do 
business in the listed property market.

IHS has operated in the affordable 
housing space for over 11 years and has 
delivered requested homes to the South 
African residential market. IHS performs 
the respective asset and property 
management services for Transcend via 
its IHS AM and IHS PM companies. This 
relationship and seamless approach to 
asset and property management is critical 
to the success of the business and the 
consistent performance of the portfolio. 
These service providers and their 
extended network of developers, property 
managers, valuers, financial institutions, 
amongst others, are vital to the company’s 
daily business activities.

Maintaining the quality of the portfolio 
is key to Transcend’s sustainability. The 
company has a track record of trusted 
and reputable suppliers, from repairs 
and maintenance work to the security 
companies that keep tenants safe. Part 
of the company’s future focus remains on 
helping develop these suppliers through 
various social initiatives and enterprise 
development opportunities.

“Providing well-located, quality 
rental homes to people”

16

TR ANSCEND INTEGR ATED ANNUAL REPORT 2019

WHAT  
MATTERS TO US



STAKEHOLDER METHOD OF ENGAGEMENT

TENANTS Our asset managers and property managers conduct direct engagement with tenants. Building 
managers stay on site. Queries can be logged directly with building managers or through e-mail and 
call centres. A ticketing system ensures that all queries are attended to timeously. Indirect methods 
of contact include electronic and social media.

EMPLOYEES 
(including service providers)

Transcend's management and staff have daily, face-to-face interaction between staff and 
management, as well as indirectly/electronically via e-mail and social media applications. Staff 
performance appraisals are carried out at least annually. Other methods of engagement include 
ongoing staff training and development.

SHAREHOLDERS Transcend is committed to providing shareholders with access to relevant, accurate, timely and 
transparent information. The company continuously engages with shareholders on a wide range of 
topics including the residential market, strategy, risk management, operational management and 
other topics in addition to conventional financial metrics.

FINANCING PARTNERS Transcend proactively communicates with its current lenders and prospective financial institutions. 
Funding opportunities and investment pipeline are kept up to date; as well as compliance with debt 
covenants being closely monitored by management and the Board and reported as required by the 
relevant agreements.

ANALYSTS Transcend holds results roadshows at which market and business (financial and operational 
performance) information and insights are provided through various means including SENS 
announcements, roadshow documents, annual reports and interim results. Open and transparent 
channels of communication are available to analysts regarding all aspects of the business.

INDUSTRY AND  
PROFESSIONAL BODIES

The company is an active participant in the property industry, featuring at national and international 
conferences, and is a member of key industry bodies.

SUPPLIERS AND  
PROPERTY MANAGERS

Transcend maintains professional relationships with all of its suppliers and ensures that they 
understand performance standards and quality requirements. Where possible, Transcend will have 
service level agreements or terms of reference for its relationships with suppliers, which include 
performance expectations and ensure a quality service is provided consistently.

COMMUNITIES  
AND ENVIRONMENT 

Transcend is committed to being a good corporate citizen and frequently evaluates the impact of its 
properties and assets, and operations on the communities and environment in which it operates. 

GOVERNMENT AND  
LOCAL AUTHORITIES

Transcend engages with local authorities both directly and via its property managers and 
external consultants.

WHAT  M AT T ER S TO US
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Risk management
The Board recognises that the proactive 
identification and engagement of risk 
based on an early warning system is a 
crucial part of the business strategy of 
Transcend. Risk management is aiming 
to identify potential threats, actions or 
events that could negatively affect the 
company’s ability to achieve its objectives, 
and then address, monitor and report 
on these risks. Appropriate processes 
for risk identification, assessment, 
reporting, response and monitoring, are 
implemented or are being implemented at 
all levels of the organisation with the aim 
of embedding a risk awareness culture. An 
early warning system is in place to ensure 
risks are identified in due time in order 
to allow the company to prepare well in 
advance when the risk becomes apparent 
and therefore address it effectively.

OUR RISK POLICY  
AND APPROACH
With the assistance of the executive 
directors, the Audit and Risk Committee 
(“the committee”) considers material 
matters of Transcend and then monitors 
and assesses material matters and 
the significant risks that the company 
is exposed to on an ongoing basis. 
It also ensures that risks are taken 
within a reasonable appetite and 
that sufficient safeguards are put in 
place to mitigate such risks, whilst 
still allowing the business to meet its 
strategic objectives. The committee has 
overseen the continuous development 
of a risk policy and risk management 
plan as reviewed and approved 
from time-to-time by the Board.

This risk management policy is in 
accordance with industry best practice 
and specifically prohibits Transcend from 
entering into any derivative transactions 
that are not in the normal course of the 
company’s business and the committee 
ensures compliance therewith.

The committee monitors the 
implementation of this policy and plan 
which takes place by means of risk 
management systems and processes 
and has widely disseminated them 
throughout the company and integrated 
them into the day-to-day activities of 
the company. The risk management 
framework and methodologies that 
have been implemented have increased 
the possibility of identifying, analysing 
and responding to risks accordingly.

The committee has satisfied itself 
that the processes and procedures 
followed in terms of identifying, 
managing and reporting on risk are 
adequate and that the following areas, 
among other strategic, operational, 
financial and compliance risks, have 
been appropriately addressed:

 > Investment and property-related 
risks, including loss of income, 
changes in property values and 
property damage risk;

 > Business continuity risk, including IT 
and human capital risks;

 > Internal control risks, including 
fraud and error as it relates to 
financial reporting;

 > Treasury, interest rate and tax risk;

 > Economic and political risk; and

 > Regulatory, legal and compliance risk.

Key risk areas
The company’s operations focus on 
acquiring, owning and managing 
affordable, residential rental apartments 
with priority focused on long-term 
portfolio earnings, quality and growth. 
Apart from risk factors specific to 
each asset and both the residential 
and property markets, the company’s 
activities are continuously exposed 
to external factors and specific risks. 
The company’s approach, driven 
by management and the Board, 
aims to mitigate the significant 
adverse effects of these risks.

Transcend’s material matters are 
matters which are seen to be material 
to stakeholders and the company and 
are often risk-related. The company’s 
risk matrix lists the significant and 
relevant risk categories and provides a 
framework to illustrate how Transcend’s 
risk factors are identified, the degree 
to which they impact stakeholders and 
the business, and the most relevant 
mitigating responses by the company. 
Attention is drawn to the fact that the risk 
factors discussed in this section are not 
exhaustive, but rather address those risks 
which are most relevant to the company.

This risk assessment represents the 
company’s evaluation of the probability 
or level of occurrence in context of its 
operations and business environment. 
This assessment is based on the analysis 
performed by executive management 
and presented and reported to the Board 
for approval. Management reports on 
items it believes are of importance to 
stakeholders. Additionally, management 
also consider those issues that do or 
could impact stakeholders as themselves 
being material.

18

WHAT  M AT T ER S TO US



Operational

People

Compliance and governance

Regulatory

Property portfolio

Reputational

Information

Financial

Economic and political landscape

Environmental
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RISK DESCRIPTION STAKEHOLDER IMPACTED RISK ASSESSMENT KEY MITIGATING ACTIONS

Investments: 
Delays or incorrect execution of Transcend’s investment strategy, or executing 
in less favourable conditions. 

Shareholders and investors Low The business has a clear investment strategy used in the decision-making process for new acquisitions and investments. The 
Investment Committee approves all property acquisitions after a detailed due diligence is performed. All decisions made by the 
Investment Committee must be approved by a majority vote. 

Property damage or destruction: 
Damage to properties by fire or other causes could result in a loss of income. 
Properties acquired are not insured.

Shareholders and investors

Tenants

Financiers

Low All properties are insured with A rated insurers at replacement value; and for loss of income as well as personal liability. Before 
transfer the properties are insured by the developer/seller. All properties are protected through various security measures.

Property values: 
The value of properties reduces as a result of deterioration of income or a rise in 
capitalisation rates due to forces outside of the company’s control.

Shareholders and investors

Financiers

Moderate A diversified portfolio, strong market demand, and an intense focus on asset and property management ensures the protection of 
income and control of expenses. Rising capitalisation rates (yields) as a result of unforeseen market forces would impact the property 
market as a whole and would not necessarily be specific to Transcend.

Loss of income (Rentals, vacancies and bad debts and recoveries): 
Increased vacancies, inability to increase rentals, lease expiries (concentration) 
and bad debts could all have a negative impact on the company’s ability to 
meets its forecast distributions and growth.

Rentals: 
Difficult economic conditions, as well as competition in the area could lead to 
pressure on rentals and escalations.

Bad debts and recoveries: 
Difficult economic conditions could lead to non-payment of rent and reduced 
property income.

Shareholders and investors Low to moderate A diversified portfolio, established marketing policies and incentives, strict tenant vetting criteria, hands on property management 
function, tenant deposits and continuous monitoring of occupancy and rent levels ensures that Transcend’s portfolio remains well 
tenanted and stable, with a strong tenant profile. Property performance is actively managed monthly to ensure that we are quick to 
react to any losses.

Rentals are market related and thus tend to track demand and affordability. Hands on property and asset management ensure that 
we are quick to react to competition.

Good credit control policy and vigilant credit control is maintained by the property managers. All new tenants are vetted prior to 
leases being signed. Management monitors arrears regularly

Concentration of rental escalations: 
Could result in a loss in rental revenue, with premises being let at below market 
rentals, vacancies and increased holding costs.

Shareholders and investors Low Management regularly monitors market pricing and reviews escalation on an individual tenant basis relative to the occupancy of the 
property and the number of escalations.

Municipal and other services: 
Material increase in electricity costs which could place downward pressure on 
rentals. Drought resulting in water crisis and insufficient availability by council. 
Disruption of supply.

Shareholders and investors

Communities

Government and public institutions

High Ongoing monitoring of utility costs and recoveries through accurate metering systems to ensure that costs are accurately recorded 
and recovered where appropriate. Investigation of use of generators, grey water harvesting, boreholes and other resource-efficient 
measures, where appropriate, to ensure the sustainability of utilities supply.

Operational risk: 
Loss of earnings due to poor processes and controls.

Shareholders and investors Low Monthly management meetings are held with property managers to discuss the performance of the portfolio. There is regular 
feedback regarding internal audits conducted by the property managers, as well as the adoption and monitoring by management of 
appropriate risk management practices. The asset managers visit sites regularly to identify and resolve potential operational issues.

Business continuity: 
Loss of company data.

All stakeholders Moderate A disaster recovery plan is in place to ensure the recoverability of data and company information. This plan is tested at least once a 
year to ensure continuity of operations.

IT controls: 
Unauthorised users gain access to the systems; failure of the systems or 
information is compromised.

All stakeholders Low to moderate IHS AM and IHS PM regularly audit its IT systems to ensure compliance and the integrity of controls and data. Frequent updates 
are made to ensure all systems remain up to date. A disaster recovery plan is in place to ensure continuity. IT controls limit access 
rights for users.

Fraud and error: 
Errors are made, or fraud committed either by an employee of the company or 
its property manager including incorrect recording of financial transactions 
and misstatement of financial records and accounts.

 All stakeholders Low to moderate Internal controls, schedules of payments and cash balances are tested and reviewed regularly by management, as well as by the 
external auditors. Segregation of duties is also ensured through the separation of key functions of the business.

Human capital risk: 
Due to the scarcity of residential asset management skills in South Africa 
and the growing institutional market, the demand for these specialist 
skills is increasing.

Employees

Shareholders and investors

Tenants

Moderate Both financial and non-financial benefits are used to attract and retain skilled and experienced key personnel.

Debt funding: 
Interest rates rise increasing the cost of debt funding which may have an 
adverse impact on distributions.

Financiers

Shareholders and investors

Moderate Transcend has hedged a portion of its senior funding in order to fix interest rates on a one-year and three-year basis to manage 
the risk of fluctuations and rate increases. This is in line with the company’s hedging policy and will be reviewed regularly by 
management and the Board and adjusted based on market conditions.

Equity funding: 
The size of Transcend, its external management structure and the current 
illiquidity of the shares could all prove to be challenges when raising capital.

Shareholders and investors

Employees

High Management and the Board acknowledge their responsibilities to act in the best interests of the shareholders. The shareholder 
spread of the business has improved post-implementation of significant acquisitions and additional equity placed with 
new shareholders.

Management are working on plans to increase the size of Transcend. The company migrated to the Main Board of the JSE 
in February 2020.

Regulatory and compliance: 
Possible changes to existing legislation and non-compliance with regulatory 
requirements could result in reputational damage and financial loss.

Industry and professional bodies

Government and public institutions

Shareholders and investors

Low Adequate insurance is in place to cover key insurance risks. Board members endeavour to comply with the highest professional 
standards. There is ongoing consultation with professional advisors to ensure compliance and address changes to 
applicable legislation.

Liquidity and inability to refinance debt: 
Risk that when debt tranches expire that the company is not able to re-finance 
on favourable terms.

Financiers

Shareholders and investors

Moderate Discussions are held with financiers at the time of expiry to ensure that the best deal is negotiated. There are currently a number of 
senior debt providers that would provide the company with competitive funding to the business.

Political and social-economic risk:  
Building hijackings and unlawful land claims of properties owned by the company.

All stakeholders Low Building hijackings are more prevalent with inner-city buildings, social housing schemes and poorly managed properties. Transcend 
does not invest in inner-city areas. Transcend administers a strict vetting policy only approving tenants with good standing. It also 
implements good access control and security at all its properties, with detailed house rules displayed for all tenants to see. These 
processes are reinforced by good property and asset management. 

Land claims are more specific to urban-edge, vacant sites. Transcend does not own any vacant land parcels and its properties are 
screened for land claims when developed or when ownership transferred to the business. Bond holders also perform land claim 
checks on properties prior to registering a bond over the property.

WHAT  M AT T ER S TO US

20



RISK DESCRIPTION STAKEHOLDER IMPACTED RISK ASSESSMENT KEY MITIGATING ACTIONS

Investments: 
Delays or incorrect execution of Transcend’s investment strategy, or executing 
in less favourable conditions. 

Shareholders and investors Low The business has a clear investment strategy used in the decision-making process for new acquisitions and investments. The 
Investment Committee approves all property acquisitions after a detailed due diligence is performed. All decisions made by the 
Investment Committee must be approved by a majority vote. 

Property damage or destruction: 
Damage to properties by fire or other causes could result in a loss of income. 
Properties acquired are not insured.

Shareholders and investors

Tenants

Financiers

Low All properties are insured with A rated insurers at replacement value; and for loss of income as well as personal liability. Before 
transfer the properties are insured by the developer/seller. All properties are protected through various security measures.

Property values: 
The value of properties reduces as a result of deterioration of income or a rise in 
capitalisation rates due to forces outside of the company’s control.

Shareholders and investors

Financiers

Moderate A diversified portfolio, strong market demand, and an intense focus on asset and property management ensures the protection of 
income and control of expenses. Rising capitalisation rates (yields) as a result of unforeseen market forces would impact the property 
market as a whole and would not necessarily be specific to Transcend.

Loss of income (Rentals, vacancies and bad debts and recoveries): 
Increased vacancies, inability to increase rentals, lease expiries (concentration) 
and bad debts could all have a negative impact on the company’s ability to 
meets its forecast distributions and growth.

Rentals: 
Difficult economic conditions, as well as competition in the area could lead to 
pressure on rentals and escalations.

Bad debts and recoveries: 
Difficult economic conditions could lead to non-payment of rent and reduced 
property income.

Shareholders and investors Low to moderate A diversified portfolio, established marketing policies and incentives, strict tenant vetting criteria, hands on property management 
function, tenant deposits and continuous monitoring of occupancy and rent levels ensures that Transcend’s portfolio remains well 
tenanted and stable, with a strong tenant profile. Property performance is actively managed monthly to ensure that we are quick to 
react to any losses.

Rentals are market related and thus tend to track demand and affordability. Hands on property and asset management ensure that 
we are quick to react to competition.

Good credit control policy and vigilant credit control is maintained by the property managers. All new tenants are vetted prior to 
leases being signed. Management monitors arrears regularly

Concentration of rental escalations: 
Could result in a loss in rental revenue, with premises being let at below market 
rentals, vacancies and increased holding costs.

Shareholders and investors Low Management regularly monitors market pricing and reviews escalation on an individual tenant basis relative to the occupancy of the 
property and the number of escalations.

Municipal and other services: 
Material increase in electricity costs which could place downward pressure on 
rentals. Drought resulting in water crisis and insufficient availability by council. 
Disruption of supply.

Shareholders and investors

Communities

Government and public institutions

High Ongoing monitoring of utility costs and recoveries through accurate metering systems to ensure that costs are accurately recorded 
and recovered where appropriate. Investigation of use of generators, grey water harvesting, boreholes and other resource-efficient 
measures, where appropriate, to ensure the sustainability of utilities supply.

Operational risk: 
Loss of earnings due to poor processes and controls.

Shareholders and investors Low Monthly management meetings are held with property managers to discuss the performance of the portfolio. There is regular 
feedback regarding internal audits conducted by the property managers, as well as the adoption and monitoring by management of 
appropriate risk management practices. The asset managers visit sites regularly to identify and resolve potential operational issues.

Business continuity: 
Loss of company data.

All stakeholders Moderate A disaster recovery plan is in place to ensure the recoverability of data and company information. This plan is tested at least once a 
year to ensure continuity of operations.

IT controls: 
Unauthorised users gain access to the systems; failure of the systems or 
information is compromised.

All stakeholders Low to moderate IHS AM and IHS PM regularly audit its IT systems to ensure compliance and the integrity of controls and data. Frequent updates 
are made to ensure all systems remain up to date. A disaster recovery plan is in place to ensure continuity. IT controls limit access 
rights for users.

Fraud and error: 
Errors are made, or fraud committed either by an employee of the company or 
its property manager including incorrect recording of financial transactions 
and misstatement of financial records and accounts.

 All stakeholders Low to moderate Internal controls, schedules of payments and cash balances are tested and reviewed regularly by management, as well as by the 
external auditors. Segregation of duties is also ensured through the separation of key functions of the business.

Human capital risk: 
Due to the scarcity of residential asset management skills in South Africa 
and the growing institutional market, the demand for these specialist 
skills is increasing.

Employees

Shareholders and investors

Tenants

Moderate Both financial and non-financial benefits are used to attract and retain skilled and experienced key personnel.

Debt funding: 
Interest rates rise increasing the cost of debt funding which may have an 
adverse impact on distributions.

Financiers

Shareholders and investors

Moderate Transcend has hedged a portion of its senior funding in order to fix interest rates on a one-year and three-year basis to manage 
the risk of fluctuations and rate increases. This is in line with the company’s hedging policy and will be reviewed regularly by 
management and the Board and adjusted based on market conditions.

Equity funding: 
The size of Transcend, its external management structure and the current 
illiquidity of the shares could all prove to be challenges when raising capital.

Shareholders and investors

Employees

High Management and the Board acknowledge their responsibilities to act in the best interests of the shareholders. The shareholder 
spread of the business has improved post-implementation of significant acquisitions and additional equity placed with 
new shareholders.

Management are working on plans to increase the size of Transcend. The company migrated to the Main Board of the JSE 
in February 2020.

Regulatory and compliance: 
Possible changes to existing legislation and non-compliance with regulatory 
requirements could result in reputational damage and financial loss.

Industry and professional bodies

Government and public institutions

Shareholders and investors

Low Adequate insurance is in place to cover key insurance risks. Board members endeavour to comply with the highest professional 
standards. There is ongoing consultation with professional advisors to ensure compliance and address changes to 
applicable legislation.

Liquidity and inability to refinance debt: 
Risk that when debt tranches expire that the company is not able to re-finance 
on favourable terms.

Financiers

Shareholders and investors

Moderate Discussions are held with financiers at the time of expiry to ensure that the best deal is negotiated. There are currently a number of 
senior debt providers that would provide the company with competitive funding to the business.

Political and social-economic risk:  
Building hijackings and unlawful land claims of properties owned by the company.

All stakeholders Low Building hijackings are more prevalent with inner-city buildings, social housing schemes and poorly managed properties. Transcend 
does not invest in inner-city areas. Transcend administers a strict vetting policy only approving tenants with good standing. It also 
implements good access control and security at all its properties, with detailed house rules displayed for all tenants to see. These 
processes are reinforced by good property and asset management. 

Land claims are more specific to urban-edge, vacant sites. Transcend does not own any vacant land parcels and its properties are 
screened for land claims when developed or when ownership transferred to the business. Bond holders also perform land claim 
checks on properties prior to registering a bond over the property.
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OUR 
BOARD

SOLLY MBOWENI 

50

CEO — ExECutivE DirECtOr

BCom, Postgraduate Diploma  
in Property Studies

APPOINTED: 
8 July 2016 (CEO — 14 December 2018)

COMMITTEES: 
Social and Ethics Committee (Chairman)

Has some 27 years of rounded  
property/real estate experience. 
Experience includes property finance, 
valuations, asset management and 
property developments. Has worked 
in funds involved in the office, retail, 
industrial and hotel sectors, namely 
Old Mutual Properties, FNB Corporate, 
Standard Bank Property Finance, Liberty 
Properties Asset Management and 
Developments division.

Experience in heading up new business 
and asset management as Head of 
Housing Operations of IHS. Former Head 
of ABSA Devco Sustainable Integrated 
Development and former Vice President 
of the South African Institute of Black 
Property Practitioners.

ROBERT EMSLIE 

62

inDEpEnDEnt nOn-ExECutivE DirECtOr
Chairman

CA(SA)

APPOINTED: 
10 August 2016

COMMITTEES: 
Audit and Risk Committee  
(resigned 12 February 2020),  
Investment Committee

Chairman of Silverbridge Holdings Limited 
and Chairman of NEPI Rockcastle Plc. 
Former Head of Absa Business Banking, 
Absa Africa and Absa Corporate.
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MYLES KRITZINGER 

36

CFO — ExECutivE DirECtOr

CA(SA), Diploma in Insolvency Law (SARIPA)

APPOINTED:  
9 March 2018

COMMITTEES:  
None

Seven years’ experience in the affordable 
housing market and private equity. 
Involved in new fund development for IHS 
and formerly Dealmaker at IHS. Previously 
a Manager at Deloitte & Touche, former 
Financial Analyst at Absa Capital and Absa 
Retail banks and former Consultant at 
Nimble Risk Services.

VANESSA PERFECT 

45

COO — ExECutivE DirECtOr

CA(SA)

APPOINTED:  
14 December 2018

COMMITTEES:  
None

Over 13 years’ extensive experience 
in asset and property management. 
Head of Asset Management for IHS since 
2010, overseeing the performance and 
growth of the IHS rental portfolio. Assisted 
with the establishment of IHS Property 
Management business, the internal 
property management company which 
manages the Transcend portfolio.

Former Portfolio Manager at City Property 
Administration and Portfolio Accountant 
for Premium Properties Ltd.

ROB WESSELO 

55

nOn-ExECutivE DirECtOr

LLB

APPOINTED:  
8 July 2016

COMMITTEES:  
Investment Committee (Chairman), 
Social and Ethics Committee

Extensive experience in property, 
including business development, 
deal structuring and negotiation and 
management of the operations of IHS 
in South Africa as Managing Director. 
Former Business Development Director 
at Group Five Building, former Head of 
Listed Property Funding at RMB, former 
Commercial Director at Pangbourne 
Properties and former Head of Equity 
Investments at Absa Commercial 
Property Finance.
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OUR 
BOARD

GEOFF JENNETT 

52

nOn-ExECutivE DirECtOr

CA(SA)

APPOINTED: 
14 December 2018

COMMITTEES: 
Investment Committee

Significant experience in the financial 
markets, particularly in the structured 
capital markets and the corporate equity 
derivatives sectors. Joined Emira Property 
Fund Limited in 2014 and currently holds 
the position of CEO. Also held roles at FNB 
Corporate, Coronation Capital, Nedbank 
Capital and Absa Capital, and was the 
financial and operations director of Honey 
Fashion Accessories Proprietary Limited.

MICHAEL FALCONE 

58

nOn-ExECutivE DirECtOr

BA (Economics), MBA

APPOINTED: 
10 August 2016

COMMITTEES: 
Remuneration Committee (Chairman), 
Investment Committee

Extensive experience in strategic 
planning, risk management and business 
development. Chief Executive Officer of 
MMA Capital Management and Executive 
Chairman of IHS. Co-founder and board 
member of Terra Verde Energy and former 
Senior Vice President at Shelter Group.
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FAITH KHANYILE 

53

inDEpEnDEnt nOn-ExECutivE DirECtOr

BA (Economics), MBA (Finance)

APPOINTED:  
10 August 2016

COMMITTEES:  
Audit and Risk Committee,  
Remuneration Committee

CEO and one of the founding members 
of WDB Investment Holdings, former 
Head of Corporate Banking at Standard 
Bank. Non-executive director of JSE-listed 
Discovery Limited, Safari RSA Limited and 
the JSE Limited. Extensive experiences in 
financial services, investment banking 
and private equity.

MICHAEL AITKEN 

63

inDEpEnDEnt nOn-ExECutivE DirECtOr

BA, LLB

APPOINTED:  
10 August 2016

COMMITTEES:  
Audit and Risk Committee (Chairman), 
Investment Committee

Extensive experience in property-related 
activities, with specific expertise in 
asset and fund management related 
to directly held and listed property 
vehicles. Past chairman of Hyprop 
Investments Limited and Director of Emira 
Property Fund Limited.

MICHELLE DICKENS 

45

inDEpEnDEnt nOn-ExECutivE DirECtOr

BCompt

APPOINTED:  
14 December 2018

COMMITTEES:  
Audit and Risk Committee,  
Remuneration Committee,  
Social and Ethics Committee

Managing director and co-founder of 
TPN Credit Bureau (“TPN”), a residential 
and commercial property tenant and 
rental payment profile credit bureau, 
established in 2000.
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EXECUTIVE  
PERFORMANCE REVIEW

Introduction 
We are pleased to report a 0.7% 
growth in distributions for the year 
under review, overcoming both 
tough economic and operating 
conditions in the process. This 
positive performance is a reflection 
of our resilience during these 
conditions and can be attributed 
to higher occupancies across the 
portfolio, complimented by improved 
recoveries and arrears collections.

As demonstrated by our ability to 
adapt to strong headwinds and deliver 
value to our shareholders, tenants and 
other stakeholders, we believe that 
our performance is commendable. 
Underpinning our performance is 
the portfolio’s stabilised core assets 
that formed a consistent and strong 
foundation for the year.

We are especially pleased to have 
concluded our migration to the Main 
Board of the JSE, which became effective 
on 12 February 2020. The move enables 
the progression of our growth strategy 
and gives the business access to a larger 
pool of asset managers and investors.

Economic environment
The COVID-19 pandemic has given rise to 
unprecedented circumstances globally, 
as well as in South African financial 
markets. The Board supports President 
Ramaphosa’s initiatives which have 
been implemented in a nationwide 
effort to “flatten the curve” in respect 
of COVID-19 infections in South Africa. 
Management and the Board are aware 
that the impact of the “lockdown” and 
a slowdown in economic activity may 
affect the environment in which we 
operate. The safety and well-being of 
our people, tenants, communities and 
broader stakeholder group remains our 
priority, while we work hard to contain 
and mitigate the potential effects 
of the pandemic.

A weak South African economy has 
been offset by strong demand for our 
affordable residential offering. The recent 
sovereign credit rating downgrade to 
sub-investment grade has far-reaching 
implications for our economy, our tenants 
and our company. It is anticipated that the 
downgrade would translate into increased 
cost of capital, lower levels of investment, 
fewer jobs, continued pressure on 
consumers, and economic contraction. 
As these factors could negatively impact 
our ability to drive growth, we are 
monitoring the situation closely.

At a macro-economic level, the country’s 
performance was hampered during 
the year by costly, underperforming 
state-owned enterprises (“SOEs”), lower 
state revenue collection due to job 
losses and low growth, as well as rising 
sovereign debt levels. These factors 
were all compounded by the uncertainty 
and ongoing reliability issues regarding 
national power utility, Eskom.

On a positive note, the recent lowering of 
interest rates has provided a measure 
of relief for indebted consumers. In 
addition, the relative stability brought by 
President Ramaphosa’s administration 
has been welcomed, as have the ongoing 
commissions of inquiry into allegations of 
state capture and institutional corruption, 
which continue to unfold.

Loss of skills at a national level coupled 
with rising barriers to quality education 
remain concerning. The long-term 
implications of this impact the growth 
potential of our tenants, as well as the 
internal human resources capacity of our 
business. In this competitive and volatile 
environment, there is increasing pressure 
to identify and unlock hidden value in 
the market, which requires our agility, 
vigilance and attention to detail.

DIVIDEND PER SHARE

65.14c
0.7% GROWTH

INCREASE IN NET OPERATING INCOME

+114%

STABILISED PORTFOLIO OCCUPANCY 

96%
PORTFOLIO ARREARS 1%

COST-TO-INCOME RATIO

32.7%

LOAN-TO-VALUE

47%

PROFIT FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS

R68.31m
NAV PER SHARE

R9.55
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Performance highlights
We are pleased to report a positive 
performance for the year under 
review against a backdrop of trying 
conditions. Outperforming our projected 
flat distribution growth, the actual 
dividend for the full year grew by 0.7% 
to 65.14 cents per share.

Year-on year, net operating income 
increased by 114% mainly due to the 
acquisitions of new properties and 
our average stabilised occupancy rate 
improved further to 96% (2018: 94.6%). 
Due to the significant efforts of our team, 
we can report low portfolio arrears of 
1%, despite pressures on consumers. 
This is indicative of our high standard of 
property management and reaffirms the 
sustainability of the business.

Profit and total comprehensive income 
for the year was R82.05 million (2018: 
R197.07 million), of which R68.31 million 
(2018: R188.4 million) is from continuing 
operations. The decrease in profit from 
continuing operations is mainly due 
to a gain on fair value adjustments to 
investment property of R160.63 million 
recognised in 2018 as part of the 

properties acquired from IHS Res 1. 
Headline earnings attributable to equity 
holders grew to R66.78 million (2018: 
R36.53 million) and supports good cost 
of debt management.

Total assets at 31 December 2019 was 
slightly lower at R2.85 billion compared to 
R2.87 billion in the prior year. For the year 
under review, total liabilities remained at 
R1.6 billion (2018: R1.6 billion).

The total value of our property portfolio at 
year-end increased slightly to R2.77 billion 
from R2.72 billion in 2018 at a weighted 
average yield of 8.8%. Gross rental per 
unit grew by 4.6% year-on-year at a rate 
of R109/m2 and the projected weighted 
average escalation for the portfolio, from 
2019 to 2020, is anticipated at 2.2%.

The total gross lettable area (“GLA”)  
of the portfolio grew to 267 879m2  
(2018: 265 087m2). Net asset value (“NAV”) 
for the year remained at approximately 
R1.25 billion (2018 R1.25 billion), 
with a NAV of R9.55 per share as at 
31 December 2019 (2018: R9.57).

Gearing remained constant year on year, 
with a LTV ratio of 47%. Our aim is to 
reduce our debt levels to a target range 
of 40% to 45% in the short-term and 30% 
to 40% in the long-term by using the 
proceeds from the sale of Acacia Place, 
Midrand Village and De Velde units.

Affordable housing 
rental market
The highly defensive residential asset 
class is poised to gain greater traction, 
with investors seeing value in the sector’s 
consistency and dependability, albeit 
at lower yields. Even in a low-growth 
economy, urbanisation continues to 
attract people from outlying or rural 
areas to where our properties and better 
employment opportunities are located.

Current market trends see increased 
pressure on office space tenancies 
and price reversions, with looming 
issues around the retail sector. In these 
conditions, our affordable residential 
offering continues to deliver growth 
to the benefit of our business and 
our stakeholders.

GEOGRAPHICAL PROFILE BY 
NUMBER OF UNITS (%)

GEOGRAPHICAL PROFILE BY GROSS  
LETTABLE AREA (GLA) (%)

GAUTENG GAUTENG GAUTENGWESTERN CAPE WESTERN CAPE WESTERN CAPEMPUMALANGA MPUMALANGA MPUMALANGA

GEOGRAPHICAL PROFILE  
BY REVENUE (%)

77 77
79

18 1714

5 67

*  Mpumalanga relates to a single property, Acacia Place. This 
property is in the process of being sold and has been disclosed 
as an asset held-for-sale. Consequently, Mpumalanga has 
also been presented as a discontinued operation.
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We pride ourselves in the quality of our 
portfolio. Our properties are secure, 
lifestyle offerings with well-maintained 
apartments that are affordable to the 
low- and middle-income markets. Our 
properties are strategically located 
closer to working opportunities and 
transport nodes, which supports the 
better occupancies and collections we 
experience relative to other affordable 
housing operators.

Our many years of experience in the 
affordable housing space, and relationship 
with IHS, gives us an advantage over our 
competitors, helping to optimise the 
performance of our portfolio and achieve 
our strategic objectives. Our defensive 
portfolio features low levels of vacancies 
and arrears at our properties, which are 
typically lower density, two- to three-storey 
walk-ups located in high-demand suburban 
areas. In other market sectors, retail, office 
and industrial properties are experiencing 
higher levels of vacancies, a direct 
consequence of the low-growth economy.

We continue to grow our expertise as 
specialist in the residential market by 
remaining focused on our rental offering. 
This has helped us to not only improve 
year-on-year performance but also to 
contain a number of risks property funds 
are facing in the market. Our management 
strives to maximise rental income 
and streamline the cost of operations. 
We also closely monitor our property 
valuations for any inconsistencies, the 
knock-on effects of which can impact 
on rates, taxes, utility costs and other 
external factors.

Strategic progress in 2019
Our selected, strategic highlights for the 
year under review are discussed below. For 
more information on how we performed 
for the year and our projected targets, 
refer to pages 10 to 13 of this report.

MIGRATION TO THE JSE 
MAIN BOARD
Having achieved full compliance with 
the JSE’s Listings Requirements, we 
successfully migrated Transcend’s listing 
from the AltX to the Main Board of the JSE, 
with effect from 12 February 2020. The 
move aligns with our strategy of making 
acquisitions for growth and gives us the 
access we require to attract a wider pool 
of asset managers and investors whose 
mandate excludes investment on the AltX.

Our aim as a business is to create 
sustainable value for all our stakeholders. 
The migration is a significant milestone 
and puts Transcend in a good position 
to drive investment opportunities and 
achieve greater scale during the years 
ahead. The move is boosted by our current 
complement of Board and management, 
strengthened ties with Emira and solid 
foundation with IHS.

ALIGNED ASSET AND 
PROPERTY MANAGEMENT
Contributing to our performance for the 
year was our aligned and proactive asset 
and property management functions, 
which continue to be a key focus for us 
in terms of repositioning and rightsizing 
tenants, as well as developing rental 
incentives to reduce vacancies and retain 
tenants. This seamless approach to both 
asset and property management helps 
to optimise the portfolio and positions 
our business to deliver sustainable 
value for our shareholders, tenants 
and other stakeholders.

BEDDING DOWN ACQUISITIONS
During the year, we bedded down our 
2018 acquisition of eight properties, 
which were acquired from related parties. 
Seven properties were acquired from IHS 
Res 1 and the remaining property from 
Sunnyshore. By 30 August 2019, all the 
units we acquired had been transferred 
and registered in Transcend’s name. We 
also acquired a further property consisting 
of 76 units in June 2019, Silverleaf, from De 
Facto Investments 264 Proprietary Limited. 
Silverleaf is a sectional title development 
located in Tshwane, Gauteng.

Through the significant efforts of our 
team and proactive management, we 
are building a respectable portfolio 
of assets that perform to our robust 
expectations of value and reliability. We 
remain cognisant of the need to protect 
the integrity and performance of the 
portfolio, to overcome market headwinds 
and pressures on tenants.

Outer circle: GlA
 Vacancy  Monthly  30 Jun 2020 

inner circle: revenue
 Vacancy  Monthly  30 Jun 2020

LEASE EXPIRY PROFILE (%)

UNIT PROFILE (%)

AVERAGE MONTHLY PROPERTY  
EXPENSES (%)

7.5

6

45

9

3

93.1

6.9

92.5

85

53

 1 bedroom  2 bedroom  3 bedroom

 Utilities  Operational  Admin

*  Excluding Acacia Place and doubtful debts.
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RECYCLING NON-CORE ASSETS
Our performance for the year was 
driven by our stabilised, core assets, 
which continue to deliver well in tough 
conditions. With this in mind, we as 
management continuously assess our 
portfolio in order to identify properties 
where better value can be realised 
from the sale of those units rather than 
through continued rental, with the 
aim of using the proceeds to reduce 
our debt levels or invest into attractive 
and accretive opportunities.

In line with our strategy, we decided to 
dispose of units owned at Midrand Village, 
a freehold property consisting of 225 units 
located in Gauteng, as well as vacant 
units at De Velde, a 310-unit sectional 
title complex located in the Western 
Cape. While the two properties were both 
acquired as investment properties for 
rental from IHS Res 1, a related party, we 
considered both these properties for sale 
throughout the year and determined that 
the break up and sale of individual units 
at these properties would improve overall 
business performance. 

Acacia Place is a non-current asset  
held-for-sale and discontinued operation. 
The property is located in Mpumalanga 
and comprises 325 units. In September 2018, 
a sales agreement was signed for the sale of 
the property and rental income is payable 
to Transcend by the buyer until transfer 
is completed. Subsequently, the sale of 
this property has been delayed beyond 
a period of 12 months. The delay is due 
to the conditions precedent to the sales 
agreement not being fulfilled timeously. 
Notwithstanding, the buyer and Transcend 
remain committed to the planned 
sale of the asset.

CORNERSTONE INVESTOR
We are pleased to have strengthened ties 
and solidified our relationship with Emira, 
our strategic investor and an established 
REIT listed on the Main Board of the JSE. 
Emira is represented on our Board by its 
CEO, Geoff Jennett, who brings additional 
skills and experience to assist us with 
future acquisitions and capital raising. 
This puts us in a better position to improve 
our liquidity, market capitalisation and 
spread of investors, and will help us take 
advantage of future growth opportunities.

OPERATING ENVIRONMENT
Our tenant base is facing significant 
consumer pressures given the poor 
state of the South African economy and 
this in turn puts pressure on our ability 
to continually escalate and increase 
property level rentals.

Growth in utility costs currently outstrip 
private sector cost growth. This pertains 
to public sector service delivery by local 
authorities and SOEs with which we do 
business. It is very clear that urgent reform 
is needed to make these public bodies 
more efficient and more responsive to 
the pressures experienced by not only 
our tenants but all consumers and the 
private sector.

These ongoing concerns are exacerbated 
by inefficiencies in local authorities 
when it comes to basic issues, which 
include the determination of cost charges 
for multi-dwelling sewer costs in some 
municipalities; the compulsory use of 
municipal services such as refuse removal 
when those charges are compared to 
what is charged by private sector service 
providers; and the accuracy of municipal 
billing and the eventual accounts.

Management is constantly engaging 
with the relevant authorities to address 
billing issues and also uses other service 
providers where possible to minimise and 
manage these costs.

RELATIONSHIP WITH IHS
The strength and depth of our residential 
property team played a significant role 
in our positive results for the year. Our 
ability to leverage off IHS’s understanding 
of the affordable housing market and 
its characteristics, combined with their 
invaluable experience and expertise gives 
us an edge in the South African listed 
property market.

Our property portfolio profile is different 
from local competitors whose focus is 
on high-density, inner-city or central 
business district residential property 
units. To support this differentiation, 
sustainable growth opportunities are 
provided by IHS to Transcend through a 
pipeline of geographically diverse; well-
managed; and well-maintained properties.

IHS AM and IHS PM provide skilled 
resources that boost our capacity, offer 
superior industry knowledge, and fast 
track our decision-making, allowing 
us to take advantage of opportunities 
and changes in the market with agility. 
We also benefit from the technology 
developed and used by IHS, through US-
based Pinnacle Property Management. 
The Hunt Group of Companies (“Hunt”) 
is IHS’s main shareholder and owns 
one of the largest residential property 
management businesses in North America, 
with about 175 000 residential units 
under management.

To read more about our relationship with 
IHS, refer to page 8.

GREENER BUILDINGS
To drive resource efficiencies across our 
portfolio, we continue our commitment 
to the award-winning software tool 
known as Excellence in Design for Greater 
Efficiencies (“EDGE”). We are engaged in 
a comprehensive programme to retrofit 
greening elements into assets within our 
portfolio that were constructed before the 
implementation of the EDGE programme. 
We also recommend that, where possible, 
any new investments and acquisitions 
meet the EDGE standard.

To address matters of cost, the 
environment and resource efficiency, 
buildings that qualify for EDGE 
certification can save at least a 20% 
consumption of water, electricity and 
building materials. Being mindful of 
capital expenditure in a low-growth 
economy, we are actively exploring 
Green Bonds options. This retrofit 
programme is tasked with rolling out 
cost-saving efficiencies such as smart 
metering and water-saving systems, 
keeping environmental sustainability 
in mind. These real savings provide an 
immediate value-add for our tenants 
and a secondary, longer-term benefit 
to our business and stakeholders.
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INTERACTING WITH 
OUR TENANTS
To attract and retain tenants, we 
leverage useful tools such as tenant 
feedback, open communications and 
active dialogue. This takes place at a 
property management level and through 
questionnaires and software, as a means 
to gauge insight into market and tenant 
trends. By following this strategy, we are 
able to enhance our tenant engagement, 
build our knowledge base regarding 
their needs and concerns, and tailor 
our product and service offerings.

To drive digital platform-based tenant 
interactions, our property management 
team is managing the successful roll-out of 
our dedicated leasing application (“app”). 
Key features of the software include a 
paperless lease approval process and a full-
service communication platform between 
tenants and property management.

Once ready, the platform will allow 
tenants to log queries and receive prompt 
feedback, with specific queries then being 
actioned on the ground by the property 
management team. As an integrated 
value-add to our existing systems, the 
app will optimise our tenant and property 
management communications processes, 
workflows and lead times, reducing cost 
and inefficiency. When the app has been 
tested successfully, we will commence 
with rollout and full implementation.

We also interact with our tenants and 
other key stakeholders as part of our 
broader stakeholder engagement 
programme, which is discussed on 
pages 16 to 21 of this report.

Risk management
To read about how we manage risk and 
determine matters that are material to 
Transcend, please refer to pages 18 to 21 
of this report.

Good corporate 
governance
We are cognisant of the worrying 
corporate governance failures in both 
the public and private sectors in recent 
years. Therefore, we understand that in 
order to create sustainable value for our 
stakeholders, it has never been more 
important to entrench robust corporate 
governance practices in our business. We 
make honesty and transparency a way of 
life and are comfortable with increasing 
levels of scrutiny. Maintaining high ethical 
standards and practicing good governance 
is a cornerstone of our business.

It is the duty of all directors of the 
Board to act in the best interest of the 
company at all times. It is a company 
imperative to have a Board that exercises 
effective leadership based on an ethical 
foundation of fairness, accountability, 
responsibility and transparency, and 
to ensure that the company’s ethics 
are applied and managed effectively. 
The Board fully subscribes to the 
principles of good corporate governance 
as set out in King IV and regards them as 
fundamentally important to the success 
and sustainability of our business.

Transformation
Our B-BBEE rating strategy is based 
on a two-year development model to 
improve our current non-compliant 
status as a Level 8 to compliant as a Level 
7 Contributor. To achieve this, we are 
partnering with a third-party specialist 
to streamline the process and see it 
through to fruition.

We are currently in a research, 
development and early engagement 
phase in terms of our social initiatives and 
business development opportunities.  
As a relatively young fund, our initial aim 
is to empower relevant, small black-owned 
businesses and help them grow within our 
building development value chain.

To this end, we have engaged a number 
of stakeholders on a test-case basis 
with a view to contracting meaningfully 
in the future. In time, realising our 
growth objectives will support further 
opportunities to escalate our business 
development capacity. As we grow, 
we will broaden our focus to include 
other elements of property sector 
transformation.

New Gender and Equality policies were 
presented to and adopted by the Board on 
4 December 2019. These policies consider 
the promotion of diversity on the Board, 
including diversity of race, gender, age, 
independence, skills and experience, 
and ensure that any Board appointment 
process and criteria are transparent and 
free from bias and discrimination.

Changes to the Board
There were no changes to the Board 
during the year under review.

Outlook and prospects
In the coming year, we will look to build 
on our consistent performance and 
continue to deliver value to our tenants, 
shareholders and other stakeholders. Post 
our migration to the Main Board of the JSE, 
our aim is to attract additional investors, 
thereby improving share liquidity and the 
spread of investors.
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The debilitating impact of COVID-19 and 
the nationwide lockdown on the South 
African economy, its businesses and 
people is of paramount concern to us. 
Pre-COVID-19, it was anticipated that the 
listed property sector was expected to 
show little to no growth in 2020 due to 
an already lacklustre economy. It is now 
unlikely that this expectation will even 
be met as these conditions will impact 
on business profitability going forward. 
More specifically, due to the profile of 
Transcend's tenant base, uncertainty is 
created around our ability to maintain 
high levels of collections and occupancy. 

In recent years, the sector has also been 
impacted by a low-growth economy 
with weak consumer spending and 
power supply interruptions. In addition, 
there will likely be further job losses in 
the market and at various SOEs including 
South African Airways and Eskom. We 
also remain concerned about the impact 
that the credit downgrade by Moody's 
will have on the South African economy 
going forward. These and other factors 
will put pressure on the consumer, 
our tenant base, and our ability to 
increase rental income.

The disposal of units at Midrand Village 
is progressing well, and we will reduce 
our current debt levels accordingly. Sales 
at the De Velde property commenced in 
September 2019 and at 31 December 2019, 
sales of 12 units have been concluded.

We will continue to search for innovative 
investments with the potential to provide 
new revenue streams. One example is 
the modular “nano unit” concept, which 
stems from a growing trend towards 
scaling down GLA per unit to meet the 
affordability needs of the market. We 
are considering this concept and could 
pursue attractive investments if they 
meet our criteria.

Our sound working relationship with 
Emira will continue to grow through the 
mutual exchange of skills and expertise. 
We will continue to leverage technology 
and operational synergies to optimise 
costs and enhance our performance in 
the coming year.
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204
UNITS

September 2015
COMPLETED

4.46%
VACANCY AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

20.2 months
AVERAGE LEASE TERM

8.75%
CAPITALISATION RATE

8 478m2

TOTAL GLA

90
UNITS

May 2013
COMPLETED

5.56%
VACANCY AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

20.3 months
AVERAGE LEASE TERM

9.50%
CAPITALISATION RATE

4 005m2

TOTAL GLA

R94.4m
Property value

R41m
Property value

67 on 7th
Edenvale, Gauteng

Alpine  
Mews
Eerste Rivier,  
Western Cape

157
UNITS OWNED

90
UNITS OWNED

R114/m2

Average rental

R116/m2

Average rental
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360
UNITS

March 2016
FIRST PHASE COMPLETED

5.83%
VACANCY AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

13.1 months
AVERAGE LEASE TERM

8.50%
CAPITALISATION RATE

26 232m2

TOTAL GLA

R304.1m
Property value

Birchwood 
Village
Chartwell,  
Gauteng

360
UNITS OWNED

1 212
UNITS

September 2013
COMPLETED

11.94%*

VACANCY AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

14.5 months
AVERAGE LEASE TERM

8.00%
CAPITALISATION RATE

29 330m2

TOTAL GLA

R320.6m
Property value

De Velde  
Estate*

Somerset West,  
Western Cape

310
UNITS OWNED

* Units are currently being disposed of and are held-for-sale.

R106/m2

Average rental

R106/m2

Average rental
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162
UNITS

April 2012
COMPLETED

3.70%
VACANCY AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

25.1 months
AVERAGE LEASE TERM

9.50%
CAPITALISATION RATE

6 642m2

TOTAL GLA

R69.5m
Property value

Ekhaya 
Fleurhof
Soweto,  
Gauteng

162
UNITS OWNED

244
UNITS

December 2013
COMPLETED

5.30%
VACANCY AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

21.1 months
AVERAGE LEASE TERM

9.50%
CAPITALISATION RATE

10 004m2

TOTAL GLA

R91.3m
Property value

Ekhaya  
Jabulani
Soweto,  
Gauteng

244
UNITS OWNED

R112/m2

Average rental

R101/m2

Average rental
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56
UNITS

April 2012
COMPLETED

7.14%
VACANCY AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

20.9 months
AVERAGE LEASE TERM

8.75%
CAPITALISATION RATE

2 376m2

TOTAL GLA

R36.6m
Property value

Kensington  
Place
Ferndale,  
Gauteng

56
UNITS OWNED

252
UNITS

April 2014
COMPLETED

0.40%
VACANCY AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

18.5 months
AVERAGE LEASE TERM

8.75%
CAPITALISATION RATE

10 713m2

TOTAL GLA

R112m
Property value

Jackalberry 
Close
Jansen Park,  
Gauteng

208
UNITS OWNED

R108/m2

Average rental

R157/m2

Average rental
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252
UNITS

June 2013
COMPLETED

2.78%
VACANCY AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

25.3 months
AVERAGE LEASE TERM

9.00%
CAPITALISATION RATE

11 937m2

TOTAL GLA

R139.9m
Property value

Molware
Estate
Kosmosdal,  
Gauteng

252
UNITS OWNED

187
UNITS

May 2012
COMPLETED

2.67%
VACANCY AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

35.7 months
AVERAGE LEASE TERM

9.00%
CAPITALISATION RATE

10 044m2

TOTAL GLA

R106.4m
Property value

Parklands
Parklands,  
Western Cape

187
UNITS OWNED

R124/m2

Average rental

R124/m2

Average rental
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176
UNITS

August 2009
COMPLETED

5.60%
VACANCY AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

24.1 months
AVERAGE LEASE TERM

10.00%
CAPITALISATION RATE

8 480m2

TOTAL GLA

R60.2m
Property value

Protea 
Glen
Soweto, Gauteng

176
UNITS OWNED

76
UNITS

June 2018
COMPLETED

1.30%
VACANCY AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

13.4 months
AVERAGE LEASE TERM

9.25%
CAPITALISATION RATE

5 140m2

TOTAL GLA

R42.9m
Property value

Silverleaf 
Estate
Silverton,  
Gauteng

76
UNITS OWNED

R81/m2

Average rental

R88/m2

Average rental
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412
UNITS

October 2012
COMPLETED

1.46%
VACANCY AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

19.9 months
AVERAGE LEASE TERM

9.50%
CAPITALISATION RATE

21 972m2

TOTAL GLA

R208.6m
Property value

Southgate 
Ridge
Naturena,  
Gauteng

412
UNITS OWNED

350
UNITS

August 2012
COMPLETED

3.14%
VACANCY AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

24.6 months
AVERAGE LEASE TERM

9.00%
CAPITALISATION RATE

22 028m2

TOTAL GLA

R217.2m
Property value

Terenure 
Estate
Kempton Park,  
Gauteng

350
UNITS OWNED

R100/m2

Average rental

R103/m2

Average rental
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242
UNITS

May 2009
COMPLETED

4.96%
VACANCY AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

21.2 months
AVERAGE LEASE TERM

9.00%
CAPITALISATION RATE

12 388m2

TOTAL GLA

R96.5m
Property value

Theresa Park 
Estates
Theresa Park,  
Gauteng

242
UNITS OWNED

85
UNITS

July 2011
COMPLETED

3.53%
VACANCY AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

22.1 months
AVERAGE LEASE TERM

8.75%
CAPITALISATION RATE

3 730m2

TOTAL GLA

R50.8m
Property value

Tradewinds
Ferndale, Gauteng

85
UNITS OWNED

R92/m2

Average rental

R138/m2

Average rental
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184
UNITS

August 2013
COMPLETED

8.08%
VACANCY AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

19.4 months
AVERAGE LEASE TERM

9.00%
CAPITALISATION RATE

10 140m2

TOTAL GLA

R110.3m
Property value

Urban Ridge  
East
Midrand,  
Gauteng

184
UNITS OWNED

232
UNITS

October 2014
COMPLETED

5.17%
VACANCY AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

17.5 months
AVERAGE LEASE TERM

9.00%
CAPITALISATION RATE

12 472m2

TOTAL GLA

R136m
Property value

Urban Ridge  
South
Midrand,  
Gauteng

232
UNITS OWNED

R117/m2

Average rental

R123/m2

Average rental
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260
UNITS

August 2012
COMPLETED

3.85%
VACANCY AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

22.2 months
AVERAGE LEASE TERM

9.00%
CAPITALISATION RATE

14 907m2

TOTAL GLA

R147.8m
Property value

Urban Ridge  
West
Midrand,  
Gauteng

260
UNITS OWNED

60
UNITS

October 2013
COMPLETED

1.67%
VACANCY AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

23.5 months
AVERAGE LEASE TERM

9.50%
CAPITALISATION RATE

2 640m2

TOTAL GLA

R37.6m
Property value

Vanguard  
Village
Heideveld,  
Western Cape

60
UNITS OWNED

R112/m2

Average rental

R150/m2

Average rental
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114
UNITS

October 2011
COMPLETED

5.26%
VACANCY AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

23.4 months
AVERAGE LEASE TERM

9.00%
CAPITALISATION RATE

6 039m2

TOTAL GLA

R52.1m
Property value

Village Seven,
Stone Arch  
Village
Castleview,  
Gauteng

114
UNITS OWNED

325
UNITS

May 2016
COMPLETED

3.38%
VACANCY AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

13.4 months
AVERAGE LEASE TERM

16 250m2

TOTAL GLA

R127.5m
Property value

Acacia Place*

eMalahleni, 
Mpumalanga

325
UNITS OWNED

R104/m2

Average rental

R90/m2

Average rental

* Property is currently being disposed of and is held-for-sale.
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335
UNITS

July 2012
COMPLETED

32.60%*

VACANCY AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019

22.7 months
AVERAGE LEASE TERM

7.71%
CAPITALISATION RATE

11 932m2

TOTAL GLA

R162.5m
Property value

Midrand 
Village*

Clayville,  
Gauteng

188
UNITS OWNED

* Units are currently being disposed of and are held-for-sale.

R135/m2

Average rental



Message from 
the Chairman

It is the duty of all 
directors of the Board to 
act in the best interest 
of the company at all 
times. It is a company 
imperative to have a 
Board that exercises 
effective leadership 
based on an ethical 
foundation of fairness, 
accountability, 
responsibility and 
transparency, and 
to ensure that the 
company’s ethics are 
applied and managed 
effectively. The Board 
fully subscribes to 
the principles of good 
corporate governance 
as set out in King IV 
and regards them 
as fundamentally 
important to the success 
of the business and its 
sustainability.

Effective management requires the 
approval and execution of efficient 
short-term and long-term strategies for 
the business, ensuring that adequate 
budgeting and business planning 
processes exist that are aligned to 
the company’s strategic imperative, 
ultimately creating stakeholder value.

Being accountable means that ongoing 
communication with regards to financial 
and non-financial matters is provided 
in an open, prompt and meaningful 
manner and by encouraging shareholder 
attendance at general meetings. 
This is done in conjunction with the 
establishment and administration 
of a sound system of corporate 
governance and the Board is to act as 
the focal point for and custodian of 
corporate governance.

In order to ensure the company’s 
sustainability, the Board appreciates 
that strategy, risk and performance 
are inseparable. The adopted Board 
Charter regulates the parameters 
within which the Board operates and 
ensures the application of the principles 
of good corporate governance in all 
dealings by the company and it sets 
out the roles and responsibilities of 
the Board and individual directors, 
including the composition and relevant 
procedures of the Board.

Ultimate control and responsibility of 
the company rests with the Board while 
the executive management team is 
responsible for the management of the 
company. To achieve this, the Board is 
responsible for establishing the strategic 
objectives of the company and setting a 
philosophy for investments, performance 
and ethical standards. Quarterly Board 
meetings are held during the year and 
additional meetings are called as and 
when appropriate.

Board of Directors

COMPOSITION  
AND STRUCTURE
The Board comprises ten directors, of 
which four are independent non-executive 
directors, three are non-executive 
directors and three are executive 
directors. Apart from Michael Falcone, 
who is an American citizen, all the 
directors are South African nationals.

As at year-end, the Board comprised:

 > RR Emslie 
Independent Non-executive Chairman

 > FN Khanyile 
Independent Non-executive Director

 > MS Aitken 
Independent Non-executive Director

 > AM Dickens 
Independent Non-executive Director

 > ML Falcone 
Non-executive Director

 > GM Jennett 
Non-executive Director

 > RN Wesselo 
Non-executive Director

 > S Mboweni 
CEO — Executive Director

 > M Kritzinger 
CFO — Executive Director

 > V Perfect 
COO — Executive Director

On 14 December 2018, Cathal Conaty 
resigned from the Board and was 
appointed as a Prescribed Officer of 
the company from that date.

The Board undertakes the role of a 
nominations committee and has the 
power to appoint directors, to fill any 
vacancy on the Board on a temporary 
basis, and any such appointments 
are confirmed by shareholders 
at the next AGM.

The Board follows a transparent and 
formal process in recommending suitable 
candidates for the Board’s consideration. 
The Board considers the appropriateness 
of prospective candidates recommended 
for appointment to the Board.

Curricula vitae of these directors are 
presented on pages 22 to 25 of this 
integrated annual report.
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Every individual Board member 
contributes the appropriate knowledge, 
skills, resources, objectivity and 
experience as required by the company. 
The Board has determined that its size, 
diversity and demographics make it an 
effective Board. The Board believes that 
diversity not only applies to academic 
qualifications, technical expertise, 
relevant industry knowledge and 
experience but also to nationality, age, 
race and gender. The company, however, 
recognises the importance of promoting 
diversity and better decision making 
at a Board level, which can be achieved 
through gender and race diversity. In 
line with the above, the Board will, when 
contemplating proposed appointments:

 > Consider the promotion of diversity on 
the Board, including diversity of race, 
gender, age, independence, skills and 
experience; and

 > Ensure that any Board appointment 
process and criteria are transparent and 
free from bias and discrimination.

Given the company’s size and its relatively 
new establishment, the Board will not 
be making voluntary targets in respect 
of race and gender diversity at this point 
but will review the Gender and Equality 
policies on a regular basis.

As per the Gender and Equality policies, 
which were adopted by the company 
on 4 December 2019, the Board 
continues to recognise the importance 
of promoting gender and race at Board 
level. A conscious effort will be made 
to drive diversity at a Board level by 
considering these polices at the time of 
the appointment of any future directors.

The independence of all independent 
non-executive directors is self-assessed, 
on an annual basis, in the form of a 
questionnaire and confirmed by a 
declaration of independence. The 
Chairman evaluates the independence 
declarations and presents it to the 
Board who ultimately considers whether 
directors in office could still act with a 
mind of independence.

The table on page 49 references the 
attendance of Board and committee 
meetings. Transcend’s Company Secretary, 
sponsor and finance manager attend 
various meetings regularly by invitation. 
The external auditors are also invited to 
Audit and Risk Committee meetings and 
certain Board meetings.

BOARD APPOINTMENTS  
AND ROTATION
The Board (together with the 
Remuneration Committee) undertakes 
the role of a nominations committee and 
the selection, appointment and approval 
of new directors is therefore undertaken 
by the Board as a whole, in a formal and 
transparent manner. Any new appointees 
are required to possess the necessary 
skills to contribute meaningfully to 
Board deliberations and to enhance 
Board composition in accordance with 
recommendations, legislation, regulations 
and best practice.

New directors are elected by shareholders 
at the next AGM.

The Company Secretary assists the 
Board and ensures that the procedure 
for the appointment of directors is 
properly carried out.

No director is appointed for life or for an 
indefinite period. Any director appointed 
during the year, whether filling a vacancy 
or as an additional appointment to 
the Board, is required to resign and 
have their appointment approved by 
shareholders at the next AGM in terms 
of the Memorandum of Incorporation 
(“MOI”). At each AGM, one third of the 
non-executive directors, or if their number 
is not three or a multiple of three, the 
nearest to one third, but not less than one 
third, will retire from office, and if eligible 
may be re-elected.

The appointment of executive directors 
shall be terminable by way of a 
Board resolution.

CHAIRMAN
The roles of the Chairman and CEO 
are separate with the Chairman being 
independent. The company’s Chairman 
is Robert Emslie.

The Chairman is appointed on an annual 
basis in terms of the Board Charter and is 
responsible for the effective leadership 
of the Board by fulfilling the role and 
functions in terms of King IV. The Board 
has ensured that a proper succession plan 
for the position of Chairman is in place.

The Chairman sets the ethical tone for 
the Board and the company and provides 
overall leadership to the Board without 
limiting the principle of collective 
responsibility for Board decisions, while 
at the same time being aware of the 
individual duties of Board members.

The Chairman actively participates in 
the selection of Board members, as well 
as overseeing the formal succession 
plan for Board members, the CEO and 
executive management.

The Board’s annual work plan is 
formulated by the Chairman with the 
assistance of the Company Secretary, 
who, in conjunction with the executive 
directors, sets the agenda for Board 
meetings while ensuring that Board 
minutes properly reflect Board 
deliberations and decisions. This is 
considered with the Board Charter 
which outlines the Board’s role and 
responsibilities, its composition, 
meeting procedures as recommended 
by King IV, and subject to the provisions 
of the Companies Act, JSE Listings 
Requirements and the company’s MOI.

As the major point of contact between the 
CEO and the Board, the Chairman is kept 
fully informed of the day-to-day matters of 
interest to directors, while maintaining an 
arm’s length relationship.

The Chairman maintains strong 
relations with the company’s major 
shareholders and its strategic 
stakeholders in conjunction with 
the CEO and management; builds 
and maintains stakeholders’ trust 
and confidence in the company; and 
presides over shareholder meetings.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE  
OFFICER (“CEO”)
On 14 December 2018, Solly Mboweni 
was appointed as Transcend’s CEO 
(previously the COO of Transcend), and 
his appointment was approved by the 
Board on the same date. Solly has over 
27 years of property and real estate 
experience, including property finance, 
valuations, asset management and 
property development experience. Prior 
to his appointment, Solly was positioned 
as Head of Housing Operations of IHS.

The Board has established a framework 
for delegation of authority and ensured 
that the role and function of the CEO 
has been formalised, and that the CEO’s 
performance is evaluated against 
specified criteria on an annual basis.

The CEO has developed and recommended 
to the Board a long-term strategy and 
vision together with the Board’s annual 
business plans and budgets that support 
this strategy in order to generate 
satisfactory levels of shareholder 
value. The CEO has established the 
organisational structure for the company 
which is necessary to enable execution of 
its strategy.
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In conjunction with the Board, the 
CEO ensures proper succession 
planning for executive management 
as well as performance appraisals for 
executive management.

The company’s performance and its 
conformance with compliance imperatives 
is monitored and reported on to the Board 
by the CEO who formulates and oversees 
the implementation of company policies.

In addition, the CEO sets the tone at 
management level in providing ethical 
leadership and creating an ethical 
environment and maintaining a positive 
and ethical work climate that is conducive 
to attracting, retaining and motivating a 
diverse group of quality employees.

BALANCE OF POWER
The company has a unitary Board, 
comprising a balance of power, with a 
majority of non-executive directors. The 
majority of the non-executive directors 
are independent.

The company’s executive directors are 
involved in the day-to-day business 
activities of the company and are 
responsible for ensuring that the 
decisions of the Board are implemented 
in accordance with the mandates 
given by the Board.

The Board has ensured that there is 
an appropriate balance of power and 
authority at Board level such that no 
one individual or block of individuals 
dominates the Board’s decision making.

The non-executive directors are 
individuals of calibre and credibility and 
have the necessary skills and experience 
to bring independent judgement on issues 
of strategy, performance, resources, 
standards of conduct and evaluation 
of performance.

BOARD EVALUATION
King IV recommends that a formal 
evaluation process, either externally 
facilitated or not, as approved by the 
Board, be followed for evaluating the 
performance of the Board, its committees, 
its chairman and the individual members 
at least every two years.

The Board conducted an evaluation 
process at the end of 2019 to enable the 
new directors that were appointed during 
December 2018 to fully participate in 
the evaluation.

The results and recommendations from 
the evaluations will be formulated 
into a workable action plan, overseen 
by the Chairman, to ensure that all 
recommendations enjoy proper attention.

An independence evaluation 
was conducted on each director 
during April 2019.

SUMMARY OF THE  
BOARD CHARTER
The main functions of the Board as set out 
in the Board Charter are:

 > good corporate governance and 
implementation of the code of corporate 
practices and conduct as set out in the 
King IV Report;

 > ensuring that the company performs at 
an acceptable level and that its affairs 
are conducted in a responsible and 
professional manner;

 > the adoption of strategic plans 
and ensuring that these plans are 
implemented by management;

 > monitoring of the operational 
performance of the business against 
predetermined budgets;

 > monitoring the performance of 
management at both operational and 
executive level;

 > ensuring that the company complies 
with all laws, regulations and codes of 
business practice;

 > ensuring a clear division of 
responsibilities at Board level to ensure a 
balance of power and authority in terms 
of company policies;

 > ensuring the integrity of the company’s 
integrated annual report;

 > appointing the CEO; and

 > establishing a framework for the 
delegation of authority.

The Board confirms that it is satisfied 
that it has carried out its duties and 
responsibilities in compliance with 
its mandate and the Board Charter.

ACCESS TO INFORMATION
The Board constantly reviews the 
information requirements of directors to 
enable them to act in the best interests 
of the company, perform their duties and 
fulfil their obligations responsibly. In order 
to make informed decisions, directors 
must have adequate information and 
facts covering the matter at hand, which 
is included in a detailed Board pack that 
is provided well in advance of all meetings.

All Board members have access to 
company records, information, documents 
and property. All executive and non-
executive directors have unfettered 
access to management at any time.

DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS
With the assistance of the Board, the 
Chairman and the Company Secretary 
ensure that all new directors are 
appropriately made aware of their 
responsibilities through a tailored 
induction programme.

The Chairman is also responsible for 
ensuring the ongoing effectiveness, 
mentoring and development of the Board 
and individual directors. The Company 
Secretary will oversee the specific 
training needs of directors and senior 
managers in their fiduciary and other 
governance responsibilities.

Directors are provided with regular 
briefings by management on the 
opportunities and risks the company 
faces and are expected to keep abreast 
of developments in the business 
environment and markets — economic 
and social — that may have a material 
impact on the business.

Board committees
The Board has delegated certain 
functions to the Audit and Risk Committee, 
Remuneration Committee, Social and Ethics 
Committee and Investment Committee. 
The Board is conscious of the fact that such 
delegation of duties is not an abdication 
of the Board members’ responsibilities. 
The various committees’ terms of reference 
will continue to be reviewed annually.

External advisers and executive directors 
who are not members of specific 
committees may attend committee 
meetings by invitation, if deemed 
appropriate by the relevant committee.

The table on page 49 references the 
attendance of Board and committee 
meetings. Transcend’s Company Secretary, 
sponsor and finance manager attend 
various meetings regularly by invitation. 
The external auditors are also invited to 
Audit and Risk Committee meetings and 
certain Board meetings.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Remuneration Committee is 
comprised of three members, namely 
Michael Falcone, non-executive director 
and chairman of the committee, 
Faith Khanyile, and Michelle Dickens, 
both independent non-executive 
directors. The CEO, CFO and COO attend 
meetings by invitation, and are excluded 
from deliberations regarding their, or any 
other executive directors’ remuneration.
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A detailed remuneration report is 
presented on pages 53 to 55 of this 
integrated annual report.

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
The Audit and Risk Committee comprised 
four members for the 2019 financial year, 
namely Michael Aitken, independent 
non-executive chairman of the committee, 
Robert Emslie, Michelle Dickens and 
Faith Khanyile, all independent non-
executive directors. The members are all 
financially literate and the committee 
fulfilled its function for the 2019 year.

Recently, the JSE approved the transfer 
of the company’s listing from the AltX 
to the “SA Listed Property” sector of 
the Main Board of the JSE with effect 
from Wednesday, 12 February 2020. The 
move followed a request by Transcend 
to move to the Main Board as a result of 
the company fulfilling all of the criteria 
for a Main Board listing as set out in the 
JSE Listings Requirements. As a result of 
the transfer, Robert Emslie (Chairman of 
the Board) has resigned from the Audit 
and Risk Committee of Transcend as 
recommended by King IV’s principle 7: 
The Chairman of the Board should not 
be a member of the Audit Committee.

The company’s CEO, CFO, COO, external 
auditors, sponsor and finance manager 
attend meetings regularly by invitation.

A detailed Audit and Risk Committee 
report is presented on pages 50 to 51 of 
this integrated annual report.

SOCIAL AND  
ETHICS COMMITTEE
The Social and Ethics Committee is a 
statutory committee whose focus is 
to monitor compliance with labour 
legislation as well as corporate 
social responsibilities (“CSR”) and 
corporate citizenship.

King IV recommends that the Social and 
Ethics Committee should constitute a 
majority of non-executive directors, 
the majority of whom should be 
independent. For the financial year 
ended December 2019, the Social and 
Ethics Committee comprised three 
members, namely Solly Mboweni, CEO 
and chairman of the committee, Michelle 
Dickens, an independent non-executive 
director, and Rob Wesselo, a non-
executive director.

A detailed Social and Ethics Committee 
report is presented on page 52 of this 
integrated annual report.

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE
The Investment Committee’s 
responsibilities and duties are governed 
by the terms of reference. All acquisitions, 
disposals and capital expenditure will 
be considered and approved by the 
Investment Committee in accordance 
with pre-set limits as included in the 
Delegation of Authority and transaction 
mandate approved by the Board.

In 2019, the committee was reconstituted 
and currently comprises of Rob 
Wesselo (as chairman), Geoff Jennett, 
Michael Falcone, Michael Aitken 
and Robert Emslie.

All members of this committee 
have extensive experience and 
technical expertise in the residential 
property industry.

The CEO, COO and CFO attend committee 
meetings by invitation, as does the 
finance manager.

The committee meets to discuss and 
approve the valuations of the properties, 
which are then recommended for review 
by the Audit and Risk Committee and to 
the Board for final approval. The entire 
investment properties portfolio was 
revalued at 31 December 2019 by an 
independent third-party valuer.

These valuations were approved by the 
Board in December 2019. Furthermore, 
the committee meets on an ad hoc basis 
to discuss and approve investment 
opportunities and strategic alliances.

The committee’s focus for 2020 is to 
support management in optimising the 
performance of the portfolio by remaining 
focused on its investment strategy and 
identifying appropriate opportunities 
which will enable Transcend to achieve 
its medium to long-term growth strategy. 
These include the acquisition of accretive 
investment properties and the recycling of 
capital through the disposal of non-core 
assets or properties where better value 
can be realised through disposal.

The terms of reference were reviewed 
during 2019. All other responsibilities 
were fulfilled.

The following table references the 
attendance of Board meetings as well 
as various committee meetings.
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MEETING ATTENDANCE

Member Board 
Audit and Risk 
Committee 

Remuneration 
Committee 

Social  
and Ethics 
Committee 

Investment 
Committee 

CHAIRMAN RR Emslie MS Aitken ML Falcone S Mboweni RN Wesselo 

Number of meetings held 4 5 2 2 4

RR Emslie 4/4 5/5 2/2 2/2 4/4

FN Khanyile 3/4 5/5 2/2 N/A 3/4* 

MS Aitken 3/4 4/5 2/2* N/A 3/4

AM Dickens 4/4 5/5 2/2 2/2 3/4*

GM Jennett 4/4 4/5* 2/2* 2/2 4/4

ML Falcone 2/4 3/5* 2/2 N/A 2/4

RN Wesselo 4/4 4/5* 2/2* 2/2 4/4

S Mboweni 4/4 4/5* 2/2* 2/2 4/4* 

M Kritzinger 4/4 5/5* 2/2* 2/2* 4/4* 

V Perfect 4/4 4/5 * 2/2* 2/2* 4/4*

* Attended as an invitee. 

N/A Not a member — did not attend.

Company Secretary
The Company Secretary is CorpStat 
Governance Services (Pty) Ltd, an 
independent company secretarial 
practice and represented by 
Johann Zerwick. CorpStat is a specialist 
and boutique company secretarial 
and corporate governance advisory 
firm that has been in business for over 
18 years. CorpStat acts as outsourced 
company secretary to numerous 
companies, including six listed 
companies. The firm consists of a team 
of ten that operates from two offices in 
Hurlingham Manor and Rosebank. 

CorpStat provides an end-to-end service 
in this space, from basic CIPC matters to 
very advanced corporate governance 
advice, including the Companies Act and 
King IV. Board and committee meeting 
support is one of the firm’s specialist 
areas, where the focus is not just to act 
as minute takers but add value to the 
meeting relating to governance matters.

Johann Zerwick is a qualified chartered 
secretary and holds an ACIS and a 
Bachelor of Commerce (Business 
Management) degree from the University 
of Pretoria. Johann started his career in 
the company secretarial department 
of Life Healthcare Group after which 
he joined Deloitte Consulting in a 
similar capacity. 

Johann’s experience in the company 
secretarial field includes JSE listed 
companies and non-listed, highly 
regulated public companies.

During the year under review, the Board 
has considered and satisfied itself that the 
Company Secretary is competent, has the 
necessary qualifications and experience 
to act as Company Secretary, is not a 
director of the company and has been 
empowered to fulfil his duties.

The Board reviews the Company Secretary’s 
performance at least annually and the 
Board is satisfied that the Company 
Secretary maintains an arms-length 
relationship with the Board and is 
sufficiently qualified and experienced 
to execute his required duties.

The Company Secretary has, in addition 
to his statutory duties, fulfilled the 
duties of the Company Secretary as 
contemplated in King IV.

It is the Company Secretary’s duty to 
make all the directors aware of any law 
relevant to or affecting the company. The 
Company Secretary attends all Board and 
committee meetings as secretary.

Ethics performance

CODE OF ETHICS
The Board is responsible for the strategic 
direction of the company. It sets the 
values that the company adheres to and is 
currently compiling a code of ethics which 
will be adopted and applied throughout 
the company. The current Board’s 
diversity of professional expertise and 
demographics makes it highly effective 
with regard to Transcend’s current 
strategies. The Board will ensure that, in 
appointing successive Board members, the 
Board will continue to reflect, whenever 
possible, a diverse set of professional and 
personal backgrounds.

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATIONS 
AND CONFLICT OF INTEREST
Board members are obliged to disclose 
in writing any personal financial interest 
in terms of section 75 of the Companies 
Act and any other interests they have 
within or outside the company that may 
be of interest to the company or that may 
interfere or conflict with the performance 
of their duties.

Any possible conflict of interest is 
declared in the manner prescribed by 
law and in terms of the company’s MOI, 
as soon as a director becomes aware of 
the conflict, and in any event prior to the 
consideration of the matter to which the 
conflict relates, at any Board meeting. The 
director concerned does not participate in 
a discussion or vote on the subject matter 
and will leave the meeting immediately 
after making the requisite disclosure.
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The Audit and Risk Committee (“the 
committee”) is a subcommittee of 
the Board and, in addition to having 
specific statutory responsibilities to the 
shareholders in terms of the Companies 
Act, its primary objective is to assist the 
Board in discharging its responsibilities 
relating to the: safeguarding of assets; 
the operation of adequate and effective 
systems and control processes; the 
preparation of fairly presented financial 
statements in compliance with applicable 
accounting standards, legal and regulatory 
requirements; the oversight of the external 
audit appointment and process; as well as 
the risk management function.

The committee has an independent role 
with accountability to both the Board and 
the company’s various stakeholders. The 
committee does not assume the functions 
of management of the company, which 
functions remain the responsibility of 
the company’s executive directors. The 
committee operates within the delegated 
authority of the Board.

In compliance with its oversight role in 
relation to the preparation of the annual 
financial statements, the committee will 
have due regard to all factors and risks 
that may impact on the integrity and fair 
presentation of information in the annual 
financial statements of the company. Within 
this context, the committee is responsible 
for assessing the company’s systems 
of internal controls, both financial and 
operational, as well as the company’s ability 
to continue to operate as a going concern.

Terms of reference
The committee has adopted formal terms 
of reference which have been approved 
by the Board and which are reviewed 
on an annual basis. The committee has 
executed its duties during the past 
financial year in accordance with these 
terms of reference, the Companies 
Act, King IV where applicable, and the 
JSE Listings Requirements.

Committee composition
At 31 December 2019, the committee 
comprises four members, namely 
Michael Aitken, independent non-executive 
director and chairman of the committee; 
and Robert Emslie, Faith Khanyile and 
Michelle Dickens, all independent  
non-executive directors. All the members 
are financially literate and collectively have 
sufficient qualifications and experience 
to assist the committee in fulfilling its 
duties. Subsequent to the migration of 
the company to the Main Board of the JSE, 
Robert Emslie has resigned as member of 
the Audit and Risk Committee in line with 
the recommendations of King IV.

Meetings
Solly Mboweni (CEO), Myles Kritzinger 
(CFO), Vanessa Perfect (COO) and the 
Company Secretary attend the committee 
meetings as invitees as well as the 
company’s designated advisor, all other 
directors of the company, the external 
auditors and the financial manager of 
the company. The committee members 
have unlimited access to all information, 
documents and explanations required 
in the discharge of their duties, as do the 
external auditors. The committee met five 
times during the year.

Statutory and 
regulatory duties
In the execution of its statutory 
duties during the past financial 
year, the committee:

 > Nominated KPMG for re-appointment 
by shareholders at the company’s AGM 
on 30 May 2019, having determined that 
they have the necessary expertise and 
are independent of the company;

 > Determined the external auditor’s terms 
of engagement and the fee to be paid;

 > Ensured that the appointment of the 
external auditor complies with the 
Companies Act, the Auditing Profession 
Act and other relevant legislation;

 > Reviewed JSE Listings Requirements, 
and approved the 2019 financial year 
external audit plan;

 > Pre-approved the non-audit services 
contract relating to tax compliance;

 > Received no complaints relating to the 
accounting practices of the company, 
the content of auditing of its annual 
financial statements, the internal 
financial controls of the company,  
and any other related matters; and

 > Made the following submission to 
the Board on matters concerning 
the company’s accounting policies, 
financial control, financial records 
and financial reporting:

 » Agreed that the adoption of the going 
concern principle in the preparation 
of the annual financial statements is 
appropriate; and

 » Recommended the annual financial 
statements for approval by the Board.

Oversight of risk 
management
With the assistance of the executive 
directors, the committee monitors the 
significant risks that the company is 
exposed to and documents these risks in 
a matrix which is reviewed regularly by 
the committee. It also ensures that risks 
are taken within a reasonable appetite 
and that adequate safeguards are put 
in place to mitigate such risks. The risk 
management policy is in accordance 
with industry practice and specifically 
prohibits the company from entering into 
any derivative transactions that are not 
in the normal course of the company’s 
business, and the committee ensures 
compliance therewith.

The committee satisfied itself that the 
policies and procedures followed in terms 
of identifying, managing and reporting 
on risk, are adequate and that the 
following areas, amongst other strategic, 
financial and operational risks, have 
been appropriately addressed:

 > Investment risk;

 > Operational risks;

 > Risk of property damage or destruction;

 > Loss of income;

 > Lease termination risk;

 > Risk of vacancies;

 > Concentration risk;

 > Bad debts and recoveries risk;

 > Information Technology (“IT”) risks as 
it relates to financial reporting;

 > Business continuity risk;

 > Internal financial control;

 > Financial reporting and operational 
fraud and error risks; and

 > Regulatory and compliance risk.

External audit
In terms of the company’s policy, the 
committee must ensure that the lead audit 
engagement partner within the appointed 
firm is rotated every five years. The 
committee has evaluated the performance 
of the external auditors and is satisfied 
therewith. The committee received regular 
written and verbal feedback on the public 
investigations into KPMG’s conduct and 
associated matters, and was satisfied 
that the impact of the investigations 
did not in any way detract from KPMG’s 
ability to perform the external audit 
of the company, particularly in light of 
the fact that none of the individuals 
involved in the audit were involved in 
the investigations in any way.
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The committee is also aware of the JSE 
Listings Requirements which require the 
committee to approve the appointment 
of the audit firm and individual partner 
based on specific information which 
is required to be submitted. It is further 
aware of the minimum specific information 
required by the JSE in terms of paragraph 
22.15(h) of the JSE Listings Requirements 
before making its recommendation to 
shareholders as to who should act as 
external auditors. These items were 
considered during the assessment of the 
suitability of the external auditors and  
lead partner for re-appointment for the 
2019 financial year.

The committee confirmed that the 
external auditors had executed their 
audit responsibilities and had functioned 
in accordance with their mandate for the 
2019 financial year. No matters of concern 
regarding the performance of the external 
auditors were noted by the committee.

Financial statements
The committee reviewed the interim 
results for the period ended 30 June 2019 
and the annual financial statements for the 
year ended 31 December 2019 to ensure that 
it is consistent with financial, operational 
and other information made available to 
the committee. The committee has satisfied 
itself to the integrity of the annual financial 
statements, ensuring that the financial 
statements are prepared using appropriate 
reporting standards, which conform to the 
requirements of the Companies Act, JSE 
Listings Requirements and IFRS.

The committee has recommended the 
annual financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2019 to the Board 
for approval, based on the processes and 
assurances obtained.

The committee reviewed the significant 
accounting matters and management’s key 
estimates and assumptions and confirmed 
that they were adequately addressed. 
The most significant matter in the financial 
statements is investment properties.

The committee is satisfied that 
management continues to pro-actively 
monitor the preparation of the financial 
statements as required by the JSE. The 
committee and company continue to be 
committed and to practice the highest 
standards of financial disclosure.  
The committee has satisfied itself that 
appropriate financial reporting procedures 
are in place and operating effectively.

Internal audit  
and internal  
financial controls
Due to the size of the company, the 
committee (and the Board) does not 
consider it to be cost effective to maintain  
a full-time internal audit function.

The company’s situation and needs in 
terms of an internal audit function will be 
reassessed on an annual basis. During the 
2019 financial year, both the committee 
and the Board assessed this requirement 
and internal audit investigations will be 
initiated as and when deemed necessary.

The company is dependent on the 
control environments of their services 
organisations to ensure there is adequate 
internal control, as the directors 
determine is necessary, to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. The 
two services organisations are IHS AM 
and IHS PM which perform the asset 
management and property management 
activities respectively on behalf 
of the company.

The accounting system of both services 
organisations operates through the same 
software packages. The committee has 
received assurance from management 
that the effectiveness of the companies’ 
system of internal financial controls was 
sound during the period of review and 
continues to be strengthened.

Nothing was brought to the attention of the 
committee that would suggest a material 
breakdown of any internal control system. 
Based on the processes and assurances 
obtained, the committee is satisfied that 
the internal control environment continued 
to function effectively.

In accordance with paragraph 3.84(g) (ii) 
of the JSE Listings Requirements, the 
company confirms that it has established 
appropriate financial reporting procedures 
and that those procedures are operating.

Information and 
technology governance
The Board mandated the committee to 
provide oversight over IT governance. 
Information protection and business 
continuity assessments were made 
during the year, and the committee is 
satisfied that the necessary IT controls 
and processes are in place to ensure 
business continuity and the protection 
of information. The relevant IT governance 
mandates, policies, processes and control 
frameworks will continue to be further 
formalised in the future. The committee 
is fully committed to ensure compliance 
with the required standards.

Regulatory compliance
The committee is satisfied that the 
company complied with all relevant 
laws and regulations. In exercising this 
function, the committee considered all 
legal matters that may have a material 
impact on the company and any material 
reports and/or enquiries from regulatory 
or government bodies. It is satisfied that 
there are sufficient processes in place to 
detect non-compliance.

Finance function
The committee believes that 
Myles Kritzinger CA(SA), the CFO for 
the year under review, possesses the 
appropriate expertise and experience 
to meet his responsibilities in that 
position as required by the JSE 
Listings Requirements.

The committee is satisfied with the:

 > expertise and adequacy of resources 
within the finance function; and

 > experience and continuous professional 
development of the members of the 
finance function.

Based on the assurances obtained, the 
committee believes that the accounting 
processes are effective.

Integrated annual report
The committee will review the integrated 
annual report for the 2019 financial 
year to ensure that it is consistent with 
the operational, financial and other 
information made available to the 
committee. The committee will satisfy 
itself of the integrity of the integrated 
annual report, ensuring that the report 
is prepared using appropriate reporting 
standards, which conform to the 
requirements of the Companies Act, 
King IV and the JSE Listings Requirements. 
The committee will recommend the 2019 
integrated annual report to the Board 
for approval, based on the processes 
and assurances obtained.

Transactions
The committee, together with the 
Investment Committee and the Board, 
has reviewed the business and financial 
impact of transactions entered into 
by the company during the year. The 
committee is satisfied that the necessary 
transactional mandates, processes and 
approvals took place for both acquisitive 
transactions as well as disposals.

The committee has fulfilled its function 
and responsibilities, as mentioned above, 
and has executed its duties during the 
year under review, complying with its 
legal, regulatory and other responsibilities 
in accordance with its terms of reference.

On behalf of the Audit and Risk Committee

Michael Aitken

Chairman
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Introduction
The Social and Ethics Committee  
(“the committee”) is constituted as a 
statutory committee in respect of its 
statutory duties in terms of sections 72(8) 
of the Companies Act and regulation 43  
of the Companies Act Regulations.  
The committee is also constituted as 
a committee of the Board in respect 
of all other duties that the Board has 
assigned to it.

The committee’s objective is to assist the 
Board in ensuring that the company is and 
remains a committed, socially responsible 
corporate citizen, creating a sustainable 
business by considering the company’s 
economic, social and environmental impact 
on the communities in which it operates. 
This includes, inter alia, public safety, 
HIV/Aids, environmental management, 
corporate social investment, consumer 
relationships, labour and employment, 
and the promotion of equality and 
ethics management.

The committee has an independent 
role with accountability to both the 
Board and the company’s stakeholders. 
The committee does not assume 
the functions of management of the 
company, which functions remain 
the responsibility of the company’s 
executive directors, executive 
management and senior managers.

In respect of the statutory duties 
of the committee, the committee is 
accountable to shareholders and report 
to shareholders as provided for in the 
Companies Act. In respect of all other 
duties as contained in these terms 
of reference, the committee will be 
accountable and report to the Board.

Committee composition
As at 31 December 2019, the Social and 
Ethics Committee comprised three 
members, namely Solly Mboweni, 
CEO and Chairman of the committee, 
Michelle Dickens, an independent non-
executive director, and Rob Wesselo, a 
non-executive director. The composition 
is in line with requirements of King IV, as 
the committee consists of three members, 
of which two are non-executive directors 
and one executive director.

The table on page 49 references the 
attendance of committee meetings.

Terms of reference
The Social and Ethics Committee is a 
statutory committee whose focus is 
to monitor compliance with labour 
legislation as well as corporate 
social responsibilities (“CSR”) and 
corporate citizenship.

The committee has adopted terms of 
reference which includes statutory 
duties in terms of sections 72(8) of the 
Companies Act and regulation 43 of the 
Companies Act Regulations, as well as 
other duties assigned to it by the Board.

These Board assigned duties include:

 > Implement a formal corporate social 
responsibility and environmental 
sustainability framework;

 > Reviewing any statements on ethical 
standards or requirements for the 
company and the procedures or review 
system implemented to promote and 
enforce compliance;

 > Reviewing significant cases of employee 
conflicts of interest, misconduct or 
fraud, or any other unethical activity  
by employees or the company;

 > Where requested, making 
recommendations on any material 
potential conflict of interest or 
questionable situations;

 > Ensuring that the company’s ethics 
performance is assessed, monitored, 
reported and disclosed;

 > Being informed of sustainability risks;

 > Ensuring that sustainability reporting 
conforms to the Global Reporting 
Initiative Guidelines, as and when it 
is amended from time-to-time;

 > Overseeing sustainability issues in 
the integrated annual report and the 
sustainable development report;

 > Ensuring that a formal process of 
assurance with regard to sustainability 
reporting is established through the 
Audit and Risk Committee;

 > Approving material elements of 
sustainability reporting over which 
the external assurance provider 
should provide assurance;

 > Reviewing and approving (at least every 
second year) the company’s stakeholder 
management plan and policy; and

 > Reviewing results of whistleblowing 
activities.

The following objectives were 
achieved during 2019:

B-BBEE
A new B-BBEE rating was obtained in 
July 2019 and a level 8 Non-compliant 
rating was achieved due to certain 
priority elements not being met. The 
company scored well on two of the 
priority elements, being Ownership 
and Procurement, however, there 
is opportunity for improvement on 
Enterprise and Supplier Development 
and Economic Development. Management 
are working with a consultant to identify 
gaps and interventions to improve on 
these priority element areas and improve 
the overall rating of the company. This 
will remain a focus area in 2020 and 2021.

GENDER AND EQUALITY
New Gender and Equality policies were 
presented to and adopted by the Board on 
4 December 2019. These policies consider 
the promotion of diversity on the Board, 
including diversity of race, gender, age, 
independence, skills and experience, 
and ensure that any Board appointment 
process and criteria are transparent 
and free from bias and discrimination. 
Given the company’s size and its relatively 
new establishment, the Board will not 
be making voluntary targets in respect 
of race and gender diversity at this point 
but will review the gender and equality 
policies on a regular basis.

At present, Transcend has three female 
directors and two black directors.

It is the intention of the committee to 
continue working towards fully complying 
with its terms of reference and all its 
responsibilities in terms thereof.

Solly Mboweni

Chairman

Johannesburg

28 April 2020

52

TR ANSCEND INTEGR ATED ANNUAL REPORT 2019

SOCIAL AND ETHICS  
COMMITTEE REPORT



LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN OF 
THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE 
TO SHAREHOLDERS

Dear shareholders

I am pleased to present 
Transcend’s remuneration 
report for the 2019 financial 
year. The year under 
review saw the successful 
implementation and transfer 
of over 2 200 units into the 
name of the business, which 
more than doubled the value 
of Transcend’s portfolio. 
As a result, the appointment 
of various executive and 
non-executive directors 
to the Board took place in 
December 2018, which is 
representative of the growth 
we experienced during the 
year. The Board currently 
consists of 10 members, of 
which three are executive 
directors, three are non-
executive directors and 4 are 
independent non-executive 
directors. This composition 
ensures that the Board has 
the appropriate balance of 
power to carry out its duties 
on behalf of the company.

A dedicated management team was 
required to focus on the growing strategic 
and operational needs of the business. 
This team, along with the support of IHS 
AM and IHS PM will continue to provide 
Transcend with direct access to a superior 
team of high-quality and experienced 
residential experts.

Transcend is externally managed by 
IHS AM through an Asset Management 
Agreement (“AMA”) for which Transcend 
pays IHS AM an annual asset management 
fee, calculated as a percentage (excluding 
VAT) of the enterprise value of the 
company. As such Transcend itself does 
not have any employees. Instead, IHS AM 
outsources its main asset management 
functions to IHS in terms of a service level 
agreement and suitable employees of IHS 
are seconded to business in line with the 
provisions of the AMA. This covers suitably 
qualified employees in the positions of 
chief executive officer, chief operating 
officer and chief financial officer of 
the company; and whose appointment 
as executive directors of the company 
is subject to the periodical approval 
of the Board and/or shareholders. 
On 14 December 2018, Solly Mboweni 
and Vanessa Perfect were appointed 
as CEO and COO respectively. Both 
were appointed and serve as executive 
directors on the Board. Myles Kritzinger 
was appointed as CFO and as an 
executive director in March 2018.

Due to this structure, Transcend does 
not have a formal policy in place to 
remunerate its executive directors. 
However, the performance of its executive 
team shall, in accordance with the AMA, 
be reviewed by the Board on an annual 
basis. From a remuneration standpoint, 
we believe that appropriately designed, 
market-related and performance-linked 
remuneration will continue to attract, 
incentivise and retain high-calibre staff 
who will continue to help Transcend 
achieve its strategic objectives.

A key objective of this report is to 
describe the manner in which Transcend 
has developed and formalised its 
Remuneration Policy. In line with 
King IV and read with the JSE Listings 
Requirements, we have segmented the 
remuneration report into three sections:

 > A letter to shareholders setting out the 
areas of focus of the Remuneration 
Committee (“the committee”);

 > A forward-looking 
Remuneration Policy; and

 > The implementation of 
these arrangements.

In line with King IV, the company’s 
Remuneration Policy and the 
Remuneration Implementation 
Report will be tabled annually at the 
company’s AGM, to be endorsed by 
shareholders, each by way of separate 
non-binding advisory votes. This allows 
shareholders to express their views on the 
company’s Remuneration Policy and the 
Remuneration Implementation Report. 
The forward-looking Remuneration 
Implementation Report for the 2020 
financial year will be put to a non-binding 
advisory vote at the 2020 AGM to be 
held on Friday, 29 May 2020. In the event 
of 25% or more shareholders voting 
against the non-binding resolutions 
pertaining to the Remuneration Policy 
and/or the Remuneration Implementation 
Report, the directors are committed 
to engaging with shareholders in 
order to address all legitimate and 
reasonable objections and concerns.

AREAS OF FOCUS
Activities of the committee in 
financial year 2019:

 > Reviewed the terms of reference to ensure 
compliance with the provisions of King IV;

 > Developed a succession plan for 
management and IHS staff;

 > Further considered the implementation 
of a share incentive scheme;

 > Reviewed executive directors’ total 
remuneration consisting of total 
guaranteed-package and short-
term incentives;

 > Reviewed non-executive directors’ fees

 > Reviewed and recommended the 
rotation and re-appointment of various 
executive and non-executive directors 
to the Board; and

 > Reviewed and approved the 2019 
remuneration report.

In our efforts to continuously improve the 
business and transparency, we welcome 
any comments that you may have on our 
report, or any concerns regarding the 
Remuneration Policy.

REMUNERATION GOVERNANCE
The committee operates independently 
from executive management. It acts as an 
overseer and makes recommendations 
on remuneration-related decisions to the 
Board and IHS AM, for its consideration 
and final approval. Please refer to the 
Remuneration Policy below on the next 
page. The committee is governed by its 
terms of reference, which are reviewed 
and amended as and when required and 
approved by the Board.
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In summary, the role and duties of the 
committee are to:

 > Advise the Board in determining 
appropriate remuneration strategies;

 > Ensure that the link between 
performance and reward is maintained;

 > Oversee the development of 
remuneration instruments and policies;

 > Devise and recommend a policy 
that results in fair, responsible 
and transparent remuneration for 
executive directors;

 > Oversee the establishment of a 
Remuneration Policy that articulates 
and gives effect to its direction on 
fair, responsible and transparent 
remuneration and which will promote 
the achievement of strategic objectives 
and encourage individual performance;

 > Ensure that the Remuneration Policy 
and Remuneration Implementation 
Report are put to two separate non-
binding advisory votes at the annual 
general meeting;

 > Review the outcomes of the 
implementation of the Remuneration 
Policy to determine whether the set 
objectives are being achieved;

 > Consider the results of the evaluation of 
the performance of the chief executive 
officer and other executive directors, 
both as directors and as executives, in 
determining remuneration;

 > Advise on the remuneration of non-
executive directors; and

 > Oversee the preparation and 
recommendation to the Board of the 
Remuneration Implementation Report 
to ensure that:

 » Remuneration is disclosed in three 
parts, namely: a background statement; 
an overview of the Remuneration 
Policy; and an Implementation Report;

 » It is accurate, complete 
and transparent;

 » It provides a clear explanation of the 
manner in which the Remuneration 
Policy has been implemented;

 » It provides a sufficient level of 
disclosure as required in terms of 
King IV or provides rationale behind 
principles not applied by the company. 
Where the principles are not applied 
by the company, the committee should 
review the rationale provided by the 
company and ascertain as to whether 
this is acceptable; and

 » It provides sufficient information 
for stakeholders to pass a special 
resolution in terms of section 66(9) of 
the Companies Act.

Transcend 
Remuneration Policy
Transcend is externally managed by IHS 
AM through an AMA. IHS AM is a subsidiary 
of IHS. Through a service level agreement 
(“SLA”), IHS AM has largely outsourced its 
day-to-day functions to IHS. As a result of 
the above structure, Transcend itself does 
not have any employees. Instead, suitable 
employees of IHS have been seconded 
to Transcend in line with the following 
clause from the AMA:

“Pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, 
the Manager will second suitably 
qualified employees of the Manager to 
act in the positions of chief executive 
officer, chief operating officer and chief 
financial officer of the company, whose 
appointment as executive directors of the 
company will be subject to the periodical 
approval of the Board and/or shareholders 
of the company as determined by the 
Board from time-to-time. The chief 
executive officer, chief operating officer 
and chief financial officer shall remain 
employees of the Manager and their 
contract of employment with the Manager 
shall remain in full force and effect. The 
remuneration and benefits to be paid to 
the chief executive officer, chief operating 
officer and chief financial officer for their 
services as directors of the company will 
be borne by the Manager and will form 
part of the fees payable by the company 
to the Manager for the Services provided.”

As such, Transcend does not have a 
formal policy in place to remunerate the 
executive directors of Transcend. However, 
it should be noted that the performance of 
the chief executive officer, chief operating 
officer and chief financial officer shall, 
in accordance with the AMA clause 
above, be reviewed by the Transcend 
Board of Directors from time-to-time 
with reference to forecast distribution 
guidance provided from time-to-time, 
as well as the executive team’s ability to 
secure acquisitions of properties of similar 
quality and yield producing capability.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Transcend’s policy on non-executive 
directors’ remuneration is set and 
reviewed on an annual basis by the 
Remuneration Committee and is 
benchmarked against industry norms. 
Ultimate approval of the non-executive 
directors’ fees lies with shareholders 
who are tasked with approving fees 
at the AGM on an annual basis.

INTERPRETATION

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
The committee is therefore, responsible 
for reviewing and recommending the 
remuneration of executive directors to the 
Board and to IHS AM in line with its policy 
detailed below:

Transcend has developed a Remuneration 
Policy in line with King IV. All components 
of the reward strategy, including the 
basic salary and the short-term incentive 
payments, are aligned to the strategic 
direction and business-specific value 
drivers of Transcend.

The key principles of the 
Remuneration Policy are to:

 > Recognise and reward 
superior performance;

 > Direct employees’ energies and 
activities toward achieving the key 
business objectives;

 > Align the company and individual 
performance to reward; and

 > Apply an integrated and holistic 
approach to the reward strategy, 
encompassing a balanced mix of:

 » Basic salary; and

 » Short-term incentive bonus.

The reward strategy is reviewed regularly 
to ensure that Transcend’s Remuneration 
Policy keeps pace with market practices 
and the company’s growth trajectory.
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Remuneration mix: The executive 
directors’ total remuneration consists  
of a basic salary (or guaranteed package), 
defined as the employment cost to the 
company and an annual performance-
linked bonus as a percentage of basic 
salary. This will ensure that there is the 
necessary balance between fixed and 
performance-related remuneration 
as well as elements linked to short-
term performance.

Guaranteed package: This is the total 
guaranteed annual employment cost 
to the company associated with the 
employment of an executive director or 
employee seconded to Transcend. It is 
structured based on an all-inclusive salary 
package and no separate pension fund 
contribution being paid. A cost of living 
increase in the basic salary is considered 
by the committee and recommended 
to IHS AM on an annual basis, which is 
effective from 1 March in the applicable 
year, if the financial position of the 
company allows for such an increase.

Factors that are taken into consideration 
in determining the recommended 
annual increase include: consumer 
price index, retention strategies, 
industry performance, projected 
growth, contractual arrangements 
and affordability.

Short-term incentive: This is a 
short-term incentive plan for which 
rewards are determined against the 
achievement of set annual performance 
targets determined by the committee 
and approved by the Board for 
recommendation to IHS AM.

The incentive structure provides for:

 > Company and individual performance 
related to a specific time period;

 > Meaningful performance measures;

 > Annual revision by the committee 
and recommendation to IHS AM, to 
ensure the continuing appropriateness 
of performance measures, the 
weighting of measures and the split 
between individual and company 
performance; and

 > The weighting of performance measures 
varies depending on seniority, relevance, 
and ability to influence the outcome.

Long-term incentive plan: The company 
has elected not to adopt a long-term 
share-based scheme. Such a scheme is 
currently under consideration by the 
committee and the Board.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
As referred to in the Remuneration 
Policy, remuneration of non-executive 
directors is reviewed on an annual basis 
by the committee and is benchmarked 
against industry norms. Ultimate 
approval of the non-executive directors’ 
fees lies with shareholders who are 
tasked with approving fees at the AGM 
of shareholders.

Non-independent non-executive 
directors do not receive remuneration. 
Approval of the independent non-
executive directors’ remuneration is 
presented at the company’s AGM, to 
be approved by shareholders by way 
of a special resolution.

Remuneration 
implementation report

ADHERENCE TO THE 
REMUNERATION POLICY
In accordance with the directives set in 
the company’s Remuneration Policy, the 
committee, the Board and IHS AM have 
performed their respective duties with 
regards to oversight of all remuneration 
matters concerning the remuneration of 
executive directors, and where applicable, 
made recommendations to the Board 
regarding remuneration during the year 
under review. The Remuneration Policy 
was implemented accordingly and the 
remuneration of executive and non-
executive directors for the year under 
review is set out on pages 101 to 103 in 
note 35 of the annual financial statements.

APPROVAL
This remuneration report was approved 
by the Remuneration Committee of 
Transcend on 28 April 2020.

Yours sincerely

Michael Falcone  
Chairman

Remuneration Committee
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The financial statements of Transcend Residential Property Fund Limited (“Transcend” or “the 
company”), have been audited by KPMG Inc. (“KPMG”) in compliance with section 30 of the Companies 
Act of South Africa, No. 71 of 2008 (“the Companies Act)”, as amended. The financial statements were 
internally complied by Jean Knowlden CA(SA); under the supervision of Myles Kritzinger CA(SA), Chief 
Financial Officer. These financial statements were published on 14 February 2020.

A summary of these financial statements was published on the Stock Exchange News Service on 
14 February 2020. The complete annual financial statements of the company for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2019 may be obtained free of charge:

 > from the transfer Secretaries, Link Market Services South Africa (Pty) Ltd;

 > from the company’s website at: www.transcendproperty.co.za; or

 > by request from the company.
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The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the annual financial statements of Transcend, comprising the 
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019, the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity 
and cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory notes, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and the requirements of the Companies 
Act and the JSE Limited (“JSE”). In addition, the directors are responsible for preparing the directors’ report.

The directors are also responsible for such internal control as they may determine necessary to enable the preparation of the financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and for maintaining adequate accounting records  
and an effective system of risk management, as well as the preparation of the supplementary schedules included in these annual 
financial statements.

The financial statements were audited by KPMG who expressed an unmodified opinion thereon. Shareholders are advised that in order to obtain 
a full understanding of the nature of the auditor’s engagement, they should obtain a copy of the independent auditor’s report together with the 
accompanying audited financial statements, both of which are available for inspection at the company’s registered office and the company’s 
website. The directors of Transcend take full responsibility for the preparation of this report and that the selected financial information has 
been correctly extracted from the underlying financial records. The directors are not aware of any material matters or circumstances arising 
subsequent to 31 December 2019 that require any additional disclosure or adjustments to the audited financial statements.

The directors have made an assessment of the company’s ability to continue as a going concern and have no reason to believe that the 
business will not be a going concern in the year ahead.

The external auditor is responsible for reporting on whether the financial statements are fairly presented in accordance with the applicable 
financial reporting framework.

Approval of the annual financial statements
The annual financial statements of Transcend as identified in the first paragraph, were approved by the board of directors (“the Board”) on 
13 February 2020 and are signed by:

  

Robert Emslie Solly Mboweni Myles Kritzinger

Chairman Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
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In our capacity as Company Secretary, we hereby confirm, in terms of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act, that for the year ended 
31 December 2019, the company has lodged with the Registrar of Companies all such returns as are required of a public company  
in terms of the Companies Act and that all such returns are true, correct and up to date.

Johann Zerwick

CorpStat Governance Services (Pty) Ltd

Company Secretary

13 February 2020
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The directors are 
pleased to present 
their report that forms 
part of the annual 
financial statements 
for the year ended 
31 December 2019.

Main business  
and operations
Transcend is a Real Estate Investment 
Trust (“REIT”) and holds a property 
portfolio of 23 directly-owned properties 
with a combined gross lettable area 
(“GLA”) of 267 879m2, valued at R2.77 billion 
located primarily in Gauteng, the Western 
Cape and Mpumalanga (a discontinued 
operation) in South Africa. The primary 
business of Transcend is the acquisition 
and operation of income-generating 
residential properties, with a focus on 
housing opportunities that are affordable, 
lifestyle enhancing and well located in 
high growth urban areas.

In line with its strategy, Transcend 
recently acquired a single property, 
Silverleaf, consisting of 76 units 
from De Facto Investments 264 
Proprietary Limited. This agreement 
was entered into on 28 March 2019 
for a purchase consideration of 
R44.5 million before bond and transfer 
costs. The transfer of this property 
was registered in the Deeds Office 
in Transcend’s name on 21 June 2019. 
The agreement was supplemented 
by a 6-month rental guarantee which 
expired on 31 December 2019.

On 1 December 2018, the company 
acquired eight properties comprising 
2 159 units from two related parties by 
way of effective date agreements (with 
an “effective date” of 1 December 2018). 
These units were fully tenanted and  
mostly consist of sectional title 
apartments situated in secure, walk-up 
complexes. The properties are located in 
Gauteng and the Western Cape and the 
value of the transaction was R1.27 billion, 
payable on transfer of the respective 
units. The risks and rewards of ownership 
and control transferred to Transcend on 
the effective date, however, the transfer 
of these units only commenced from 
April 2019. As at 31 December 2019, all 
2 159 units have transferred in the name of 
the company and the related party loans 
have been settled in full through the raising 
and utilisation of senior secured interest-
bearing borrowings with The Standard 
Bank of South Africa Limited (“Standard 
Bank”) and Nedbank Limited (“Nedbank”).

During 2018, Acacia Place, a 325 unit 
property located in Duvha Park, 
Witbank, eMalahleni, was identified 
by management as a non-performing 
property as a result of large vacancies 
from the non-renewal of bulk leases 
and the depressed market in Witbank. 
Management took a decision to sell 
this property to Instratin Properties 
Proprietary Limited (“Instratin”) and has 
classified the property as held-for-sale, 
carried at a fair value of R127.5 million 
at year-end. The property has an 
anticipated transfer date of 30 June 2020. 
As at 31 December 2019, Management 
has improved the performance of the 
property and increased its occupancy to 
94.8%, however, rental income is payable 
by Instratin until transfer is effected.

On 6 March 2019, a decision was initially 
taken to dispose of vacant units owned 
at two properties: Midrand Village, a 
freehold property consisting of 225 units 
located in Clayville, Gauteng; and De 
Velde, a sectional title complex consisting 
of 310 units located in Somerset West, 
Western Cape. These units were acquired 
as investment property by Transcend from 
a related party, International Housing 
Solutions Res 1 (RF) Proprietary Limited 
(“IHS Res 1”). During 2019, management 
continuously assessed the properties and 
decided that better value can be realised 
from the sale of these properties on a 
unit-by-unit basis. These disposals are part 
of management’s strategy to sell units and 
pay down debt to reduce the company’s 
current loan-to-value (“LTV”) ratio to 
targeted levels of 30% to 40%.

For Midrand Village, 37 units have 
been sold and transferred to buyers 
with a further 100 offers to purchase 
(sales agreements) in place on units at 
31 December 2019. In respect of De Velde, 
there are only 12 offers to purchase on 
units at 31 December 2019.

Equity raised
No changes were approved or made to the 
authorised or issued share capital of the 
company during the year under review.

Debt raised
During 2019, Transcend recognised 
interest-bearing borrowings to the value 
of R822.32 million with Standard Bank 
and Nedbank to fund the acquisition of 
nine properties. These properties were 
acquired from three separate parties, 
two of which were related parties of 
the company. The legal transfer and 
registration of these units in the name 
of Transcend took place from the first 
half of 2019. As at 31 December 2019, 
all units relating to acquisitions have 
transferred to the company.

IHS RES 1 AND SUNNYSHORE 
TRADE AND INVEST 105 
PROPRIETARY LIMITED 
(“SUNNYSHORE”) DEBT 
FUNDING
Of the nine properties acquired above, 
eight of these properties (2 159 units) 
were acquired from two related parties 
as effective date transactions effective 
on 1 December 2018. On the effective 
date, the company initially recognised 
an increase in investment properties 
of R1.27 billion for these properties, as 
well as corresponding loans with related 
parties of R828.84 million which were 
payable on transfer of the respective 
properties. The impact of these effective 
date transactions is that the cash flow 
in respect of settling the related parties 
loans only occurred on legal transfer of 
the properties. All the units transferred in 
the name of Transcend by 30 August 2019. 
On transfer of units, debt of R740 million 
available from the facilities secured with 
Standard Bank and Nedbank under a 
syndicated agency agreement (“Agency”) 
was drawn on. On draw down, this debt 
was recognised as interest-bearing 
borrowings on the statement of financial 
position and is included in the cash flows 
from finance activities — interest-bearing 
borrowings received.
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SILVERLEAF DEBT FUNDING
The acquisition of Silverleaf for 
R44.5 million was funded partially 
through new debt secured through 
Facility C with Standard Bank. This  
resulted in a R35.6 million increase in that 
facility and interest-bearing borrowings.

Total interest-bearing borrowings of 
R1.4 billion at 31 December 2019 are 
secured by properties owned by Transcend 
with a carrying value of R2.77 billion.

Facility A, Tranche 1 and Facility B have  
a maturity date of 31 January 2020. These 
facilities have both been refinanced from 
31 January 2020 for a 3-year term with  
a maturity date of 31 January 2023.

A shareholder loan of R143.46 million 
with Emira Property Fund Limited 
(“Emira”) was secured during 2018. 
This loan was also used to finance 
Transcend’s investment in the eight new 
investment properties acquired from 
related parties. This loan is subordinated 
against all other interest-bearing 
borrowings. Interest is payable to Emira 
quarterly at an effective rate of JIBAR 
plus 3.5%. As at 31 December 2019, the 
loan payable is R146.53 million. The 
total principal borrowings of the loan 
are repayable in June 2020, however, 
Transcend has extended the repayment of 
R93.46 million for an additional 12 months 
with repayment in June 2021.

In terms of the Memorandum of 
Incorporation (“MOI”) of the company, 
the directors may exercise all the powers 
of the company to borrow money, as they 
consider appropriate.

Regulation
Transcend listed on the Alternative 
Exchange (“AltX”) of the JSE on  
1 December 2016, and therefore  
is regulated by the JSE.

International Financial 
Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”)
The financial statements are prepared 
in accordance with IFRS and the 
requirements of the Companies Act 
of South Africa.

Dividend policy
The company declares and pays both 
an interim and final dividend in respect 
of each financial year. In considering 
the payment of dividends, the board of 
directors (“the Board”), with the Audit 
and Risk Committee’s assurance, takes 
the following into account:

 > the financial status of the company, 
subject to solvency and liquidity testing 
as required by the Companies Act; and

 > the capital commitments of the 
company and its funding requirements 
for the next 12 months.

Transcend uses dividend per share as its 
key performance measure for trading 
statement purposes.

Directorate
The directors of the company at the date 
of this report are:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
S Mboweni — CEO

M Kritzinger — CFO

V Perfect — COO

Financial results

 2019  2018
Year-on-year

movement
% change

year-on-year

Net operating income (R’000) * 225 940 105 385 120 555 114

Dividends per share (cents) 65.14 64.68 0.46 1

Interim dividend (six months ended 30 June) 30.25 30.10 0.15 —

Final dividend (six months ended 31 December) 34.89 34.58 0.31 1

The interim dividend has been declared from distributable 
earnings. The declaration of the final dividend occurred after the 
end of the reporting period, resulting in a non-adjusting event that 
is not recognised in the financial statements. The dividends meet 
the requirements of a REIT “qualifying distribution” for purposes  
of section 25BB of the Income Tax Act, No 58 of 1962, as amended.   

Investment property at fair value (R’000) ** 2 460 174 2 588 000 (127 826) (5)

*  This excludes net operating income of R13.91 million (2018: R8.80 million) from Acacia Place. The Mpumalanga operating segment has been presented 
as a discontinued operation and the Acacia Place property has been classified as a non-current asset held-for-sale.

**  This excludes non-current assets held-for-sale and discontinued operation, valued at R305.57 million (2018: R127.5 million).

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
RN Wesselo

ML Falcone

GM Jennett

AM Dickens*

FN Khanyile*

MS Aitken*

RR Emslie* — Chairman

* Independent.

Transcend’s MOI states that non-executive 
directors who have held office for a period 
of nine years since their last election, 
shall retire. Directors may be re-elected, 
provided they are eligible for re-election.

Any director appointed to fill a vacancy 
or an additional appointment to the 
Board is to be confirmed by shareholders 
at the next AGM.

RN Wesselo, ML Falcone and FN Khanyile 
will retire at the AGM to be held on 
Friday, 29 May 2020 and are eligible for re-
election as directors of the company.

Prescribed officers
CP Conaty

No changes to the directorate took 
place during 2019.

Directors’ remuneration 
and shareholding
Details of the directors’ remuneration and 
shareholding are set out in note 35 to the 
financial statements.
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Directors’ interests  
in contracts
During the period under review, the 
company did not enter into any contracts 
in which directors have an interest.

Service contracts
The executive directors are 
subject to one calendar month’s 
written notice under their existing 
employment contracts.

The company’s MOI requires the 
retirement of directors who have held 
office for a period of three years since 
their last election.

Management and 
administration
IHS AM externally manages Transcend 
in terms of an asset management 
agreement which became effective 
on 1 October 2016. IHS PM performs 
the property management function 
of Transcend in terms of a property 
management agreement which 
became effective 1 October 2016.

Going concern
The financial statements have been 
prepared on the basis of accounting 
policies applicable to a going concern. 
This basis presumes that funds will be 
available to finance future operations 
and that the realisation of assets and 
settlement of liabilities, contingent 
obligations and commitments will occur 
in the ordinary course of business.

Refer to note 37 to the financial 
statements for disclosure 
regarding going concern.

Subsequent events
All events subsequent to the date of the 
annual financial statements and for 
which the applicable financial reporting 
framework requires adjustment or 
disclosure have been adjusted or disclosed.

The directors are not aware of any matter 
or circumstance arising since the end of 
the financial year to the date of this report 
that could have a material effect on the 
financial position of the company.

Refer to note 36 of the financial 
statements for disclosure regarding 
subsequent events.

External auditors
KPMG has been appointed as external 
auditors in terms of section 90 of 
the Companies Act.

Registered office  
and business address
54 Peter Place

Peter Place Office Park

First Floor, Block C

Cardiff House

Bryanston

2191

61

DIREC TOR S’  REPORT



To the Shareholders of Transcend Residential Property Fund Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements

OPINION
We have audited the financial statements of Transcend Residential Property Fund Limited (“the company”) set out on pages 56 to 104, 
which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019, and the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, the statement of changes in equity and the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, accounting policies and notes to the 
financial statements.

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Transcend Residential Property  
Fund Limited as at 31 December 2019, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards and its requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the 
company in accordance with the sections 290 and 291 of the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of Professional Conduct for 
Registered Auditors (Revised January 2018), parts 1 and 3 of the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of Professional Conduct 
for Registered Auditors (Revised November 2018) (together the IRBA Codes) and other independence requirements applicable to performing 
audits of financial statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities, as applicable, in accordance with the IRBA 
Codes and in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Codes are consistent with 
the corresponding sections of the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants and 
the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International 
Independence Standards) respectively. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements 
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

KEY AUDIT MATTER HOW THE MATTER WAS ADDRESSED IN OUR AUDIT

Valuation of investment properties

Refer to accounting policy 5.1 and 6, and notes 8 and 33 to the financial statements.

The company’s most significant asset is its investment property 
portfolio, which comprises of residential investment properties  
with a fair value of R2.4 billion.

Valuation of investment property is an area of judgement which 
could materially affect the financial statements given that the 
investment properties are measured at fair value.

Independent valuations are obtained on all properties every  
year. All of the company’s investment properties were valued  
at 30 September 2019 by an external independent valuer.

The fair value of all investment properties have been based on 
the income capitalisation method. The key assumptions used in 
determining fair value includes significant unobservable inputs 
including expected net operating income, capitalisation rates, 
growth rates and vacancy factors.

Our audit focused on the fair value measurement due to its 
impact on the financial statements, and the significance of the 
judgements involved in the determination of the fair value and 
the work effort required by the audit team, together with our 
own valuation specialist.

Accordingly, the valuation of the investment property portfolio  
was determined to be a key audit matter.

The audit procedures we performed included the following:

 > We evaluated the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the 
directors’ external independent valuer. In addition, we obtained 
an understanding of the scope of their work and inspected their 
terms of engagement to determine that there were no matters 
that affected their independence and objectivity or imposed 
scope limitations upon them.

 > We focused our audit work on testing the key assumptions used in 
the determination of fair value which included:

 » Evaluating the valuation models prepared in September 2019 
to ensure the valuation methodology is appropriate. With 
the assistance of our valuation specialist, we assessed the 
reasonableness of key assumptions used in relation to available 
industry data for similar investment properties.

 » We performed a sensitivity analysis on the key assumptions used 
in the valuation models to evaluate the appropriateness of the fair 
value of the investment properties at year end.

 » We evaluated the adequacy of the disclosures made in the 
financial statements related to the valuation of investment 
properties in relation to the requirements of the relevant 
financial reporting framework.
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Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the document  
titled “Transcend Residential Property Fund Limited Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2019”, which includes 
the Directors’ report, the Audit and Risk Committee’s report and the Certificate by Company Secretary as required by the Companies 
Act of South Africa, which we obtained prior to the date of this report, and the integrated annual report, which is expected to be made 
available to us after that date. The other information does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express an audit opinion or any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the other information obtained prior to the date of this 
auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine 
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either 
intend to liquidate the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but 
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the 
audit. We also:

 > Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform 
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

 > Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control.

 > Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made 
by the directors.

 > Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit evidence obtained, 
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the company to cease to continue 
as a going concern.

 > Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and 
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where 
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial 
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 
benefits of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that KPMG Inc. has been the 
auditor of Transcend Residential Property Fund Limited for four years.

KPMG Inc.

Registered Auditor

Per GS Kolbé

Chartered Accountant (SA)

Registered Auditor

Director

14 February 2020

KPMG Crescent

85 Empire Road

Parktown

Johannesburg
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Figures in R’000 Notes 2019
2018

Restated*
2017 

Restated*

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Investment properties 8  2 460 174  2 588 000  1 218 640 

Property and equipment 9  2 541  3 069  754 

  2 462 715  2 591 069  1 219 394 

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 10  6 622  6 525  4 441 

Cash and cash equivalents 11  73 592  141 621  46 048 

  80 214  148 146  50 489 

Non-current assets held-for-sale and discontinued operation 12  305 571  127 500 —

Total assets  2 848 500  2 866 715  1 269 883 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Stated capital 13  1 020 934  1 020 934  632 276 

Retained earnings  228 991  231 767  56 553 

  1 249 925  1 252 701  688 829 

Non-current liabilities

Interest-bearing borrowings* 14, 38  1 382 356  581 091  547 194 

Loans from shareholders 15  92 774  140 986 —

Derivative liabilities 17  13 696  679  2 870 

  1 488 826  722 756 550 064

Current liabilities

Loans from related parties 18  —  828 835 —

Interest-bearing borrowings* 14, 38  7 650  8 209  8 130 

Trade and other payables 16  44 306  51 827  22 636 

Loans from shareholders 15  53 754  795 —

Derivative liabilities 17  699  195  158 

Taxation — —  66 

  106 409  889 861  30 990 

Liabilities directly associated with non-current asset held-for-sale 12  3 340  1 397 —

Total equity and liabilities  2 848 500  2 866 715  1 269 883
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Figures in R’000 Notes 2019 2018

Continuing operations   

Rental income from investment properties   312 808  148 346 

Recoveries of operating costs from tenants   23 085  13 452 

Revenue 19  335 893  161 798 

Property operating expenses 20  (107 514)  (53 907)

Impairment losses  (6 271)  (2 506)

Other income 21  3 832  — 

Net operating income  225 940  105 385 

Other operating expenses 22  (20 607)  (21 375)

Operating profit  205 333  84 010 

Gain on fair value adjustment of properties 23  15 434  160 627 

Unrealised (loss)/gain on revaluation of interest rate swaps  (13 522)  2 155 

Net finance charges  (138 940)  (58 390)

Finance income 24  7 800  3 098 

Finance costs 25  (146 740)  (61 488)

Profit before taxation  68 305  188 402 

Taxation 26  —  — 

Profit from continuing operations  68 305  188 402 

Discontinued operation

Profit from discontinued operation net of tax 12  13 742  8 666 

Total comprehensive income for the period  82 047  197 068 

Earnings per share   

Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents) 62.68 277.9

Earnings per share — continuing operations   

Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents) 52.18 265.7
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Figures in R’000
Stated
capital

Retained
earnings Total

Balance at 1 January 2018  632 276  56 553  688 829 

Total comprehensive income for the year

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year  —  197 068  197 068 

Total comprehensive income for the year  —  197 068  197 068 

Transactions with owners

Dividends  —  (42 655)  (42 655)

Issue of share capital  409 459  —  409 459 

Transfer of antecedent dividend  (20 801)  20 801  — 

Balance at 31 December 2018  1 020 934  231 767  1 252 701 

Total comprehensive income for the year

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year  —  82 047  82 047 

Total comprehensive income for the year  —  82 047  82 047 

Transactions with owners

Dividends  —  (84 823)  (84 823)

Balance at 31 December 2019  1 020 934  228 991  1 249 925 

2019 2018

Dividend per share (cents)  65.14  64.68 

Interim  30.25  30.10 

Final* 34.89  34.58 

* The final dividend is declared post the financial year-end and is therefore a non-adjusting subsequent event.
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Figures in R’000 Note 2019 2018

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit and total comprehensive income for the year  82 047  197 068 

Adjustments for:

Finance costs  146 686  61 488 

Depreciation of property and equipment  767  444 

Finance income  (7 800)  (3 130)

Change in fair value of investment properties  (15 272)  (160 543)

Acquisition and transaction costs  —  1 999 

Unrealised (gain)/loss on revaluation of interest rate swaps  13 522  (2 155)

Operating profit before working capital changes  219 950  95 171 

Working capital changes

Increase in trade and other receivables  (141)  (2 084)

Adjustments for impairment losses  617  — 

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables  (5 578)  18 271 

Cash generated by operating activities  214 848  111 358 

Finance income received  7 287  3 130 

Finance costs paid  (139 953)  (53 672)

Net cash from operating activities  82 182  60 816 

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sales of non-current assets held-for-sale  31 244  — 

Investment properties acquired  (851 092)  (505 206)

Property and equipment acquired  (239)  (2 759)

Net cash utilised in investing activities  (820 087)  (507 965)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from share issue  —  410 915 

Interest-bearing borrowings received  798 657  33 476 

Loans from related parties received  800 000  — 

Loans from related parties settled  (843 958)  — 

Shareholder loan received  —  140 986 

Dividends paid  (84 823)  (42 655)

Net cash generated from financing activities  669 876  542 722 

Increase in cash and cash equivalents  (68 029)  95 573 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  141 621  46 048 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 11  73 592  141 621 

During 2018, Transcend acquired 8 properties from related parties. These were effective date transactions and the respective sales agreements 
became unconditional on 30 November 2018, making the effective date of the sales 1 December 2018. The risks and rewards of ownership and 
control transferred to Transcend on the effective date, however, the registration and legal transfer of these units only started taking place 
during the first half of 2019. As at 31 December 2018, the company recognised an increase in investment properties of R1.27 billion in respect 
of these properties as well as loans with related parties of R828.84 million which were payable on transfer of the respective properties.

At 31 December 2019, all of the 2 159 units have transferred in the name of Transcend. The effect of these effective date transactions is that 
the cash flow in respect of settling the related parties loans only occurs on legal transfer of the properties. On transfer of the properties, debt 
available was drawn down from the facilities secured with Standard and Nedbank. On draw down, this debt was recognised as interest-bearing 
borrowings on the statement of financial position and is included in the cash flows from finance activities — interest-bearing borrowings 
received. The cash effect of these borrowings was to settle the related party loans of R800 million raised from the effective date.
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1. repOrtinG entity
Transcend is a company domiciled in South Africa. The address of the company’s registered office is 54 Peter Place, Peter Place Office 
Park, First Floor, Block C, Cardiff House, Bryanston, 2191.

2. nAture Of business
Transcend is a REIT which holds a residential property portfolio of 23 directly-owned properties in South Africa, valued at R2.77 billion.

The primary business of Transcend is long-term investment in quality, income-generating residential properties. Properties are 
maintained, upgraded and refurbished, where necessary, so as to increase their long-term value.

3. stAtement Of cOmpliAnce
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS, the SAICA Financial Reporting Guidelines as issued by the 
Accounting Practices Committee, Financial Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting Standards Council, the JSE Limited 
Listings Requirements, and the requirements of the Companies Act.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 56 to 104 were approved by the Board on 13 February 2020.

4. bAsis Of prepArAtiOn And summAry Of siGnificAnt AccOuntinG pOlicies
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for investment properties, non-current assets  
held-for-sale and derivatives that are measured at fair value, as explained in the accounting policies that follow. The presentation 
currency in the financial statements is South African Rand (“Rand”) and all amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand 
(R’000). For the year ending 31 December 2019, the accounting policies applied in the audited annual financial statements are the 
same as those applied in the company’s financial statements at and for the year ended 31 December 2018, except as noted below.

In the current year, the company has adopted all new and revised IFRS that are relevant to its operations and effective for 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. At the date of the authorisation of the financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2019, the following standard was adopted:

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 provides guidance for the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases. The standard provides a single 
lessee accounting model, requiring lessees to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases unless the lease term is 12 months or less 
or the underlying asset has a low value. Lessors continue to classify leases as operating or finance, with IFRS 16’s approach to lessor 
accounting substantially unchanged from its predecessor, IAS 17 Leases. The company has assessed the impact of this standard on its 
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 and as the company mainly operates as a lessor, no significant effects have 
been identified.

A number of other new standards are also effective 1 January 2019 but do not have a material effect on the company’s 
financial statements.

5. summAry Of siGnificAnt AccOuntinG pOlicies
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies have been 
consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless otherwise stated.

5.1 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties consist of land and buildings held to earn rental income for the long-term and subsequent capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially recognised at cost on acquisition, including all costs directly attributable to the acquisition, and 
subsequent additions that will result in future economic benefits and whose cost can be measured reliably, are capitalised.

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair value. Fair value adjustments are recognised 
in profit or loss.

Investment properties are maintained, upgraded and refurbished, where necessary, in order to preserve or improve the capital 
values as far as it is possible to do so. Major refurbishment, including painting costs, are capitalised to investment properties when 
they meet the requirements of a significant outlay. To implement this in practice, management has set certain thresholds and 
specific criteria that are required to be met in order for costs to qualify for capitalisation.
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5. summAry Of siGnificAnt AccOuntinG pOlicies continued

Maintenance and repairs which neither materially add to the value of the properties nor prolong their useful lives, are expensed 
through profit or loss.

In line with the company’s valuation policy, independent valuations are performed annually for at least one third of the portfolio. 
However, due to the size of the current portfolio, management’s practice for the past 3 financial years has been to appoint 
independent valuers to value the entire portfolio.

Gains or losses on subsequent measurement or disposals of investment properties are recognised through profit or loss. Such gains 
or losses are excluded from the calculation of the qualifying distribution (company’s profits that are available to pay dividends to 
shareholders in a particular period).

A gain or loss arising on disposal of investment properties is recognised in profit or loss, measured as the difference between the 
disposal proceeds and the asset’s carrying amount.

5.2 LEASES

In terms of IFRS 16 Lessor accounting has not substantially changed in the application of the new standard. IFRS 16 supersedes 
existing lease guidance, including IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease, and SIC 15 Operating 
Leases — Incentives. The standard requires that lessees recognise assets and liabilities arising from all leases (with limited exceptions) 
on the statement of financial position. It does not require a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for short-term leases (less than 
12 months), and leases for which the underlying asset is of low value (such as laptops, office furniture, etc.) The company has applied 
IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach and therefore the comparative information has not been restated and continues to 
be reported under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. The details of accounting policies under IAS 17 and IFRC 4 are disclosed separately.

Policy applicable from 1 January 2019

At inception of a contract, the company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the 
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess 
whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the company uses the definition of a lease in IFRS 16. 
This policy is applied to contracts, if any, entered into, on or after 1 January 2019.

As a lessee

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the company allocates the consideration  
in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative stand-alone prices.

The company recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset is initially 
measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the end of the lease 
term. In that case the right-of-use asset will be depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset, which is determined on the same 
basis as those of property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and 
adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, 
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the company’s incremental 
borrowing rate. Generally, the company uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The company presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property in “property and equipment” and 
lease liabilities in “loans and borrowings” in the statement of financial position.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The company has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value assets and short-term leases, 
including IT equipment. The company recognises the lease payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term.

As a lessor

At inception or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the company allocates the consideration in the 
contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices.

When the company acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an operating lease.
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5. summAry Of siGnificAnt AccOuntinG pOlicies continued

To classify each lease, the company makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substantially all of the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the case, then the lease is a finance lease; if not, then it is an 
operating lease. As part of this assessment, the company considers certain indicators such as whether the lease is for the major part 
of the economic life of the asset.

If an arrangement contains lease and non-lease components, then the company applies IFRS 15 to allocate the consideration 
in the contract.

The company recognises lease payments received under operating leases as income on a straight-line basis over the lease term as 
part of “other revenue’.

Generally, the accounting policies applicable to the company as a lessor in the comparative period were not different from IFRS 
16 except for the classification of the sub-lease entered into during current reporting period that resulted in a finance lease 
classification.

IFRS 16 impact assessment

The company has assessed the impact of this standard on its financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2019. There is no 
material impact to the measurement principles currently applied for leases as follows:

 > Lessor — Rental lease contracts held with tenants:

Transcend is the lessor of investment properties and the lessor accounting with reference to the new standard has not changed 
significantly. The company is party to numerous rental leasing contracts with tenants as the lessor of its properties. All these 
leases are, however, operating leases, which are those leases where the company retains a significant portion of the risks and 
rewards of ownership.

The company’s rental revenue is short-term in nature and consists of contracted rental revenue. Leases signed before July 2018 were 
previously for a period of twelve months, and on expiry of these lease agreements, they revert to month-to-month rental agreements 
that continue until such time as the rental agreements are terminated on one month’s notice, either by the tenant or by the company. 
All leases signed after July 2018 are for month-to-month rental agreements which constitutes the length of the company’s legally 
binding lease agreements.

In some instances, the company provides certain incentives for the lessee to enter into lease agreements. Initial periods of the lease 
term may be agreed to be rent-free or at a reduced rent. All incentives are recognised as an integral part of the net consideration 
agreed for the use of the leased asset, irrespective of the incentive’s nature or form, or the timing of payments. The company 
recognises the aggregate cost of incentives as a reduction of rental income.

 > Lessee — Operational assets and contracts:

Expenditure for Transcend is largely governed under asset management and property management agreements with IHS AM and IHS 
PM. Transcend pays IHS AM an annual asset management fee, and for this fee Transcend has access to a full asset management service 
including operational asset use. IHS PM is paid a fee for property management services provided to the company.

IFRS 16 introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognise assets and liabilities for all leases with a term 
of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of low value. A lessee is required to recognise a right-of-use asset representing 
its right to use the underlying leased asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments. To control the use 
of an identified asset, a customer (being Transcend) is required to have the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits 
from use of the asset throughout the period of use and make decisions regarding the use or operation of the asset. In terms of the 
asset management service provided, Transcend has no right to direct the use of any assets or resources provided to it. Transcend 
does not control the use of an identified asset, nor does it have the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from 
use of the asset throughout the period of use and make decisions regarding the use or operation of the respective assets. The asset 
management agreement, therefore, does not contain a lease component.

As such, the above agreements do not include any identified operating lease contracts entered into directly with the company and, 
therefore, Transcend is not required to recognise any assets and liabilities arising from these service contracts.

5.3 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of 
another entity. In terms of IFRS 9, the company has the following financial instruments:

Financial assets

Transcend has recognised trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2019 as financial assets.
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Financial liabilities

Transcend has recognised the loan from a shareholder, interest-bearing borrowings, trade and other payables and derivative 
liabilities as financial liabilities as at 31 December 2019. The company has recognised derivative liabilities as at 31 December 2019 
as these relate to interest rate swaps the company has entered into with Standard Bank and Nedbank.

Classification and recognition

Classification of a financial instrument, or its component parts, takes place on initial recognition. Each instrument is classified as  
a financial asset, a financial liability or an equity instrument in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement 
and the definitions of a financial asset, a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Financial asset classification

The company classifies financial assets into the following categories:

 > Financial assets subsequently measured at amortised cost; and

 > Financial assets subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash 
flows. The company intends to hold the financial assets being trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents to collect 
contractual cash flows (interest and or payment of principal).

The company reclassifies debt instruments when, and only when, its business model for managing those assets changes. In the 
current year there was no change in the business model for managing the recognised financial assets.

Transcend has classified trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents as financial assets measured at amortised cost.

As at 31 December 2019, Transcend does not have any financial assets which are measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liability classification

The company classifies financial liabilities into the following categories:

 > Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost; and

 > Financial liabilities subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Transcend has classified its shareholder loan, interest-bearing borrowings, loans from related parties and trade and other payables 
as financial liabilities subsequently measure at amortised cost. Derivative liabilities are classified as financial liabilities subsequently 
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial instruments are recognised initially when the company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Initial recognition

Financial assets

When a financial asset is recognised initially, it is measured at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value 
through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial asset.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly 
attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement

Financial assets

 > Amortised cost:

 » Assets held only for collection of principal and interest payments.

 » Interest income is included in finance income using the effective interest method.

 » Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss and presented in other gains/(losses) together with foreign exchange 
gains and losses.

 » Impairment losses are presented as a separate line item in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

 » The company’s financial assets at amortised cost includes trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents and are 
included under current financial assets.
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Financial liabilities

 > Amortised cost:

 » After initial recognition, financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

 » Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate 
amortisation process.

 » Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part 
of the effective interest rate.

 » The effective interest rate amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

 > Fair value through profit or loss:

 » Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of re-purchasing in the near term.

 » This category also includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the company that are not designated as hedging 
instruments in hedge relationships as defined by IFRS 9.

 » Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in profit or loss.

 » Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, are designated at the initial date of 
recognition, and only if the criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfied. The company has not designated any financial liabilities as at fair value 
through profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial position when there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the normal 
course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company of the counterparty.

There has been no offsetting of financial instruments in the financial period.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire or when it is 
transferred and the transfer qualifies for derecognition.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. When an existing 
financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability 
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the 
recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprises cash on hand and amounts which have been deposited with Standard Bank and Nedbank. 
Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are 
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments rather 
than investments or other purposes.

Impairment of financial assets

A forward-looking allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) is recognised for all debt instruments not held at fair value through 
profit or loss. Expected credit losses are based on the difference between contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract 
and all the cash flows that the company expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. 
The expected cash flows include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the 
contractual terms.

The impairment methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk:

 > For credit exposures with no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, expected credit losses are provided for credit 
losses that result from default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month expected credit loss).

 > For credit exposures with significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses 
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime expected credit loss).

 > For trade receivables and contract assets, a simplified approach is applied in calculating expected credit losses. Instead of tracking 
changes in credit risk, a loss allowance is recognised based on lifetime expected credit losses at each reporting date.
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IFRS 9 establishes a simplified impairment approach for qualifying trade receivables, contract assets within the scope of IFRS 15 and 
lease receivables. For these assets an entity can, or in one case must, recognise a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs rather than 
the two-step process under the general approach. A provision matrix was established that is based on the company’s historical credit 
loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Transcend’s trade receivables pertain to tenants who have not yet paid rental on the respective unit(s). This rental charged to 
tenants is based on month-to-month contracts and Transcend has no long-term leases which extend beyond a period of 12 months. 
Trade receivable are, therefore, short-term in nature and there is no long-term credit risk/loss exposure for the business. Trade 
receivables are considered to be in “default” when they are uncollected one day or more beyond their contractual due date. Rent is 
contractually payable in advance on all leases signed with tenants. Default is, therefore, 1 day after rent is due and payable for the 
succeeding month.

Management continuously assesses key economic factors that could have an impact on its tenants. Poor economic performance 
could influence the consumer’s ability to make payment on their rental(s). The following factors are key drivers of consumer 
spending pressure:

 > GDP and economic growth; and

 > Unemployment rates.

Management also applies strict vetting criteria in placing and approving tenants to circumvent these conditions; and takes a 
proactive response to tenant management when applying rental increases/escalations.

Receivable balances commonly consist of numerous individual tenants which sign single month-to-month leases for units as opposed 
to fewer larger, block tenants that secure long-term annual leases as is seen with retail, commercial or industrial property. Exposure to 
the risk rental reversions and large once-off vacancies (and non-payment of outstanding debtors) should be less than other property 
classes, which could further reduce Transcend’s risk to ECLs.

Deposits are also held for tenants (and debtors). These deposits are used to restore units back to a suitable condition for letting, 
however, in instances of default, deposits can be used to cover arrear balances of debtors.

5.4 NON-CURRENT ASSETS (OR DISPOSAL GROUPS) HELD-FOR-SALE (“NCAHFS”) AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Non-current assets, or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities, that are expected to be recovered primarily through sale 
rather than through continuing use, are classified as held-for-sale. Criteria for the sale to be highly probable include:

 > Management must be committed to a plan to sell the asset/unit.

 > An active program to find a buyer must be initiated.

 > The asset/unit must be actively marketed for sale at a price that is reasonable to its current fair value.

 > The sale must be completed within one year from the date of classification.

 > Significant changes to be made to the plan must be unlikely.

These criteria are to be applied specifically to each investment property or unit that is under consideration for reclassification to 
held-for-sale as per IFRS 5 or continues to be classified as a non-current assets held-for-sale as per IFRS 5.

Events or circumstances may extend the period to complete the sale beyond one year. An extension of the period required to 
complete a sale does not preclude an asset (or disposal group) from being classified as held-for-sale if the delay is caused by events 
or circumstances beyond the entity’s control and there is sufficient evidence that the entity remains committed to its plan to sell 
the asset (or disposal group).

Discontinued operation

A discontinued operation is a component of the company’s business, the operations and cash flows of which can be clearly 
distinguished from the rest of the company and which:

 > represents a separate major line of business or geographic area of operations; or

 > is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographic area of operations.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs at the earlier of disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be classified 
as held-for-sale.

When an operation is classified as a discontinued operation, the comparative statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income is represented as if the operation had been discontinued from the start of the comparative year.
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5.5 PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Items of property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. 
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods of depreciation are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial year-end.

Depreciation is provided on the straight-line basis which, it is estimated, will reduce the carrying amount of the property and 
equipment to their residual values at the end of their useful lives. Items of property and equipment are depreciated from the date that 
they are installed and available for use.

There is a single category of property and equipment which is depreciated at the following rates:

 > Fittings: 20% to 33.3% per annum.

The company has assessed that all items of property and equipment have a residual value of Rnil.

5.6 STATED CAPITAL

Ordinary shares are classified as stated capital. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognised 
as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

5.7 DIVIDENDS

Dividends and other distributions to the holders of equity instruments, in their capacity as owners, are recognised directly in equity 
on the date of declaration.

5.8 TAXATION AND DEFERRED TAXATION

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred taxation. Income tax expense is recognised in profit or loss except to the extent 
that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on taxable income, after deducting the qualifying distribution for the year of assessment, 
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the reporting date and includes adjustments for tax payable in 
respect of previous years. In accordance with the REIT status, dividends declared are treated as qualifying distribution in terms of 
section 25BB of the Income Tax Act, No 58 of 1962 (as amended).

Deferred income tax is provided for all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
values for financial reporting purposes. In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences and 
deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which deductible 
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises:

 > From the initial recognition of goodwill in a business acquisition;

 > From the initial recognition of other assets and liabilities in a transaction which is not a business combination and affects neither 
accounting profit nor taxable income; or

 > Differences related to investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates, to the extent that it is probable that they will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future and the company is able to control the reversal.

Deferred tax is not recognised on the fair value of investment properties. Investment properties will be realised through use and,  
in accordance with the income tax requirements relating to the REIT status, capital gains tax on the sale of investment properties  
is disregarded. Deferred tax is not recognised on temporary differences that will form part of future qualifying distributions.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability settled.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and they 
relate to income tax levied by the same authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle the 
current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis, or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that 
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting 
date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.
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Dividends received by or accrued to South African tax residents from a REIT are exempt from dividend withholding tax, but will be 
included in the gross income of such shareholders and will not be exempt from the income tax in terms of the exclusion to the general 
dividend exemption contained in section 10(1)(k)(i)(aa) of the Income Tax Act. Any dividend received from a REIT (by a non-resident) 
will be subject to dividend withholding tax at 20%, unless the rate is reduced in terms of any applicable agreement for the avoidance 
of double taxation between South Africa and the country of residence of the non-resident shareholder.

5.9 REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue is income arising in the course of an entity’s ordinary activities.

Property portfolio revenue, where the entity acts as the principal, comprises gross rental income and operating cost recoveries from 
the letting of investment properties. Rental income is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Recoveries of costs from lessees, where the entity merely acts as an agent and makes payment of these costs on behalf of lessees, 
are offset against the relevant costs.

IFRS 15 provides a single, principles based five-step model to be applied to all contracts with customers. Transcend has applied 
the five-step model as follows:

 > The lease agreements make provision for the recovery of certain utilities from tenants either directly by the lessor or through 
a service provider.

 > The performance obligations in the contract varies across the various investment properties. Other fees for the tenant’s account as 
specified, i.e. the recovery of electricity, water, sewerage and refuse costs have been identified as the key performance obligations 
under these contracts.

 > The recoveries are billed separately on a month-to-month basis based on consumption for that month.

 > The transaction price in relation to the recoveries is directly attributable to the utility recovered.

 > Revenue is recognised when the performance obligations are satisfied by transferring the promised goods or services to a tenant 
on the following basis:

Recoveries are billed for the month in which the utility is consumed. This is also done monthly, and the obligation of providing the 
utility under the lease agreement matches with the amount recovered from the tenant. Recoveries are recognised based on the costs 
incurred on the properties for the provision of electricity, water, sewerage and refuse. These services are commonly performed by 
another party and for each building, management has assessed whether Transcend is acting as principal or agent for the respective 
service. Transcend owns the properties and it carries the risk of municipal charges (or over charges) that cannot be recovered from 
tenants. Transcend therefore acts as the principal in the lease agreement.

Measurement

When a performance obligation is satisfied, revenue is recognised as the amount of the transaction price that is allocated to the 
performance obligation, but excluding estimates of variable consideration that are constrained and any amounts collected on behalf 
of third parties. The transaction price may include fixed amounts, variable amounts, or both.

The company allocates the transaction price to the identified performance obligation (or distinct good or service) in an amount that 
depicts the amount of consideration to which the company expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised goods or 
services to the customer.

When either party to a contract has performed, the company presents the contract in the statement of financial position as a 
contract asset or a contract liability, depending on the relationship between the company’s performance and the customer’s 
payment. The company presents any unconditional rights to consideration separately as a receivable.

Service charges and other such receipts are included in revenue income gross of the related costs. The directors evaluated the 
substance of the lease agreement, and found the company acts as a principal for the collection of service charges and other expenses 
recoverable from tenants. Income arising from the recovery of operating costs, is recognised in the period in which the compensation 
becomes receivable.

5.10 OPERATING PROFIT

Operating profit included in profit or loss represents the revenue earned from investment property, adjusted for property operating 
expenses and other operating expenses and income.
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5.11 FINANCE INCOME

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method.

5.12 FINANCE COSTS

Interest expense is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.

5.13 SEGMENT REPORTING

The company reports in operating segments for each province in which the properties are located, namely:

 > Mpumalanga;

 > Western Cape; and

 > Gauteng.

An operating segment is a component of the company that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur 
expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the company’s other components. An operating 
segment’s operating results are reviewed regularly by executive management to make decisions about resources to be allocated to 
the segment and assess its performance, and for which distinct financial information is available.

Segment results that are reported to executive management include items directly attributable to a segment or a region, as well as 
those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items are reported as a reconciliation and mainly comprise trade and 
other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, other non-current liabilities (borrowings), trade and other payables, and the related 
income and expenses to these items.

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period on investment property, including centralised 
entity level costs.

Refer to note 29 Operating segments to the financial statements for disclosure regarding operating segments and the Mpumalanga 
segment which has been discontinued.

6. Key judGements And sOurces Of estimAtiOn uncertAinty
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates. Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. Information on key 
estimates and assumptions which have the most significant effect on the financial statements are set out below.

Fair value of investment properties

The portfolio is valued at each reporting date. For the purposes of the 31 December 2019 valuations, all investment properties were 
independently valued by obtaining external valuations from accredited valuators. Management is of the opinion that the risk relating 
to estimation has been mitigated. Refer to note 8 Investment properties for further information.

7. AccOuntinG stAndArds And interpretAtiOns nOt yet effective
There are new or revised accounting standards and interpretations in issue that are not yet effective. These include the following 
standards and interpretations that are material to the business of the company and may have an impact on future financial 
statements, or those for which the impact has not yet been assessed.

Definition of Material — Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8

The IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors to align the definition of “material” across the standards and to clarify certain aspects of the definition. The 
new definition states that, “Information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to influence 
decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements, which 
provide financial information about a specific reporting entity”.

The company does not expect the amendments to have a significant impact on the annual financial statements, the introduction 
of the term “obscuring information” in the definition could potentially impact how materiality judgements are made in practice, 
by elevating the importance of how information is communicated and organised in the annual financial statements.
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Figures in R’000  2019  2018

8. investment prOperties .

Opening fair value of investment properties  2 588 000  1 218 640 

Fair value adjustment on investment properties  15 010  160 543 

Acquisitions at cost  44 500  1 304 092 

Bond and transfer costs capitalised  631  8 920 

Capitalised expenditure  5 363  1 116 

Purchase consideration escalation*  15 123  22 189 

Non-current assets held-for-sale transferred to investment properties  —  — 

Investment properties transferred to non-current assets held-for-sale  (208 453)  (127 500)

Closing balance  2 460 174  2 588 000 

*  Escalation on IHS Res 1 properties purchase consideration: In terms of the sales agreement with IHS Res 1 an escalation of 6% per annum 
was levied on the purchase consideration payable to IHS Res 1 from the effective date of 1 December 2018. This escalation accrued until 
30 August 2019 (the date when all the properties had transferred to Transcend) and amounted to R37.31 million (which included a purchase 
consideration escalation provision of R22.19 million recognised in 2018). A final settlement amount of R35.6 million was paid to IHS Res 
1 during December 2019. The increase in this purchase consideration was a result of delays on transfer of units at the Deeds Office. 
These delays were outside of the control of the company.

Full details of investment properties owned by the company are contained and disclosed in the property listing on pages 108 to 109.

VALUATION PROCESS

All of the company’s investment properties were valued at year-end by Real Insight (Pty) Ltd (“Real Insight”), a registered valuer in 
terms of Section 19 of the Property Valuers Professional Act No. 47 of 2000. The valuations were reviewed by the executive directors, 
and presented to the Investment Committee and Audit and Risk Committee for recommendation and approval by the Board on 
4 December 2019.

The investment properties are valued as at 31 December 2019 by capitalising the net contractual income derived from the properties 
for a period of one year in advance by an applicable capitalisation rate as determined by the independent valuer.

DISPOSALS

Acacia Place, Midrand Village and De Velde are properties and/or units which are in the process of being disposed of. Where necessary 
these properties and/or units have been revalued to their respective fair values based on the contractual selling prices of the property 
and/or units. These properties and/or units have been reclassified from investment properties to non-current assets held-for-sale and 
are measured at their respective fair values.

On 6 March 2019, a decision was taken to initially dispose of vacant units owned at two properties: Midrand Village, a freehold property 
consisting of 225 units located in Clayville, Gauteng; and De Velde, a 310 unit sectional title complex located in Somerset West, Western 
Cape. Both these properties were acquired as investment property by Transcend from a related party, IHS Res 1 (RF) Proprietary Limited 
(“IHS Res 1”). During 2019, management continuously assessed these properties and decided that better value can be realised from the 
sale of these properties on a unit-by-unit basis.

In terms of offers made on units, these can be cancelled by buyers until the sale agreement becomes unconditional. Once an offer has 
been received from a buyer it is commonly subject to the securing of end-user funding. Once a sale is unconditional, notice is given to 
a tenant, and the unit is readied for transfer.
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8. investment prOperties continued

KEY ASSUMPTIONS USED TO DETERMINE THE VALUE OF THE PROPERTIES RECLASSIFIED TO NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD-FOR-SALE

Before investment properties are reclassified to non-current assets held-for-sale they are revalued to their respective fair values 
based on the contractual selling prices of the property and/or units which could results in a fair value adjustment on investment 
properties. The following valuation assumptions resulted in a fair value gain being recognised in investment properties for 2019:

Unit selling prices

Midrand Village

Midrand Village is located in Clayville, Gauteng, and consists of 225 freehold units. A significant portion of units (61%) have been 
sold or transferred to end-user buyers at 31 December 2019: 37 units were sold and transferred to buyers prior to 31 December 2019 
(total net proceeds received from disposal units of R31.61 million at an average individual unit selling price of R854 301) and a further 
100 units are secured by individual sales agreements with various buyers (an estimated aggregate consideration of R85.3 million 
and average selling price per unit of R852 962). Sales will be satisfied by each respective purchaser by way of an end-user mortgage 
bond. The transfer of each unit will only be effected once each purchaser has complied with all of its obligations set out in the 
agreements. All units at this property have, therefore, been reclassified to non-current assets held-for-sale as they satisfy with the 
requirements of IFRS 5.

The total units at Midrand Village were revalued at 31 December 2019 at an average unit net selling price of R864 296, resulting in 
a total fair value gain on Midrand Village of R39.53 million recognised at 31 December 2019.

De Velde

De Velde is a sectional title complex located in Somerset West, Western Cape and consists of 310 units. At 31 December 2019, 12 units 
have offers in place. These 12 units have also been classified as non-current assets held-for-sale based on an aggregate fair value less 
cost to sell of R14.32 million (an average of R1.19 million per unit) based on sales agreements with purchasers. Only these 12 units 
with offers in place were valued based on the sales agreements. The remaining 298 units without offers in place at De Velde have 
been valued based on the income capitalisation method and are classified as investment properties. These units will continue to 
be let until such a point that an offer is received in respect of the unit.

For all investment properties, their current use equates to the highest and best use.

Properties to the value of R2.77 billion (2018: R1.27 billion) have been used to provide security for interest-bearing borrowings.  
Refer to note 14 Interest-bearing borrowings. This security includes Acacia Place, Midrand Village units and De Velde units, which  
was reclassified as a non-current asset held-for-sale.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are valued using a level 3 model. Please refer to note 32 Fair value hierarchy.

The calculation of the market value of all properties in Transcend has been based on the income capitalisation method. This is the 
fundamental basis on which income producing properties are traded in the South African market. This is also due to there being 
strong supporting evidence of open market rental rates and capitalisation rates which are evidenced by sales in the market.

The following key assumptions were used to determine the fair value of the properties:

Expected net operating income

The monthly average rental income ranges from R4 218 to R10 327 (2018: R4 060 to R10 273) per unit. Generally, the rentals are market 
related when compared to similar buildings in comparable areas.

Capitalisation rate

The capitalisation rate ranges from 8% to 10% (2018: 8% to 10%). The capitalisation rate applied was derived using an appropriate 
risk free rate and adding on property related risk and illiquidity risk related to property, as well as further amounts related to each 
property’s construction, size, age, rental, use and other property specific risks. Testing this for reasonableness was achieved by 
comparing the resultant value per opportunity and effective yield rate against current project sales information, and comparative 
sales of similar properties in similar locations.

Growth rate

The range for rental escalation is 2.5% to 3.5% (2018: 3% to 5%). The rental growth rates are based on current experience with actual 
growth achieved, but should trend towards inflation over the long term and expectations of future rental increases based on budgets. 
The lower growth rates are reflective of tough current economic conditions.
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8. investment prOperties continued

Vacancy and bad debt factor

In order to apply a conservative approach, 3.5% to 7.5% (2018: 3% to 15%) of the gross income was deducted as a provision for rental 
that may not be collected as a consequence of vacancy, tenant failure or tenant refitting during the course of the coming year. The 
current vacancies are market related.

For recurring fair value measurements using significant unobservable inputs, management has performed a sensitivity analysis on  
these valuation inputs to illustrate that changes may result in a significantly higher or lower fair value measurement. The effect of 
changes in those measurements on profit or loss and fair value are as follows:

Changes in capitalisation rate

At 31 December 2019, Transcend’s portfolio has a weighted average capitalisation rate of 8.81%. This includes all investment 
properties and properties held-for-sale. An increase and decrease of 25 basis points (“bps”) has been applied to the weighted average 
capitalisation rate to determine a range of property values should current capitalisation rates change. An increase in capitalisation 
rates would result in a decrease in property value (and portfolio value). Based on a 25bps increase in rates, Transcend’s portfolio value 
would decrease by R67.84 million (2.45%). A decrease or compression in capitalisation rates would result in an increase in property 
value (and portfolio value). Based on a 25bps decrease in rates, Transcend’s portfolio value would increase by R71.79 million (2.6%). 
The effect of this change in valuation would affect the gain or loss on fair value adjustment of properties recognised in the statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Investment properties or non-current assets held-for-sale would also be effected 
on the statement of financial position.

Effect of changes in other valuation inputs:
Fair value 

(“FV”) effect 
— increase 

in input/
assumption

 Fair value 
(“FV”) effect 
— decrease 

in input/
assumption

Inputs and assumptions

Expected net operating income Increase in FV  Decrease in FV

Growth rate Increase in FV  Decrease in FV

Vacancy and bad debt factor Decrease in FV  Increase in FV

Figures in R’000 2019 2018

9. prOperty And equipment
Owned assets Fittings

Cost  3 853  3 615

Accumulated depreciation  (1 312)  (546)

Carrying value  2 541  3 069 

The carrying amounts of property and equipment can be reconciled as follows:

Carrying value at beginning of year  3 069  754 

Additions  239  2 759 

Disposals  — —

Depreciation  (767)  (444)

Carrying value at end of year  2 541  3 069 
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Figures in R’000 2019 2018

10. trAde And Other receivAbles
Trade receivables  3 129  4 483 

Trade receivables impairment  (2 745)  (2 128)

 384  2 355 

Other receivables*  3 761  2 637 

Prepaid expenses  53  — 

Deposits  2 424  1 533 

 6 622  6 525

*  Other receivables includes rental income of R2.12 million payable by Instratin to Transcend in respect of the Acacia Place property. 
This property is currently being sold and has been classified as a non-current asset held-for-sale.

Refer to note 31.1 Financial risk management: credit risk.

11. cAsh And cAsh equivAlents
Tenant deposits *  20 053  25 487 

Cash on hand **  53 539  116 134 

 73 592  141 621 

*  Cash and cash equivalents of R19.6 million (2018: R25.5 million) relating to tenant deposits are held on behalf of tenants in a separate bank 
account with restrictions on use for regular business operating activities. These balances will be used to repay the liability owing to tenants 
at the expiry of their lease, subject to certain conditions.

**  Included in cash on hand is a balance of R3.5 million (2018: R10.9 million), held directly by IHS PM, for operational costs on buildings owned 
by Transcend which are managed by IHS PM. The cash is held in trust on behalf of the company.

12. nOn-current Assets held-fOr-sAle And discOntinued OperAtiOns
Investment property classified as held-for-sale

Opening fair value of property assets  127 500  — 

Investment properties transferred to assets held-for-sale  208 453  127 500 

Capitalised expenditure  965  — 

Disposals  (31 609)  — 

Fair value adjustment of assets held-for-sale  262  — 

Closing balance  305 571  127 500 

The investment properties classified as properties held-for-sale relate to properties that the Board approved to be recovered 
through sale rather than through use. The Acacia Place property, as well as Midrand Village and De Velde units are in the process 
of being disposed of, and where necessary the properties and/or units have been revalued to their respective fair values based on 
the contractual selling prices of the property and/or units. These properties and/or units have been reclassified from investment 
properties to non-current assets held-for-sale where the requirements of IFRS 5 have been satisfied and there is a large degree of 
certainty that these units will be sold transferred to buyers within 12 months of year-end.

TR ANSCEND INTEGR ATED ANNUAL REPORT 2019

81

NOTES 
TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
For the year ended 31 December 2019



12. nOn-current Assets held-fOr-sAle And discOntinued OperAtiOns continued

Property selling price

Acacia Place

Acacia Place is a property consisting of 325 sectional title units located in Duvha, eMalahleni (Witbank), Mpumalanga. Transcend 
entered into a sale agreement with Instratin Properties Proprietary Limited (“Instratin”) on 14 September 2018 for the disposal of 
all 325 units together with the rental enterprise carried on at the property; as well as an agreement of occupancy for which rental 
income is payable to Transcend from 1 November 2018 until transfer is affected. The sale and transfer of this property was initially 
expected to take place in June 2019. There has been a delay in the sale of this property beyond a period of 12 months. The cause 
of this delay is a result of the conditions precedent to the sales agreement not being fulfilled timeously, based on events beyond 
Transcend’s control. However, the purchaser and Transcend remain committed to the plan to sell the asset. The property has an 
expected transfer date of 30 June 2020. This property is valued at its contractual sales price less cost to sell of R127.5 million and 
the value remains unchanged from 31 December 2018.

On 6 March 2019, a decision was taken to initially dispose of vacant units owned at two properties: Midrand Village, a freehold 
property consisting of 225 units located in Clayville, Gauteng; and De Velde, a 310 unit sectional title complex located in Somerset 
West, Western Cape. Both these properties were acquired as investment property by Transcend from a related party, IHS Res 1.  
During 2019, management continuously assessed these properties and decided that better value can be extracted from the 
properties by selling properties on a unit-by-unit basis.

Midrand Village

At 31 December 2019, 37 Midrand Village units have been sold and transferred to buyers and there are 100 sales agreements with 
various purchasers. This constitutes 61% of the total units acquired at Midrand Village and consequently all remaining units have 
been classified as assets held-for-sale at year-end. A transfer from investment properties to non-current assets held-for-sale of 
R194.13 million was made during 2019.

De Velde units

12 De Velde units also have sales agreements in place and these have been classified as assets held-for-sale at 31 December 2019. 
A transfer from investment properties to non-current assets held-for-sale of R14.32 million was made at 31 December 2019 in respect 
of these 12 units.

Non-current assets held-for-sale are collectively valued at R305.57 million, with their respective sales price less cost to sell of 
R127.5 million (Acacia Place), R163.75 million (Midrand Village) and R14.32 million (De Velde).

The Midrand Village property (and units) relates to the Gauteng segment; and the De Velde units relates to the Western Cape segment. 
The Acacia Place property is included in the Mpumalanga segment and represents the discontinued operation. The property is valued 
at its contractual sales price less cost to sell of R127.5 million.

Figures in R’000 2019 2018

Liabilities directly associated with asset held-for-sale

Accrued liabilities  789  161 

Income received in advance  824  255 

Tenant deposits  1 727  981 

 3 340  1 397 
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Figures in R’000 2019 2018

12. nOn-current Assets held-fOr-sAle  
And discOntinued OperAtiOns continued

Results of discontinued operation

Rental income from investment properties  17 968  12 212 

Recoveries of operating costs from tenants  2 470  2 390 

Revenue  20 438  14 602 

Property operating expenses  (6 660)  (4 893)

Impairment losses  (278)  — 

Other property income  407  (911)

Net operating income  13 907  8 798 

Other operating expenses  (57)  (80)

Operating profit  13 850  8 718 

Loss on fair value adjustment of investment property  (162)  (84)

Net finance charges  54  32 

Finance income  55  32 

Finance costs  (1)  — 

Profit and total comprehensive income for the period  13 742  8 666 

Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents)  10.50  12.22 

13. stAted cApitAl .

Authorised shares

3 500 000 000 ordinary shares of no par value (2018: 3 500 000 000 shares)

Issued shares

130 894 793 ordinary shares of no par value (2018: 130 894 793 shares)

SHARE RECONCILIATION (NUMBER)

Beginning of the year  130 895  66 306 

Issued during the year  —  64 589 

Balance at the end of the year  130 895  130 895 

RECONCILIATION OF ISSUED STATED CAPITAL

In issue at beginning of year  1 020 934  632 276 

Private placement  —  409 459 

Antecedent dividend*  —  (20 801)

Balance at end of year  1 020 934  1 020 934

* An antecedent dividend was reclassified from stated capital to retained earnings for the shares issued during 2018.
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Figures in R’000 2019
2018

Restated *

14. interest-beArinG bOrrOwinGs
THE STANDARD BANK OF SOUTH AFRICA LIMITED

Facility A, Tranche 1: Interest only loan with a variable rate at 3-month JIBAR plus 1.85% with  
a maturity date of 31 January 2020. Properties with a fair value of R1.24 billion are provided  
as security over the bond. **  278 022  278 131 

Facility A, Tranche 2: Interest only loan with a variable rate at 3-month JIBAR plus 2.35% with  
a maturity date of 31 January 2022. Properties with a fair value of R1.24 billion are provided  
as security over the bond.  278 255  278 363 

Facility C: Interest only loan with a variable rate at JIBAR plus 2.15% with a maturity date of 
23 August 2021. Properties with a fair value of R140.7 million is provided as security over the bond.  109 844  26 857 

Final facility B: Interest only loan at prime less 1% with a maturity date of 31 January 2020. 
This facility is secured by a bond over the same properties utilised as security for Facility A. **  7 053  7 057 

SYNDICATE AGENCY — THE STANDARD BANK OF SOUTH AFRICA LIMITED AND NEDBANK LIMITED

Final facility D: Interest only loan with a variable rate at 3-month JIBAR plus 1.90% with a maturity 
date of 9 April 2022. Properties with a fair value of R1.39 billion are provided as security over the 
bond.  295 070  —

Final facility D: Interest only loan with a variable rate at 3-month JIBAR plus 2.25% with a  
maturity date of 9 April 2024. Properties with a fair value of R1.39 billion are provided as  
security over the bond.  295 073  —

Final Facility E: Interest only loan at prime less 1% with a maturity date of 29 August 2022.  
This facility is secured by a bond over the same properties utilised as security for Facility D.  131 301  —

Carrying value of administrative fee on raising of new loan facilities capitalised.  (4 613)  (1 108)

Subtotal  1 390 006  589 300 

Current portion of interest-bearing borrowings  (7 650)  (8 209)

Total*  1 382 356  581 091 

* (Restated) (note 39).

**  During December 2019, Facility A, Tranche 1 and Facility B have been refinanced from 31 January 2020 for a 3 year term with a maturity date 
of 31 January 2023. Both facilities have been refinanced under a single facility of R284 million — interest only loan with a variable rate at 
3-month JIBAR plus 1.85%.

The debt balance as at 31 December 2018, including Facility A (Tranches 1 and 2), Facility B and Facility C of R589.30 million was held 
with The Standard Bank only.

During 2018, Transcend acquired eight properties (2 159 units) from related parties, IHS Res 1 and Sunnyshore. These were effective 
date transactions and the respective sales agreements became unconditional on 30 November 2018, making the effective date of the 
sales 1 December 2018. The risks and rewards of ownership and control transferred to Transcend on the effective date, however, the 
registration and legal transfer of these units only started taking place during the first half of 2019. On transfer of the properties, debt 
available from new facilities D and E was drawn down under an agency agreement (“Agency”) between Standard Bank and Nedbank. 
On draw down, this debt was recognised as interest-bearing borrowings on the statement of financial position and is included in the 
cash flows from finance activities as interest-bearing borrowings received.

Total increases in interest-bearing borrowings for the 2019 financial year relate to a R82.32 million increase in Facility C for the 
acquisitions of Protea Glen and Silverleaf investment properties; and a R740 million increase in new Facilities D and E for the 
acquisition of seven investment properties from IHS Res 1. Facility E has reduced by R18.73 million for units sold and disposed 
of at Midrand Village.

The total facilities above are secured by the properties owned by Transcend with a carrying value of R2.77 billion. This security 
includes Acacia Place, Midrand Village units and De Velde units that were transferred to non-current assets held-for-sale and 
collectively valued at their respective sales price less cost to sell of R127.5 million, R163.75 million and R14.32 million (collectively 
R305.57 million). To date 37 of the Midrand Village units have been sold and transferred to third-party buyers. 60% of the net proceeds 
received from disposal of those units have been applied to Facility E, and reduced the notional amount drawn on of R150 million 
to a year end capital balance owing of R131.130 million. The security in respect of these sales have been adjusted accordingly for 
the remaining units. Similarly, after the sale and transfer of Acacia Place and Midrand Village units the security for those remaining 
units will also be adjusted accordingly.
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Figures in R’000 2019 2018

14. interest-beArinG bOrrOwinGs continued

The Standard Bank facilities (Facilities A, B and C) are secured by investment properties owned by Transcend with a fair value of 
R1.38 billion and includes Acacia Place.

The Agency facilities (Facilities D and E) are secured by investment properties owned by Transcend with a carrying value 
of R1.39 billion.

The terms of these facilities are 3- and 5-year interest-only facilities. Interest is payable quarterly. Transcend currently has interest 
rate swaps on these facilities.

The administrative fee of R0.86 million on the raising of the Standard Bank facilities A, B and C, was capitalised and is amortised over 
the expected life of the respective loans. Administration and structuring fees of R4.52 million on facility D and facility E were also 
capitalised and are also amortised over an expected life of 4 years.

There are no restrictive funding arrangements in place as at 31 December 2019.

The additional drawdown of debt in 2019 under Facility C, Facility D and Facility E brings the total Transcend external bank borrowings 
to R1.39 billion at 31 December 2019. 1-, 2- and 3-year interest rate swaps with a notional amount of R1.04 billion were entered into in 
throughout 2017, 2018 and 2019 with Standard Bank and Nedbank to hedge this debt exposure. Current interest-bearing borrowings 
are 74% hedged. Please refer to note 17 Derivative liabilities for further information regarding Transcend’s interest rate swaps.

Interest-bearing borrowings are carried at amortised cost. The carrying value of these loans approximates the fair value of the 
financial liabilities owing at 31 December 2019.

15. lOAns frOm shArehOlders
Long-term portion of loan payable to Emira  93 461  143 461 

Carrying value of administrative fee on raising of loan facilities capitalised  (687)  (2 475)

92 774 140 986

Short-term portion of loan payable to Emira  53 754  795 

The loan from Emira relates to principal borrowings of R143.46m drawn on 13 December 2018 and interest accrued of R3.75 million as 
at 31 December 2019. This loan was utilised for the acquisition of 2 159 units acquired from IHS Res 1 and Sunnyshore Trade and Invest 
105 Proprietary Limited (“Sunnyshore”).

The loan bears interest at a rate of three months JIBAR plus 3.5%, with interest payable quarterly. Interest accrued of R3.75 million 
at 31 December 2019 is classified as current.

Emira has subordinated its right to claim or accept repayment of the principal amount in favour of all secured interest-bearing 
borrowings detailed in note 14 Interest-bearing borrowings. The principal borrowing is repayable 18 months from the date of 
drawdown and is an unsecured shareholder loan. The maturity date of the loan is 12 June 2020. Transcend will pay R50 million of the 
principal borrowings on maturity in June 2020 and extended the repayment of the balance for a further 12 months from maturity date 
until 13 June 2021. The R50 million payable in June 2020 is also classified as current. The carrying value of the loan equates to the fair 
value of the financial liability.

The loan from Emira is carried at amortised cost. The carrying value of the loan approximates to the fair value of the financial liability 
at 31 December 2019.
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Figures in R’000 2019 2018

16. trAde And Other pAyAbles .

Trade payables *  1 270  3 547 

Bond and transfer costs **  —  8 920 

Accrued liabilities ***  15 407  4 388 

Income received in advance  8 883  9 523 

Tenant deposits ****  17 614  24 038 

Sundry creditors  1 132  443 

Amounts payable to related parties *****  —  968 

44 306  51 827 

*  Included in the 2019 balance for trade payables is an amount of R1.19 million owing to IHS AM for asset management fees.

**  The 2018 bond and transfer costs relate to conveyancing fees payable on the transfer of the investment properties acquired effective 
1 December 2018.

***  The balance of accrued liabilities increased during the year by R12.2 million as a result of the new Res 1 property acquisitions made in 
December 2018, which transferred in 2019.

****  Tenant deposits have decreased by R6.4 million during the year as a result of a number of new lease contracts with various no 
deposit specials.

*****  Refer to note 34 Related parties and related party transactions for additional information on the 2018 amount payable to related parties.

17. derivAtive liAbilities .

Non-current liabilities  13 696  679 

Current liabilities  699  195 

 14 395  874

Transcend has entered into a number of interest rate swap agreements to mitigate the impact of fluctuating interest rates on the 
financial performance of the company.

It is the Board’s policy to economically hedge at least 70% of the company’s exposure to interest rate risk. At 31 December 2019, 
the total interest rate hedge for the external bank borrowing exposure to interest rate risk is 74%. This ratio does not take into 
account the shareholder loan or any loans from related parties.
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Figures in R’000 2019 2018

17. derivAtive liAbilities continued

As at 31 December 2019, the following interest rate swaps with Standard Bank and Nedbank were in place: 

THE STANDARD BANK OF SOUTH AFRICA LIMITED

Start date Maturity date Nominal value Rate (%) 2019 2018

7 Feb 17 30 Jan 20  137 500 7.26  161  195 

31 Jan 18 31 Jan 22  137 500 7.56  2 757  679 

10 Apr 18 10 Apr 22  195 000 7.27  2 920  — 

15 May 19 15 May 20  92 500 7.44  308  — 

10 Dec 19 17 May 23 *  92 500 7.35  1 788  — 

31 Jan 20 31 Jan 23 ***  137 000 6.87  687  — 

15 May 20 15 May 23 ***  92 500 6.92  507  — 

 9 127  874 

NEDBANK LIMITED

15 May 19 15 May 20  92 500 7.26  230  — 

15 May 19 16 May 22  195 000 7.23  2 868  — 

10 Dec 19 17 May 23 **  92 500 7.28  1 584  — 

15 May 20 15 May 23 ***  92 500 6.96  587  — 

5 268 —

*  On 10 December 2019 Transcend restructured a 2-year hedge with a maturity date of 15 May 2021 to 17 May 2023 at a fixed rate of 7.35%. 
This replaces the existing 2-year swap.

**  On 10 December 2019 Transcend restructured a 2-year hedge with a maturity date of 17 May 2021 to 15 May 2023 at a fixed rate of 7.28%. 
This replaces the existing 1-year swap.

***  In December 2019 Transcend has entered into various forward starting hedges. These hedges are effective from the respective start dates in 2020.

Please refer to note 32 Financial risk management.

The additional draw down of debt under Facility B, Facility C and Facility D during 2019, brings the total Transcend external bank 
borrowings to R1.39 billion at 31 December 2019. New 1-, 2- and 3-year interest rate swaps with a notional amount of R897 million were 
entered into in February and April 2019 with Standard Bank and Nedbank to hedge this debt exposure.

18. lOAns frOm relAted pArties .

IHS Res 1: R746.46 million was payable for the acquisition of 1 983 units located across seven 
investment properties in Gauteng and the Western Cape. The amount payable consisted of 
R740 million of principal borrowings owing on the purchase consideration and R6.43 million  
of interest accrued and payable for December 2018. At 31 December 2019, the total amount  
payable to IHS Res 1 in respect of these units, was settled in full.  —  746 429 

IHS Res 1: As per the sales agreements in respect of the seven investment properties referred 
to above, a price escalation was calculated on the purchase consideration of R1.21 billion. 
This escalation was levied at a rate of 6% per annum on the consideration payable from the 
effective date of 1 December 2018 until date of transfer of the properties to the company.  
Transfer of the units occurred during the year, with transfer of the final units on 31 August 2019.  
A final settlement payment of R35.6 million was paid to IHS Res 1 in December 2019.  —  22 190 

Sunnyshore: R46.94 million payable for the acquisition of 176 sectional title units in the scheme 
known as Protea Glen situated on Erven 8487 and 8488 Protea Glen Extension 11 Township, Soweto 
as divisible sales for an aggregate purchase consideration of R60 million. At 31 December 2019, 
the total amount payable to Sunnyshore in respect of these units, was settled in full.  —  60 216 

 —  828 835 
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Figures in R’000 2019 2018

18. lOAns frOm relAted pArties continued

The outstanding balance on loans from related parties at 31 December 2018 were in respect of amounts owing to IHS Res 1 and 
Sunnyshore for the acquisition of 2 159 units. The purchase considerations were funded partially through equity and debt on transfer 
of the properties. From 1 December 2018, interest was payable to IHS Res 1 and Sunnyshore on the balance owing at on effective rate 
of 9.4% and 5.6% respectively, with interest payable monthly in arrears on the balance of the loan outstanding.

There are no outstanding related party loan balances at 31 December 2019, as these amounts owing were paid and settled in full upon 
transfer of all the units during 2019.

IHS Res 1

At 31 December 2018, the total loan payable to IHS Res 1 amounted to R768.62 million and was classified as current as it was  
settled within 12 months from year end 31 December 2019. This loan was unsecured until final settlement of the amount outstanding. 
During 2019 this loan was replaced by interest-bearing borrowings secured under new 3-year, 5-year and overdraft facilities (Facilities D 
and E) upon transfer of the respective units to Transcend. At 31 December 2019, there is no balance payable to IHS Res 1 as senior debt 
secured of R740 million (and surplus cash) was drawn on upon transfer of the respective properties and used to settle the loan in full. 
In terms of the sales agreement with IHS Res 1, an escalation of 6% per annum was levied on the purchase consideration payable to IHS 
Res 1 from the effective date of 1 December 2018. This escalation accrued until 31 August 2019, which is the date when all the properties 
had transferred to Transcend, and amounted to R37.31 million (which included a purchase consideration escalation provision of 
R22.19 million which was recognised in 2018). A final settlement amount of R35.6 million was paid to IHS Res 1 on 31 December 2019.

Sunnyshore

At 31 December 2018, the total loan payable to Sunnyshore amounted to R60.22 million and was classified as current as it was  
settled within 12 months from year end 31 December 2019. This loan was unsecured until final settlement of the amount outstanding. 
In March 2019 this loan was replaced by interest-bearing borrowings of R46.72 million secured under Facility C upon transfer of 
the respective units to Transcend. At 31 December 2019, there is no balance payable to Sunnyshore as the senior debt secured 
(and surplus cash) was drawn on upon transfer of the respective properties and used to settle the loan in full.

On transfer of the 2 159 units to Transcend, the existing bonds over the properties were cancelled and new bonds were registered 
to the value of R786.72 million. New facilities D and E are secured by the acquired investment properties acquired.

19. revenue .

Revenue from continuing operations consists of the following:

Rental income from investment properties  312 808  148 346 

Recoveries of operating costs from tenants  23 085  13 452 

 335 893  161 798 
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20. prOperty OperAtinG expenses  

Utilities  48 242  21 306 

— Water  7 710  3 596 

— Electricity  14 382  5 821 

— Rates  13 890  6 696 

— Sewerage  6 915  2 592 

— Refuse  5 345  2 601 

Property management fee  23 152  11 597 

Levies  11 724  5 896 

Security  6 157  3 601 

Repairs and maintenance  8 798  7 403 

Payroll  3 647  1 760 

Allowance for doubtful debts  —  (70)

Other property operating expenses*  5 794  2 414 

  107 514  53 907

*  Included in other property expenses are property insurance expenses of R1.87 million (2018: R0.9 million); consulting fees for legal 
collections R0.82 million (2018: R0.39 million); garden service costs R0.95 million (2018: R0.6 million) and net rental revenue R0.64 million 
(2018: R0.3 million) in respect of Protea Glen underwritten by a rental guarantee from 1 December 2018 to 30 November 2019. This guarantee 
effectively underwrites 100% of the gross rental income net of a vacancy provision of 7.5% for the 12 months after transfer of the property.

21. Other incOme   

Sundry income  3 832  — 

 3 832  — 

Included in other income are amounts relating to the income on insurance claims recoveries; collection fees recoveries; legal fees 
recoveries and other recoveries.

22. Other OperAtinG expenses
Asset management fees  13 747  5 749 

Professional services fees *  1 066  1 895 

Acquisition and transaction fees **  361  9 562 

Local travel  121  21 

Corporate social investment  55  — 

Directors’ emoluments  1 161  637 

Depreciation and impairments  767  444 

Auditors’ remuneration  1 597  1 449 

— External audit services  1 500  1 371

— Other audit services 15 —

— Non-audit services  82  78

Other  1 732  1 618 

 20 607  21 375 

* Included in the balance is legal fees of R0.79 million (2018:R1.37 million) for legal expenses incurred on the properties during the year.

** Acquisition and transaction fees relate to expenses for investment property acquisitions made during 2018 which transferred during 2019.
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Figures in R’000 2019 2018

23. GAin On fAir vAlue Adjustment Of prOperties   

Gain on fair value adjustment of investment properties  15 010  160 627 

Gain on fair value adjustment of non-current assets held-for-sale  424  — 

 15 434  160 627 

24. finAnce incOme  

Bank interest  7 800  3 098 

 7 800  3 098 

25. finAnce cOsts  

Interest on bank loans  96 170  53 089 

Interest on loan from shareholder  15 104  795 

Interest on related party loans  35 465  6 651 

Other*  —  953 

 146 740  61 488

* This amount primarily related to interest payable to IHS Res 1 for the acquisition of investment properties.

26. tAxAtiOn   

Current taxation  — —

Income taxation for the year  —  —

Reconciliation between accounting profit and tax expense

Profit before taxation  82 047  197 068

Tax at the applicable tax rate of 28%  22 973  55 179 

Tax effect of adjustments on taxable income

Non-deductible share registration expenses and sponsorship costs  193  2 707 

Non-deductible amortisation of loan raising fee  901 —

Unrealised gain/(loss) on revaluation of interest rate swaps  3 786  (603)

Gain on fair value adjustment of investment properties  (4 276)  (44 952)

Income received in advance  (20)  1 688 

Audit fees  36  217 

Allowance for doubtful debts  14  371 

Section 24C Allowance for future expenditure  (92)  (1 226)

Prepaid expenses  (15)  8 

Corporate social investment expenditure  15  — 

Prior year under provision of current taxation  — —

Antecedent distribution — 4 873

Qualifying distribution  (23 874)  (18 262)

 (359)  — 

Transcend was approved as a REIT with effect from 1 December 2016. As a result, section 25BB of the Income Tax Act will apply 
to qualifying REIT income. This results in any capital gains on the sale of investment property being disregarded and previous 
building allowances claimed on the investment property, before the REIT status was obtained, being recouped at 28% when sold. 
Rental income is taxed at 28% and any dividends paid from these taxable profits, will be deductible at 28% by means of a qualifying 
distribution deduction.
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Figures in R’000 2019 2018

27. eArninGs And heAdline eArninGs   

Reconciliation of basic earnings to headline earnings

Profit for the year attributable to Transcend shareholders  82 047  197 068 

Change in fair value of properties  (15 272)  (160 543)

Headline earnings attributable to Transcend shareholders  66 775  36 525 

Actual number of shares in issue (’000)  130 895  130 895 

Weighted average number of shares in issue (’000)  130 895  70 911 

Basic and diluted earnings per share (cents)  62.68  277.91 

Headline and diluted headline earnings per share (cents)  51.01  51.51 

28. minimum leAse pAyments receivAble
Minimum lease payments comprise contractual rental income from investment properties  
in terms of signed lease agreements.  

Receivable within one year  27 509  37 080 

Transcend classifies its leases as a 12-month or a month-to-month lease. Since July 2018 the company only enters into month-to-month 
leases due to the nature of the collection process. Therefore, contractual income largely consists of only one month of rental income 
as this is the lease term that is contractually receivable by the company within one year. The decrease in minimum lease payments 
receivable from 2018 of R9.5 million is a result of various 12-month lease term contracts expiring during 2019 and all leases becoming 
month-to-month.

Please refer to Accounting policies, note 5.2 Leases for a description of Transcend’s leasing arrangements.
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29. OperAtinG seGments continued

Figures in R’000 Gauteng
Western

Cape Reconciliation **

Total
continuing
operations

Mpumalanga
(Discontinued

operation *) Total

2019

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME       

Rental income from  
investment properties  255 503  57 296  9  312 808  17 968  330 776 

Recoveries of operating costs  
from tenants  21 253  1 832  —  23 085  2 470  25 555 

Revenue  276 756  59 128  9  335 893  20 438  356 331 

Property operating expenses  (87 617)  (19 254)  (643)  (107 514)  (6 660)  (114 174)

Impairment losses  (3 550)  (2 721)  —  (6 271)  (278)  (6 549)

Other property income  2 973  770  89  3 832  407  4 239 

Net operating income  188 562  37 923  (545)  225 940  13 907  239 848 

Other operating expenses  (597)  (541)  (19 469)  (20 607)  (57)  (20 664)

Operating profit  187 965  37 382  (20 014)  205 333  13 850  219 184 

Gain/(loss) on fair value  
adjustment of properties  23 268  (7 834)  —  15 434  (162)  15 272 

Unrealised gain/(loss) on revaluation 
of interest rate swaps  —  —  (13 522)  (13 522)  —  (13 522)

Net finance charges  625  108  (139 673)  (138 940)  54  (138 886)

Finance income  627  108  7 065  7 800  55  7 855 

Finance costs  (2)  —  (146 738)  (146 740)  (1)  (146 741)

Profit before taxation  211 858  29 656  (173 209)  68 305  13 742  82 047 

Taxation       

Profit and total comprehensive 
income for the period  211 858  29 656  (173 209)  68 305  13 742  82 047 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Investment properties  2 118 318  341 857  —  2 460 174  —  2 460 174 

Non-current assets held-for-sale  163 750  14 320  —  178 070  127 500  305 570 

Other assets  4 877  760  74 505  80 142  2 609  82 751 

Interest-bearing borrowings  —  —  1 390 006  1 390 006  —  1 390 006 

*  The Mpumalanga operating segments represents a single property, Acacia Place. This property is in the process of being sold and has 
therefore been presented as a non-current asset held-for-sale and the operating segment as a discontinued operation.

**  Reconciliation relates to income and expenses incurred at a centralised entity level that cannot be accurately allocated to investment 
properties included in the operating segments.

Operating segments are reported by region/geographical area. Included in each geographical area is/are the following 
investment properties:

 > Mpumalanga: Acacia Place;

 > Western Cape: Parklands, Alpine Mews, De Velde and Vanguard Village; and

 > Gauteng: Ekhaya Fleurhof, Ekhaya Jabulani, Terenure Estate, 67th on 7th, Jackalberry Close, Village Seven Stone Arch Village, 
Molware, Kensington Place, Tradewinds, Theresa Park Estates, Southgate Ridge, Protea Glen, Midrand Village, Urban Ridge West, 
Urban Ridge South, Urban Ridge East, Birchwood Village and Silverleaf ***.

*** Acquisition made during 2019.
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29. OperAtinG seGments continued

Figures in R’000 Gauteng
Western

Cape Reconciliation

Total
continuing
operations

Mpumalanga
(Discontinued

operation) Total

2018

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME       

Rental income from  128 194  20 152  —  148 346  12 212  160 558 

investment properties  

Recoveries of operating costs  
from tenants  11 894  1 558  —  13 452  2 390  15 842 

Revenue  140 088  21 710  —  161 798  14 602  176 400 

Property operating expenses  (45 413)  (8 494)  —  (53 907)  (4 893)  (58 800)

Impairment losses  (1 494)  (1 012)  —  (2 506)  (911)  (4 429)

Net operating income  93 181  12 204  —  105 385  8 798  113 171 

Other operating expenses  (685)  (1 135)  (19 555)  (21 375)  (80)  (42 145)

Operating profit  92 496  11 069  (19 555)  84 010  8 718  71 026 

Gain/(loss) on fair value adjustment  
of properties  122 953  37 674  —  160 627  (84)  198 217 

Unrealised gain/(loss) on revaluation  
of interest rate swaps  —  —  2 155  2 155  —  4 310 

Net finance charges  222  40  (58 652)  (58 390)  32  (58 358)

Finance income  222  40  2 836  3 098  32  3 130 

Finance costs  —  —  (61 488)  (61 488)  —  (61 488)

Profit before taxation  215 671  48 783  (76 052)  188 402  8 666  197 068 

Taxation  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Profit and total comprehensive 
income for the period  215 671  48 783  (76 052)  188 402  8 666  197 068 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Investment properties  2 117 100  470 900  —  2 588 000  —  2 588 000 

Non-current assets held-for-sale  —  —  —  —  127 500  127 500 

Other assets  9 411  2 804  134 897  147 112  4 103  151 215 

Interest-bearing borrowings  —  —  589 300  589 300  —  589 300 

Included in the 2018 geographical area are the following investment properties:

 > Mpumalanga: Acacia Place;

 > Western Cape: Parklands, Alpine Mews, De Velde and Vanguard Village; and

 > Gauteng: Ekhaya Fleurhof, Ekhaya Jabulani, Terenure Estate, 67th on 7th, Jackalberry Close, Village Seven Stone Arch Village, 
Molware, Kensington Place, Tradewinds, Theresa Park Estates, Southgate Ridge, Protea Glen, Midrand Village, Urban Ridge West, 
Urban Ridge South, Urban Ridge East and Birchwood Village.
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Figures in R’000 2019 2018

30. recOnciliAtiOn Of liAbilities ArisinG  
frOm finAncinG Activities
Opening balance of liabilities  1 559 916  555 324 

Cash flow movements:  (180 805)  (346 392)

Repayment of loan from related party to IHS Res 1  (777 313)  (469 900)

Repayment of interest-bearing borrowings  (18 731)  — 

Repayment of loan from related party to Sunnyshore  (60 000)  — 

Drawdown of interest-bearing borrowings  822 320  33 289 

Debt-raising fees  (4 934)  — 

Interest payments of interest-bearing borrowings  (88 814)  — 

Interest payments of related party loan to IHS Res 1  (40 522)  — 

Interest payments of related party loan to Sunnyshore  (666)  — 

Interest payments of shareholder’s loan  (12 145)  — 

Interest-bearing shareholder’s loan raised  —  143 461 

Shareholder’s loan debt raising fee  —  (2 474)

Interest repayments of interest-bearing borrowings —  (50 768)

Non-cash flow movements:  157 423  1 350 984 

Interest accrued on interest-bearing borrowings  89 434  51 449 

Interest accrued on related party loan to IHS Res 1  34 094  6 434 

Interest accrued on related party loan to Sunnyshore  450  216 

Interest accrued on shareholder’s loan  15 104  795 

Amortisation of interest-bearing borrowings  1 430  — 

Amortisation of shareholder’s loan  1 788  — 

Related party loan from IHS Res 1  —  1 209 900 

Related party purchase consideration escalation  15 123  22 190 

Related party loan from Sunnyshore  —  60 000 

Closing balance of liabilities  1 536 534  1 559 916 

31. finAnciAl risK mAnAGement
The company’s financial risk management objective is to manage the capital and financial risk exposure so that the company 
continues as a going concern and minimises adverse effects of financial risks on returns.

The company has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

 > Credit risk;

 > Liquidity risk; and

 > Market risk.

The Audit and Risk Committee is responsible for setting appropriate policies and procedures to govern financial risks, which 
are measured and managed in accordance with company policies and risk objectives.

The company’s principal financial liabilities are interest-bearing borrowings, loans from shareholders and related parties and trade 
and other payables, classified as financial liabilities measured at amortised cost, and derivative financial liabilities, classified as 
financial liabilities measured at fair value through profit or loss. The main purpose of the company’s borrowings is to finance the 
acquisition of the company’s property portfolio. The company has trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents that arise 
directly from its operations, classified as financial assets at amortised cost.
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31. finAnciAl risK mAnAGement continued

The company has classified its financial assets in the following categories:

Figures in R’000 Notes
At amortised

cost Total 

2019    

Current financial assets

Trade and other receivables 10  384  384 

Cash and cash equivalents 11  73 592  73 592 

2018

Current financial assets

Trade and other receivables 10 2 355 2 355

Cash and cash equivalents 11 141 621 141 621

The company has classified its financial liabilities in the following categories:

Figures in R’000 Notes 

At fair value
through profit

or loss

Financial
liabilities at

amortised cost Total

2019     

Non-current financial liabilities

Loan from shareholder 15  —  92 774  92 774 

Interest-bearing borrowings 14, 38  —  1 382 356  1 382 356 

Derivative liabilities 17  699  —  699 

Current financial liabilities

Trade payables 16  —  20 016  20 016 

Loan from shareholder 15  —  53 754  53 754 

Current portion of interest-bearing borrowings 14, 38  —  7 650  7 650 

Derivative liabilities 17  13 696  —  13 696 

2018

Non-current financial liabilities

Loan from shareholder 15  —  140 986  140 986 

Interest-bearing borrowings 14, 38  —  581 091  581 091 

Derivative liabilities 17  679  —  679 

Current financial liabilities

Trade payables 16  —  38 519  38 519 

Loan from shareholder 15  —  795  795 

Loans from related parties 18  —  828 835  828 835 

Current portion of interest-bearing borrowings 8  —  8 209  8 209 

Derivative liabilities 10  195  —  195 

The company is exposed to credit risk and liquidity risk arising in the normal course of its business and financial instruments. The 
company’s risk assessment objectives, policies and processes mainly focus on minimising the potential adverse effects of these risks 
on its financial performance and position by closely monitoring the individual exposure.
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31. finAnciAl risK mAnAGement continued

31.1 CREDIT RISK

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the company if a tenant or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 
obligations, and arises principally from trade and other receivables.

Management has established a credit policy under which each new tenant is analysed individually for credit worthiness before the 
company’s standard payment terms and conditions are offered which include, in the majority of cases, the provision of a deposit of at 
least one month’s rental. When available, the company’s credit review includes external ratings. Furthermore, trade receivables are 
widely spread over a large customer base which further reduces credit risk.

All specific doubtful debts have been assessed for impairment at year-end and management does not consider there to be any credit 
risk exposure that is not already covered in the impairment.

Trade receivables are assessed for impairment both individually and collectively. All debtors relating to tenants who have vacated 
the premises have been impaired 100%. All debtors who have been summoned for non-payment have also been impaired 100%. 
The remaining debtor balances outstanding for more than 30 days have been impaired at 25%, balances outstanding for more than 
60 days have been impaired at 50% and all balances for more than 90 days have been impaired 100%. Tenant deposits received from 
tenants with arrears are deducted from the allowance.

Under the new expected credit losses model, a provision matrix was established that is based on the company’s historical credit loss 
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. As an additional measure, 
the bad debt write-off was compared as a percentage of revenue. This reflects the maximum amount of expected losses for current 
revenue and is raised in addition to the above assessment of the allowance for doubtful debts.

At 31 December 2019, the company has no concentration of risk and the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the 
carrying amount of each financial asset.

Figures in R’000 2019 2018

Ageing of impaired trade receivables

Not more than 30 days  667  181 

More than 30 days but not more than 60 days  540  327 

More than 60 days but not more than 90 days  394  318 

More than 90 days  1 144  1 302 

 2 745  2 128 

Movement on the allowance for doubtful debts:*

Balance as at 1 January  2 128  360 

Net remeasurement of loss allowance  6 549  3 417 

Amounts written off  (5 932)  (1 649)

Balance as at 31 December  2 745  2 128 

*  The movement on the allowance for doubtful debts includes movements relating to Acacia Place (discontinued operation).

Amounts charged to the allowance will be written off when all avenues for recovery have been exhausted and there is no expectation 
that any further cash will be received.

At the reporting date, no geographic area, rental sector or size of tenant had been identified as a specific credit risk.

Trade receivables in default but not impaired

Trade receivables are considered to be “in default” when they are uncollected one day or more beyond their contractual due date. 
Rent is contractually payable in advance on all leases signed with tenants. Default is, therefore, one day after rent is due and payable 
for the succeeding month.

As at 31 December 2019, trade receivables of R0.384 million (2018: R2.36 million), were considered in default but not impaired. 
These include varied customers with no recent history of payment default, and have been assessed for impairment.
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31. finAnciAl risK mAnAGement continued

Figures in R’000 2019 2018

Ageing of trade receivables in default but not impaired

In default up to:

30 days  384  1 590 

31 to 60 days  —  342 

61 to 90 days  —  423 

91 to 120 days  —  — 

  384  2 355

31.2 LIQUIDITY RISK

The company is exposed to liquidity risk on financial liabilities. It manages its funds conservatively by maintaining a comfortable 
level of cash and cash equivalents in order to meet continuous operational needs. This risk is further managed by regularly 
monitoring cash flows.

A maturity analysis of the company’s financial liabilities at an undiscounted, contractual basis are set out in the table below:

 Figures in R’000 Note
Less than

1 year 
Between

1 and 5 years Over 5 years Total 

2019      

Loans from shareholders 15  65 980  97 976  —  163 955 

Loans from related parties 18  —  —  — —

Interest-bearing borrowings 14  132 397  1 601 954  —  1 734 350 

Trade and other payables 16  45 095  —  —  45 095 

Derivative liabilities 17  699  13 696  —  14 395 

2018

Loans from shareholders 15  16 074  149 029  —  165 103 

Loans from related parties 18  828 835  —  —  828 835 

Interest-bearing borrowings 14  8 209  649 852  —  658 061 

Trade and other payables 16  52 884  —  —  52 884 

Derivative liabilities 17 195 679  —  874 

31.3 INTEREST RATE RISK

Interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest 
rates. The company’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to its long-term debt obligations with 
floating interest rates.

The additional drawdown of debt in 2019 under Facility C, Facility D and Facility E brings the total Transcend external bank borrowings 
to R1.39 billion at 31 December 2019. 1-, 2- and 3-year interest rate swaps with a notional amount of R1.04 billion were entered into in 
throughout 2017, 2018 and 2019 with Standard Bank and Nedbank to hedge this debt exposure. Current interest-bearing borrowings 
are 74% hedged. Please refer to note 17 for further information regarding Transcend’s interest rate swaps.

It is the Board’s policy to economically hedge at least 70% of the company’s exposure to interest rate risk. At 31 December 2019, the total 
interest rate hedge for the external exposure to interest rate risk is 74%. This ratio does not take into account the shareholder loan.

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2019, if interest rates at that date had been 100 basis points (lower)/higher with all other variables held constant, 
the company’s profit for the year and retained earnings would have been R3.96 million (2018: R3.55 million) (lower)/higher.
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31. finAnciAl risK mAnAGement continued

The sensitivity analysis has been prepared with the assumption that the change in interest rates had occurred at the reporting date 
and had been applied retrospectively to the exposure to interest rate risk for the relevant financial instruments in existence at that 
date. The changes in interest rate represent management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change in interest rates at that date 
over the period until the next reporting date.

32. fAir vAlue hierArchy
The estimated fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities at amortised cost as at 31 December 2019 have been determined 
using available market information and appropriate valuation methodologies. The fair value of all financial instruments at amortised 
cost equals their carrying value, either because of the short-term nature and normal trade terms thereof, or the market-related 
interest rates attached to it. The fair value of investment properties has been determined by an external valuer based on the income 
capitalisation method.

IFRS 13 requires that an entity discloses for each class of financial instrument and investment property measured at fair value, 
the level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements are categorised in their entirety.

The fair value hierarchy reflects the significance of the inputs used in making fair value measurements.

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety shall be determined  
on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety.

The table below analyses financial instruments and investment property carried at fair value. The fair value hierarchy has the 
following levels:

 > Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical financial assets or liabilities.

 > Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly  
(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

 > Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Figures in R’000 Fair value  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3

31 DECEMBER 2019     

Assets

Investment properties  2 460 174  —  —  2 460 174 

Non-current assets held-for-sale  305 571  —  —  305 571 

  2 765 745  —  —  2 765 745 

Liabilities     

Derivative liabilities  (14 395)  —  (14 395)  — 

 (14 395)  —  (14 395)  — 

31 DECEMBER 2018

Assets

Investment properties  2 588 000  —  —  2 588 000 

Non-current assets held-for-sale  127 500  —  —  127 500 

  2 715 500  —  —  2 715 500 

Liabilities     

Derivative liabilities  (874)  —  (874)  — 

 (874)  —  (874)  — 
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32. fAir vAlue hierArchy continued

Details of valuation techniques

Investment properties

Investment properties are valued using a level 3 model. The investment properties were valued as at 31 December 2019 by capitalising 
the net contractual income derived from the properties for a period of one year in advance by an applicable capitalisation rate as 
determined by the independent valuer. The calculation of the market value of all investment properties in Transcend has been based 
on the income capitalisation method. This is the fundamental basis on which income producing properties are traded in the South 
African market. This is also due to there being strong supporting evidence of open market rental rates and capitalisation rates which 
are evidenced by sales in the market.

All of the company’s investment properties were valued at 31 December 2019 by an external registered valuer. The valuations were 
reviewed by the executive directors and asset managers and presented to the Investment Committee and then to the Audit and Risk 
Committee for approval on 4 December 2019. At year-end properties are classified as investment properties or non-current assets  
held-for-sale. Under each of these classifications the properties are carried at their respective fair values.

Non-current assets held-for-sale

Properties being disposed of and classified as non-current assets held-for-sale include Acacia Place, Midrand Village and De Velde. 
These properties are in the process of being disposed of, and where necessary the properties and/or units have been revalued to  
their respective fair values based on the contractual selling prices of the property and/or units.

Derivative liabilities

Interest rate swaps

The fair value is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows. Estimates of the future floating-rate cash flows 
are based on quoted swap rates, future prices and interbank borrowing rates. Estimated cash flows are discounted using a yield curve 
constructed from similar sources, which reflects the relevant benchmark interbank rate used by market participants for this purposes 
when pricing interest rate swaps. The fair value estimate is subject to a credit risk adjustment that reflects the credit risk of the 
company and of the counterparty. This is calculated based on credit spreads derived from current credit default swap or bond prices.

Transfers between level 1, level 2 and level 3

There have been no transfers between level 1, level 2 and level 3 during the year under review.

33. cApitAl mAnAGement
In terms of its MOI, Transcend has unlimited borrowing capacity although management will target a long-term loan to value 
(“LTV”) range of between 30% to 40%. Transcend is funded partly by equity (owners’ capital); partly by external borrowings being 
bank borrowings; as well as partly through a shareholder’s loan from Emira. Covenants for external bank borrowings commonly 
provide for a maximum LTV of 55%. New capital and debt facilities were secured and recognised to fund acquisitions made during 
2018 and 2019. As at 31 December 2019, the LTV of the company is 47%. (31 December 2018: 47%), which is in line with prior year.

LTV is calculated as the sum of all interest-bearing borrowings (property-backed debt, but excluding subordinated shareholder 
loan) less cash, divided by investment properties and non-current assets held-for-sale (Acacia Place, Midrand Village units and 
De Velde units). While this (level of LTV) falls outside the targeted long-term range of 30% to 40%, management plans to reduce 
this LTV ratio to the targeted range within the medium term, which will be achieved by raising equity for new acquisitions 
and using proceeds from the sale of the Acacia Place, Midrand Village and De Velde properties to pay down existing debt.

The loan from Emira relates to principal borrowings of R143.46 million drawn on 13 December 2018 and interest accrued of R3.75 million 
as at 31 December 2019. The principal borrowing is repayable 18 months from the date of drawdown and is an unsecured shareholder 
loan. Emira has subordinated its right to claim or accept repayment of the principal amount in favour of all secured interest-bearing 
borrowings detailed in note 14 Interest-bearing borrowings. The maturity date of the loan is 12 June 2020. Transcend will pay 
R50 million of the principal borrowings on maturity and has extended the repayment of the balance for a further 12 months from 
maturity date until 13 June 2021. The R50 million payable in June 2020 is classified as current.

Please also refer to note 14 Interest-bearing borrowings for current facilities held with Standard Bank, and note 18 Loans from 
related parties.

No new share capital was issued during the financial year ended 31 December 2019.

The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base, comprising its shareholders’ interest, so as to maintain investor, creditor 
and market confidence and to sustain future development of the business. It is the company’s stated purpose to deliver long-term 
sustainable growth in distributions per share.

The Board monitors the level of distributions to shareholders and ensures compliance with the Income Tax Act, JSE Listings 
Requirements and that no profits of a capital nature are distributed.

The company is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

TR ANSCEND INTEGR ATED ANNUAL REPORT 2019

99

NOTES 
TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
For the year ended 31 December 2019



34. relAted pArties And relAted pArty trAnsActiOns

Shareholding %

Related party Relationship  2019 2018 Transactions entered into

South African Workforce Housing Fund 
PVE (SA) (“SAWHF PVE (SA)” or “the 
Partnership”)

A South African en commandite 
partnership (the “Partnership”) duly 
represented by its general partner, the 
South Africa Workforce Housing Fund 
(SA GP) (RF) (Pty) Ltd. The Partnership 
is comprised of one en commandite 
partner being the South African 
Workforce Housing SA I, which in turn 
has three partners being: SAWHF 
(Cayman) I Ltd, SAWHF (Cayman) II Ltd 
and SAWHF (SA) II

Shareholder

The relationship between the 
Partnership and International 
Housing Solutions (RF) (Pty) 
Ltd (“IHS”) (RF) (Pty) Ltd”) 
is governed by a signed 
investment advisory 
agreement 

35.2 45.1 Dividends

Emira Shareholder 34.9 34.9 Dividends, shareholder’s loan  
and interest

Directors Directors, key management 
and shareholders

0.5  0.9 Dividends and directors’ emoluments*

International Housing Solutions RF (Pty) 
Ltd (“IHS RF (Pty) Ltd” or “IHS”)

Shareholder and holding 
company of IHS AM

11.4 11.5 Dividends

IHS AM — 59.9% owned by IHS (RF) (Pty) 
Ltd, 25.1% owned by Meago Capital (Pty) 
Ltd and 25.1% owned by Emira Property 
Fund Limited

Performs asset management 
function for the company

Asset management fees

An asset management agreement was 
entered into by Transcend and IHS AM 
and became effective 1 October 2016. In 
turn, IHS AM outsources certain functions 
to IHS (RF) (Pty) Ltd in terms of a service 
level agreement

IHS PM — 100% subsidiary of IHS (RF) 
(Pty) Ltd

Performs the property 
management function for 
the company

Property management fee

The property management function of 
the company is outsourced on market 
related terms. A property management 
agreement was entered into by Transcend 
and IHS PM on 16 October 2016

IHS Res 1 Subsidiary of PSP and 
managed by IHS (RF) (Pty) Ltd

Loan and interest on loan

SAWHF SA Rental 4 Trust  
(“Rental 4 Trust”)

Subsidiary of SAWHF PVE 
(SA) and managed by IHS (RF) 
(Pty) Ltd

Acquisition of investment property

Sunnyshore Subsidiary of Picture Perfect 
Trading 203 Proprietary 
Limited and the ultimate 
holding company is South 
African Workforce Housing 
Fund (SA GP) (RF) (Pty) Ltd, a 
partner in SAWHF PVE (SA)

Loan and interest on loan plus rental 
income on the Protea Glen property

*  See note 35 Directors’ remuneration and benefits below for directors remuneration paid during the year.

Transcend does not have any subsidiaries.
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34. relAted pArties And relAted pArty trAnsActiOns continued

Figures in R’000 2019 2018

Transactions 172 578 1 372 394

Asset management fees paid to IHS AM  13 747  5 749 

Property management fees paid to IHS PM  24 374  12 396 

Dividends paid to shareholders  84 815  42 655 

Acquisition of investment properties from IHS Res 1  —  1 209 900 

Interest on loan from Emira  15 104  795 

Interest on loan from IHS Res 1  34 088  6 434 

Interest on loan from Sunnyshore  450  216 

Acquisition of investment properties from Sunnyshore  —  60 000 

Acquisition of investment properties from Rental 4 Trust  —  33 300 

Other interest on balance owing to IHS Res 1  —  949 

Amounts owing to related parties  (147 738)  (971 584)

IHS (RF) (Pty) Ltd  (20)  (20)

Property management fees payable to IHS PM  —  (9)

Asset management fees payable to IHS AM  (1 190)  (939)

Emira shareholder’s loan  (146 528)  (141 781)

IHS Res 1 payable  —  (768 619)

Sunnyshore payable  —  (60 216)

35. directOrs’ remunerAtiOn And benefits

Figures in R’000
Basic

salaries

Fees paid to
directors for

services

Bonuses
and other

performance
payments Total

2019

Executive directors

S Mboweni 2  2 759  —  872  3 630 

M Kritzinger 4  1 246  —  336  1 582 

V Perfect 5  1 783  —  354  2 137 

Non-executive directors

RR Emslie —  311  —  311 

RN Wesselo 1 5 419 —  2 518  7 938 

ML Falcone 7 8 170 —  9 118  17 288 

GM Jennett 8  —  —  —  — 

AM Dickens  —  311  —  311 

FN Khanyile  —  270  —  270 

MS Aitken  —  270  —  270 

Total 19 377 1 161 13 197 33 735
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35. directOrs’ remunerAtiOn And benefits continued

Figures in R’000
Basic

salaries

Fees paid to
directors for

services

Bonuses
and other

performance
payments Total

2018

Executive directors

RN Wesselo  4 987  —  3 376  8 363 

S Mboweni 2 627  —  1 109  3 736 

DP Lange 3 206  —  150  356 

M Kritzinger 932  —  —  932 

V Perfect 82  —  —  82 

Non-executive directors

RR Emslie —  232  —  232 

CP Conaty 6 5 509  —  2 458  7 967 

ML Falcone 7 354  —  15 460  22 814 

GM Jennett —  —  —  — 

AM Dickens —  —  —  — 

FN Khanyile —  203  —  203 

MS Aitken —  203 — 203

Total 21 697 638 22 553 44 888

An average exchange rate of USD1:R14.71 (2018: USD1:R13.25) was used in the table above to convert US Dollar denominated salaries 
into South African Rand.

Directors fees paid to independent non-executive directors in 2019 represent the total fees received by these directors for their 
services to Transcend for the 12 months ending 31 December 2019. Directors’ fees paid to non-executive directors increased from 
1 January 2019 as approved at the AGM.

1   Rob Wesselo received remuneration of R7.9 million in 2019 (2018: R8.36 million) from IHS for his services as Managing Director of IHS. 
During 2018 Rob did not receive any additional remuneration for his services as CEO of Transcend. Rob resigned as CEO effective from 
14 December 2018. Rob is a non-executive director and it is estimated that he spends roughly 10% of his time on Transcend, which would 
have equated to R0.79 million (2018: R2.1 million) of his total remuneration received from IHS.

2   Solly Mboweni received remuneration of R3.63 million in 2019 (2018: R3.74 million) from IHS AM for his services as CEO of Transcend. Solly was 
appointed as CEO of Transcend from 14 December 2018 after the resignation of Rob Wesselo.

3   Dave Lange received remuneration of R0.36 million in 2018 from IHS for his services as CFO of Transcend. Dave resigned as CFO with effect 
from 8 March 2018.

4   Myles Kritzinger received remuneration of R1.58 million (2018:R0.93 million) from IHS AM for his services as CFO of Transcend. Myles was 
appointed as CFO of Transcend from 9 March 2018.

5   Vanessa Perfect received remuneration of R2.14 million (2018:R0.08 million) from IHS AM for her services as COO of Transcend. Vanessa 
was appointed as COO of Transcend from 14 December 2018.

6   Cathal Conaty received remuneration of R7.97 million in 2018 from International Housing Solutions Societe a Responsabilite Limitee  
(“IHS S.a.r.l”) for his services as director of IHS S.a.r.l. Cathal does not receive a fee for his services as a non-executive director of Transcend. 
Cathal resigned as a non-executive director effective 14 December 2018, and has been appointed as a prescribed officer from that date.

7  Mike Falcone received remuneration of R16.50 million in 2019 (2018: R22.81 million) from Hunt Capital Holdings (“Hunt”) for his services as 
CEO of Hunt. Mike does not receive a fee for his services as non-executive director of Transcend. It is estimated that he spends approximately 
5% of his time on Transcend, which would have equated to R0.825 million (2018: R1.14 million) of his total remuneration received from Hunt.

8  Geoff Jennet did not receive remuneration from Transcend, IHS or IHS AM.
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35. directOrs’ remunerAtiOn And benefits continued

There are five directors and a prescribed officer with a direct interest in Transcend shares in issue as at 31 December 2019 as 
disclosed below:

Beneficially
held —

directly %
Number of

shares 

Beneficially
held —

indirectly %
Number of

shares Total % 
Number of

shares

2019       

ML Falcone  —  —  0.3079  403 043  0.3079  403 043 

RR Emslie  0.0002  300 0.5302 694 014 0.5304 694 314

RN Wesselo  0.0611  80 025  —  —  0.0611  80 025 

S Mboweni  0.0126  16 450  —  — — 16 450

V Perfect  0.0005  600  —  —  0.0005  600 

 0.0744  97 375  0.3079  1 051 136  0.3697  1 148 511 

2018

ML Falcone  —  —  0.3056  400 022  0.3056  400 022 

RR Emslie  0.0003  400 0.4951 648 093 0.4954 648 493

RN Wesselo  0.0018  2 400  —  —  0.0018  2 400 

V Perfect  0.0005  600  —  —  0.0005  600 

CP Conaty*  0.0946  123 859  0.0044  5 776  0.0990  129 635 

 0.0972  127 259  0.8051  1 053 891  0.9023  1 181 150

*  Prescribed officer: Cathal Conaty resigned as a non-executive director effective 14 December 2018, and has been appointed as a prescribed 
officer from that date.

There has been no change in directors’ interests between 31 December 2019 and the date of the approval of the financial statements.

36. subsequent events
Declaration of dividend after reporting date

In line with IAS 10 Events After the Reporting Date, the declaration of the final dividend of 34.89 cents per share occurred after the end 
of the reporting period. The Board approved the final dividend on 13 February 2020.

The directors are not aware of any events or circumstances arising since the end of the financial year that would significantly affect 
the operations of the company or the results of its operations.

37. GOinG cOncern
The company earned profit and total comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2019 of R82.05 million (2018: R197.07 million). 
As of that date, the company had a positive net asset value of R1.25 billion (2018: R1.25 billion). The company’s current assets exceed 
its current liabilities by R279.38 million (2018: Current liabilities exceeded current assets by R786.43 million). Current assets include 
R305.77 million of non-current assets which are expected to be realised for cash in the next 12 months. Interest payments on long-term 
borrowings are due quarterly, and the company has satisfied itself that it will have sufficient cash to settle these liabilities as they 
become due and payable each quarter.

The directors consider that the company has adequate resources to continue operating for the foreseeable future and that it 
is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the company’s financial statements. The directors have satisfied 
themselves that the company is in a sound financial position and that it has access to sufficient funding facilities to meet its 
current obligations and foreseeable cash requirements.
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38. cOrrectiOn Of errOr Of nOn-current vs current clAssificAtiOn Of 
interest-beArinG bOrrOwinGs
During 2019, the company discovered that the short-term portion and long-term portion of interest-bearing borrowings had been 
erroneously classified and disclosed in its financial statements since 2017. As a consequence, the short-term portion of interest-bearing 
borrowings has been overstated and the long-term portion of the interest-bearing borrowings has been understated. The errors have 
been corrected by restating each affected financial statement line items for prior periods. The following tables summarise the impact 
on the company’s financial statements.

Statement of financial position

Figures in R’000
As previously

reported Adjustment As restated 

1 JANUARY 2018

Non-current liabilities

Interest-bearing borrowings  502 893  44 301  547 194 

Current liabilities

Short-term portion of interest-bearing borrowings  52 431  (44 301)  8 130 

31 DECEMBER 2018

Non-current liabilities

Interest-bearing borrowings  536 376  44 715  581 091 

Current liabilities

Short-term portion of interest-bearing borrowings  52 924  (44 715)  8 209 
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Figures in R’000 2019 2018

Profit for the year attributable to Transcend shareholders *  82 047  197 068 

Adjustments

Revaluation of properties *****  (15 272)  (160 543)

Unrealised (gain)/loss on interest rate swaps  13 522  (2 155)

Acquisition and transaction costs expensed  3 654  9 493 

Surplus working capital available for distribution **  34  3 956 

Depreciation ****  767  — 

Amortised loan raising fee  (925)  — 

Compensation for loss of vacancy on units held-for-sale ***  1 438  — 

Antecedent dividend available for distribution  —  17 403 

Distribution payable to shareholders  85 265  65 222 

Total dividend   

Interim  39 595  19 957 

Final  45 670  45 265 

Actual number of shares in issue (’000)  130 895  130 895 

Dividend per share (cents)  65.14  64.68 

Interim  30.25  30.10 

Final  34.89  34.58 

*  Attributable to continuing and discontinued operations.

**  Surplus working capital includes taxable temporary differences that are not deductible for tax purposes.

***  Compensation for loss of vacancy on units held-for-sale: This amount is an allocation of net sales proceeds received for Midrand Village 
units sold. The amount is in respect of rental income forfeited on units sold due to units being held vacant for sale. Units sold to third-party 
homeowners require the existing lease in place in respect of that unit to be cancelled by giving notice to the current tenant. Loss of income 
is derived from the period from when a unit sale is unconditional until that unit transfers and registers at the Deed’s Office.

****  Total depreciation of R0.77 million is recognised in the statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive income. The depreciation relates 
to fixtures and fittings and is added back on the basis that it forms part of the capital of the property.

*****  Revaluation of properties includes the revaluation of discontinued operation, Acacia Place.
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sectOrAl prOfile
The entire property portfolio comprises 4 730 residential units, with a combined gross lettable area (GLA) of 267 879m2 and its sector is 
classified as being residential property.

GeOGrAphicAl prOfile
 By number

of units 
 By GLA

(m2) 

By gross
rental (“GR”)

(%) 

PROVINCE

Gauteng  3 758  205 610 77

Mpumalanga  325  16 250 5

Western Cape  647  46 019 18

Total  4 730  267 879 100

tenAnt prOfile
As per Section 13.18 of the JSE Listings Requirements, tenants are graded as follows:

 > A: large national tenants, large listed tenants, government and major franchisees;

 > B: national tenants, listed tenants, franchisees, medium to large professional firms; and

 > C: other.

The entire tenant profile is classified as “C”, comprising 4 730 individual residential tenants as at 31 December 2019. The average occupancy 
period is approximately 20 months.

leAse expiry prOfile
Due to the nature of residential leases, Transcend enters into lease agreements with tenants that are of a standard nature across the 
properties. The lease agreements were conventionally for a period of 12 months after which they convert to month-to-month lease 
agreements that continue until such time as the rental agreement is terminated on notice by the tenant or Transcend. From July 2018, 
lease agreements are signed on a month-to-month basis with tenants. All new contracts are therefore short-term in nature.

Number
of units Units (%)  GLA (%)  GR (%) 

RESIDENTIAL — LEASE EXPIRY     

Vacancy  266 5.6 7.5 6.9

Monthly  4 464 94.4 92.5 93.1

30 June 2020  —  —  —  — 

31 December 2020  —  —  —  — 

31 December 2021  —  —  —  — 

 Total  4 730 100.0 100.0 100.0
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vAcAncy prOfile
An average vacancy rate of 5.62% (2018: 7.67%) for stabilised rental properties in the portfolio was achieved. A property becomes stabilised 
once units have been fully let after an empty newly built property is acquired. A stabilised property is subject to the natural turnover and 
vacancy rates that can be expected on an ongoing basis. The vacancy profile by GLA and number of units is set out below:

Number of
vacant units  Units (%)  GLA (%) 

UNIT TYPE

One bedroom + one bathroom 17 0.4 0.5

Two bedroom + one bathroom 137 2.9 3.9

Two bedroom + two bathroom 32 0.7 0.9

Three bedroom + two bathroom 80 1.6 2.2

Portfolio vacancy 266 5.6 7.5

Based on existing leases as at 31 December 2019.

weiGhted AverAGe rentAl And escAlAtiOns
WEIGHTED AVERAGE RENTAL

R/m2  R/unit 

SECTOR

Residential  109  6 134

The projected weighted average escalation for the portfolio, from 2019 to 2020, is 2.2% (2018: 4.23%).

The average annualised property yield of the properties (based on the independent property valuations) for the 12 months ending 
31 December 2019 is 8.8% (2018: 8.9%).
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Property Name Physical address and province

Market
valuation

(R) *

Effective
date of

acquisition
Total

GLA

Total
number
of units

67 on 7th 67 Seventh Avenue, Edenvale, Gauteng  94 400 1 Oct 16  8 478 157

Acacia Place ** Mara Street, eMalahleni, Mpumalanga  127 500 1 Oct 16  16 250 325

Alpine Mews 72 Forest Road, Eerste Rivier, Western Cape  41 000 1 Oct 16  4 005 90

Birchwood Village Corner of Cedar Road and 3rd Street,  
Chartwell, Gauteng

 304 100 1 Dec 18  26 232 360

De Velde ** Along De Beers Avenue, De Velde, Somerset 
West, Western Cape

 320 607 1 Dec 18  29 330 310

Ekhaya Fleurhof 40 Salinga Crescent, Fleurhof Ext 3, Gauteng  69 500 1 Oct 16  6 642 162

Ekhaya Jabulani 2342 Dikgathlehong Street, Jabulani, Gauteng  91 300 1 Oct 16  10 004 244

Jackalberry Close 23 Sydney Road, Jansen Park, Gauteng  112 000 1 Oct 16  10 713 208

Kensington Place 26 Dover Street, Ferndale, Gauteng  36 600 1 Oct 16  2 376 56

Midrand Village ** Along Porcelain Road, Clayville, Gauteng  162 488 1 Dec 18  11 932 188

Molware Estate Corner Rietspruit Road and Morithi Street, 
Kosmosdal, Gauteng

 139 900 1 Oct 16  11 937 252

Parklands Along Southwark & Dartford Street, Parklands, 
Western Cape

 106 400 1 Oct 16  10 044 187

Protea Glen Kganwe Street, Protea Glen, Ext 11, Soweto  60 200 1 Dec 18  8 480 176

Silverleaf Estate 649 Krige Street, Silverton, Gauteng  42 900 21 Jun 19  5 140 76

Southgate Ridge 5 Duin Place, Naturena, Gauteng  208 550 1 Dec 18  21 972 412

Village Seven, Stone Arch Village 19 Brookhill Road, Castleview, Gauteng  52 100 1 Oct 16  6 039 114

Terenure Estate Corner Oranjerivier and Bergrivier drive, 
Terenure, Ext 70, Gauteng

 217 200 1 Oct 16  22 028 350

Theresa Park Estates 60 Burning Bush Street, Theresa Park,  
Ext 45, Gauteng

 96 500 1 Oct 16  12 388 242

Tradewinds 255 Kent Avenue, Ferndale, Gauteng  50 800 1 Oct 16  3 730 85

Urban Ridge West At 81 Fifth Road, Midrand, Gauteng  147 800 1 Dec 18  14 907 260

Urban Ridge East At 77 Fifth Road, Midrand, Gauteng  110 300 1 Dec 18  10 140 184

Urban Ridge South At the corner of Smuts Drive and 3rd Road, 
Midrand, Gauteng

 136 000 1 Dec 18  12 472 232

Vanguard Village 29 Jade Street, Klipfontein Road, Heideveld, 
Cape Town, Western Cape

 37 600 23 Aug 18  2 640 60

Total  2 765 745  267 879 4 730

* Market value of the property as valued by the independent property valuer.

** Market value of the property/units valued at fair value less cost to sell.
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Property name One bed Two bed Three bed

Total number
of units

owned by
Transcend

Number of
vacant units

Vacancy
(% of units as at

31 Dec 2019)

Weighted
average

rental per
square metre

(R/m2)

67 on 7th — 157 — 157 7 4.46 114

Acacia Place* — 325 — 325 11 3.38 90

Alpine Mews — 90 — 90 5 5.56 116

Birchwood Village 108 224 28 360 21 5.83 106

De Velde* 8 172 130 310 37 11.94 106

Ekhaya Fleurhof — 162 — 162 6 3.70 112

Ekhaya Jabulani — 244 — 244 13 5.30 101

Jackalberry Close — 208 — 208 1 0.40 108

Kensington Place — 56 — 56 4 7.14 157

Midrand Village* — 17 171 188 61 32.60 135

Molware Estate — 252 — 252 7 2.78 124

Parklands — 187 — 187 5 2.67 124

Protea Glen — 156 20 176 10 5.60 81

Silverleaf Estate — 76 — 76 1 1.30 88

Southgate Ridge — 412 — 412 6 1.46 100

Village Seven, Stone Arch Village — 114 — 114 6 5.26 104

Terenure Estate — 282 68 350 11 3.14 103

Theresa Park Estates 68 174 — 242 12 4.96 92

Tradewinds 85 — — 85 3 3.53 138

Urban Ridge West — 260 — 260 10 3.85 112

Urban Ridge East — 170 14 184 16 8.08 117

Urban Ridge South — 232 — 232 12 5.17 123

Vanguard Village — 60 — 60 1 1.67 150

 Total 269 4 030 431 4 730 266 5.62 109

* Property or units classified as non-current asset held-for-sale.
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 Number of
holders

 Number of
shares

(’000)
% of

capital 

Non-public 7  107 421 82.1

Public 91  23 473 17.9

Total 98 130 895 100.00

distributiOn Of shArehOlders
 Number

of holders
 % of total

shareholders

 Number
of shares

(’000)

% of
total issued

share capital

Individuals  76 77.6  229 0.2

Investment companies  6 6.1  739 0.6

Other corporations  16 16.3  129 927 99.3

Total  98 100.0 130 895 100.0

rAnGe AnAlysis At 31 december 2019
 Number

of holders
 % of total

shareholders

 Number
of shares

(’000)

% of
total issued

share capital

1 – 1 000 shares  50 51.0 8 0.0

1001 – 10 000 shares  27 27.6 77 0.1

10 001 – 100 000 shares  9 9.2 379 2.3

100 001 – 1 000 000 shares  — — — —

1 000 0001 shares and over  12 12.2 130 430 97.6

Total  98 100.0 130 895 100.0
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The following shareholders hold, beneficially directly or indirectly, at 31 December 2019 in excess of 5% of the issued share capital:

Number
of shares

(’000) 
 % of

capital 

SAWHF PVE (SA) 46 088 35.2

Emira 45 682 34.9

IHS RF (Pty) Ltd 14 953 11.4

BNYM 15 Omnibus account 12 959 9.9

SA Corporate Real Estate Fund 6 600 5.0

shAre price infOrmAtiOn
2019 

Opening price on 1 January 2019 R5.60 

Closing price on 31 December 2019 R6.51

Closing high for period R6.95

Closing low for period R5.60

Number of shares in issue (’000)  130 895 

Volume traded during period (’000)  404 601 

Ratio of volume traded to shares issued (%)* —

Rand value traded during the period (R’000) R2 531

Market capitalisation at 31 December 2019 (R’000) R852 127 

* No new share capital was issued during the financial year under review.
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TRANSCEND RESIDENTIAL 
PROPERTY FUND LIMITED

Registration number: 2016/277183/06

JSE share code: TPF ISIN: ZAE000227765

(Approved as a REIT by the JSE)

(“Transcend” or “the company”)

Notice is hereby given that the company’s 
annual general meeting (“AGM” or “the 
meeting”) will be held at 54 Peter Place, 
Peter Place Office Park, Block C, Cardiff 
House, Bryanston, Johannesburg on 
Friday, 29 May 2020 at 14:00.

Shareholders entitled to receive this 
notice are shareholders as recorded in the 
company’s register on Friday, 24 April 2020. 
The record date on which shareholders 
must be recorded in the register 
maintained by the transfer secretaries 
of the company for purposes of being 
entitled to attend and vote at the meeting 
is Friday, 22 May 2020. Accordingly, the last 
day to trade is Tuesday, 19 May 2020.

Kindly note that meeting participants 
(shareholders and proxies) are required 
to provide reasonably satisfactory 
identification before being entitled to 
attend or participate in a shareholders’ 
meeting. Forms of identification include 
valid identity documents, driver’s 
licences and passports.

A quorum for purposes of considering the 
resolutions to be proposed at the meeting 
shall consist of three shareholders of 
the company personally present or 
represented by proxy and entitled to vote 
at the meeting. In addition, the quorum 
shall comprise 25% of all voting rights 
entitled to be exercised by shareholders.

ELECTRONIC PARTICIPATION IN THE AGM

Shareholders or their proxies may 
participate in the AGM by way 
of a teleconference call, if they 
wish to do so and:

 > must contact the Company Secretary (by 
e-mail at jzerwick@corpstat.co.za) by no 
later than 14:00 on Wednesday, 27 May 
2020 in order to obtain dial-in details for 
the conference call;

 > will be required to provide reasonably 
satisfactory identification, in advance;

 > will be billed separately by their 
own telephone service provider for 
the telephone call to participate 
in the AGM; and

 > electronic participation in the AGM will 
not entitle a shareholder to vote. Should 
a shareholder wish to vote at the AGM, he 
may do so by attending the AGM either in 
person or by proxy.

PURPOSE AND GENERAL INFORMATION

The purpose of the meeting is to present 
the annual financial statements for the 
year ended 31 December 2019 and to 
consider, and if deemed fit, to pass, with 
or without modification, the ordinary, 
non-binding and special resolutions set 
out in this notice. Shareholders may also 
raise matters, with or without advance 
notice to the company, for consideration 
in the meeting.

Agenda

Presentation of financial 
statements (non-voting 
agenda point)
The audited financial statements 
of the company for the year ended 
31 December 2019, including the director’s 
report, the independent auditor’s report, 
the Audit and Risk Committee report, the 
Social and Ethics Committee report and 
various other sub-committee reports as 
required in terms of section 30(3)(d) of 
the Companies Act, No.71 of 2008 (“the 
Companies Act”) are hereby presented. 
The complete set of the annual financial 
statements is available on  
www.transcendproperty.co.za.

Ordinary resolutions
With the exception of ordinary resolution 
number 4, which, in order to be adopted 
in terms of the JSE Limited (“JSE”) Listings 
Requirements, requires more than 75% 
(seventy five percent) of voting rights 
exercised in favour, the percentage 
required for the ordinary resolutions 
below to be adopted is more than 
50% (fifty percent) of the voting rights 
exercised in favour of each resolution.

1. ORDINARY RESOLUTION 
NUMBER 1: RE-ELECTION OF 
DIRECTORS
To re-elect, each by way of separate 
resolutions, the following independent 
and non-executive directors by rotation 
in accordance with the company’s 
Memorandum of Incorporation (“MOI”), 
who, being eligible, have made themselves 
available for re-election:

1.1  Ordinary resolution 1.1: Re-election 
of Robert Nicolaas Wesselo as non-
executive director.

1.2  Ordinary resolution 1.2: Re-election 
of Michael Louis Falcone as non-
executive director.

1.3  Ordinary resolution 1.3: Re-election 
of Faith Nondumiso Khanyile as 
independent non-executive director.

Refer to pages 22 to 25 of the integrated 
annual report for a profile of each director.

The reason for proposing ordinary 
resolution number 1.1 to 1.3 is that 
clause 25.12.2 of the MOI requires that 
one-third of the non-executive directors 
retire at each annual general meeting.

2. ORDINARY RESOLUTION 
NUMBER 2: ELECTION OF 
AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE 
MEMBERS
To elect, each by way of separate 
resolutions, the following independent 
non-executive directors (ordinary 
resolutions 2.1 to 2.3) of the company as 
members of the Audit and Risk Committee. 
The Board recommends the election of the 
following members:

2.1  Ordinary resolution 2.1: The election 
of Michael Simpson Aitken as member 
and chairman of the Audit and 
Risk Committee.

2.2  Ordinary resolution 2.2: The election 
of Anne Michelle Dickens as member 
of the Audit and Risk Committee.

2.3  Ordinary resolution 2.3: The election 
of Faith Nondumiso Khanyile as 
a member of the Audit and Risk 
Committee, subject to the passing 
of ordinary resolution 1.3.

Refer to pages 22 to 25 of this integrated 
report for a brief profile of each 
proposed member.

Explanatory note: Ordinary resolution 
numbers 2.1 to 2.3 are proposed to 
appoint members to the Audit and 
Risk Committee, in accordance with 
the guidelines of the King Report on 
Corporate Governance for South Africa, 
2016 (“King IV”) and the requirements 
of the Companies Act. In terms of the 
aforementioned requirements, an Audit 
Committee must comprise a minimum of 
three members, all of whom should be 
independent non-executive directors of 
the company. Furthermore, in terms of the 
Companies Act Regulations 2011, at least 
one-third of the members of the Audit and 
Risk Committee at any particular time 
must have academic qualifications, or 
experience, in economics, law, corporate 
governance, finance, accounting, 
commerce, industry, public affairs or 
human resource management. Mindful of 
the aforegoing, the Board recommends 
that the nominated directors be members 
of the Audit and Risk Committee.
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3. ORDINARY RESOLUTION 
NUMBER 3: APPOINTMENT 
OF INDEPENDENT EXTERNAL 
AUDITORS
To approve the re-appointment of 
KPMG Incorporated as the independent 
external auditors of the company, 
with Marcelle Fouché being the 
individual registered auditor who will 
undertake the audit of the company 
for the 2020 financial year.

Explanatory note: The reason for 
proposing ordinary resolution number 3 is 
that the company’s independent external 
auditors must be re-appointed at each 
annual general meeting in compliance 
with section 90 of the Companies Act. 
The Audit and Risk Committee and the 
Board have evaluated the performance 
of KPMG Incorporated (in accordance 
with paragraph 3.84(g)(iii) read with 
paragraph 22.15(i) of the JSE Listings 
Requirements) and recommend their 
reappointment as the independent 
external auditors of the company.

4. ORDINARY RESOLUTION 
NUMBER 4: GENERAL 
AUTHORITY TO ISSUE SHARES 
FOR CASH
To authorise the directors of the 
company, in accordance with the MOI, 
the Companies Act and the JSE Listings 
Requirements, to allot and issue for cash, 
as and when deemed fit, the ordinary 
shares in the authorised but unissued 
share capital of the company, subject 
to the following conditions:

 > the general authority shall be valid only 
until the company’s next AGM or 15 
months from the date of passing of this 
ordinary resolution, whichever is earlier;

 > the ordinary shares which are the 
subject of the issue for cash must be of 
a class already in issue, or where this 
is not the case, must be limited to such 
securities or rights that are convertible 
into or represent options in respect of 
a class already in issue;

 > any such issue will only be made to 
‘public shareholders’ as defined in the 
JSE Listings Requirements and not to 
related parties;

 > the number of shares issued for cash 
will not in aggregate exceed 10% (ten 
percent) of the company’s listed ordinary 
shares (excluding treasury shares) as 
at date of the notice of this AGM, such 
number being 130 894 793 ordinary 
shares (excluding treasury shares) in 
the company’s issued share capital;

 > any ordinary shares issued under this 
authority during the period of its validity 
must be deducted from the above 
number of ordinary shares and the 
authority shall be adjusted accordingly 
to represent the same allocation 
ratio on the event of a subdivision 
or consolidation of ordinary shares 
during the same period;

 > the maximum discount permitted at 
which ordinary shares may be issued 
is 10% (ten percent) of the weighted 
average traded price on the JSE of those 
shares over the 30 (thirty) business 
days prior to the date that the price 
of the issue is agreed between the 
company and the party subscribing for 
the shares; and

 > an announcement giving full details of 
the issue, will be published at the time of 
any issue representing, on a cumulative 
basis as contemplated in paragraph 
5.50(b) of the JSE Listings Requirements, 
5% (five percent) or more of the number 
of the shares in issue prior to the issue.

In terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, 
the percentage of voting rights required 
to pass this ordinary resolution is at least 
75% (seventy five percent) of the voting 
rights exercised in favour of the resolution 
by all members present or represented by 
proxy at the AGM.

Explanatory note: The reason for 
proposing ordinary resolution number 
4 is that the directors consider it 
advantageous to have the authority to 
issue ordinary shares for cash in order to 
enable the company to take advantage 
of any business opportunity which might 
arise in the future.

5. ORDINARY RESOLUTION 
NUMBER 5: AUTHORITY TO 
IMPLEMENT RESOLUTIONS
To authorise and empower any director 
or the Company Secretary, to do all such 
things and sign all such documents and 
take all such actions as they consider 
necessary, to implement the resolutions 
set out in this notice.

6. NON-BINDING RESOLUTION 
NUMBER 1: ENDORSEMENT 
OF REMUNERATION POLICY
For shareholders to endorse, through a 
non-binding advisory vote, Transcend’s 
remuneration policy (excluding the 
remuneration of non-executive directors).

The complete remuneration policy is 
available on www.transcendproperty.co.za 
and a summary thereof is provided on  
pages 54 to 55 of the integrated annual report.

Explanatory note: In terms of King IV, 
an advisory vote should be obtained 
from shareholders on the company’s 
remuneration policy. The vote allows 
shareholders to express their view on 
the remuneration policy.

7. NON-BINDING RESOLUTION 
NUMBER 2: ENDORSEMENT 
OF REMUNERATION 
IMPLEMENTATION REPORT
For shareholders to endorse, through a 
non-binding advisory vote, Transcend’s 
remuneration implementation report. 
Refer to page 55 of the integrated 
annual report for the remuneration 
implementation report.

Explanatory note: In terms of King IV, 
an advisory vote should be obtained 
from shareholders on the company’s 
implementation plan. The vote allows 
shareholders to express their view on 
the remuneration implementation report.

In the event of 25% (twenty five percent) or 
more of shareholders voting against non-
binding resolutions number 1 or 2 or both, 
the Board is committed to engage actively 
with dissenting shareholders in this 
regard, in order to address all legitimate 
and reasonable objections and concerns.

Special resolutions
The percentage of voting rights required 
for the special resolutions below to be 
adopted is at least 75% (seventy five 
percent) of the voting rights exercised in 
favour of each of the special resolutions.
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8. SPECIAL RESOLUTION 
NUMBER 1: APPROVAL OF 
THE INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ 
REMUNERATION
To approve, in terms of section 66(9) of the 
Companies Act, payment of remuneration 
for services as independent non-executive 
directors of the company for a period of 
two years from the date of passing this 
special resolution, or until its renewal, 
whichever is the earliest, as set out below:

To approve the independent non-executive 
directors’ remuneration with effect from 
this AGM until the next AGM, as follows:

Position of appointment
Proposed fee

 excl. VAT

Chairman of the Board  
of Directors R270 000

Chairman of the Audit  
and Risk Committee R270 000

Board Member R270 000

The proposed fees reflect no increase 
in fees for independent non-
executive directors. 

No fees are paid to the non-independent 
non-executive directors.

Explanatory note: This resolution 
is proposed to comply with the 
requirements of the Companies Act. 
In terms of section 65(11)(h) of the 
Companies Act, read with sections 66(8) 
and 66(9), remuneration may only be paid 
to directors for their services as directors 
in accordance with a special resolution 
approved by the shareholders within the 
previous two years.

9. SPECIAL RESOLUTION 
NUMBER 2: AMENDMENT 
OF THE MEMORANDUM OF 
INCORPORATION
Special Resolution 2.1: To resolve that 
clause 25.12.2 reading “subject to clause 
25.12.1, at each general meeting referred 
to in clause 19.4, 1/3 (one third) of the 
Directors then in office, or if their number 
is not three or a multiple of three, the 
number nearest to 1/3, but not less than 
1/3, shall retire from office, provided 
that at least 1/3 (one third) of the non-
executive Directors then in office, or if 
their number is not three or a multiple of 
three, the number nearest to 1/3, but not 
less than 1/3, shall retire from office”, be 
deleted in its entirety and be replaced 
with the following new clause 25.12.2:

“Subject to the Act, the JSE Listings 
Requirements and this Memorandum of 
Incorporation, at every annual general 
meeting one third of the non-executive 
directors for the time being or if their 
number is not a multiple of three, then 
the number nearest to but not less than 
one third shall retire from office. The non-
executive directors so to retire at every 
annual general meeting shall be those 
who have been longest in office since their 
last election, but as between persons who 
become or were last elected directors on 
the same day, those to retire shall (unless 
they otherwise agree among themselves) 
be determined by lot”.

Special Resolution 2.2: To further resolve 
that clause 25.12.3 reading as follows, 
be deleted in its entirety: “the Directors 
to retire in every year are, firstly those 
who have been appointed to fill a casual 
vacancy or an additional appointment 
to the Board, and secondly those who 
have been longest in office since their 
last election, but as between persons 
who were elected as Directors on the 
same day, those to retire shall, unless 
they otherwise agree among themselves, 
be determined by lot. Notwithstanding 
the aforegoing, if at the date of any 
annual general meeting, any:

25.12.3.1 Director will have held office 
for a period of 3 (three) years since 
his last election or appointment;

25.12.3.2 Non-executive Director will 
have held office for an aggregate 
period of 9 (nine) years since his 
first election or appointment;

then such Director shall retire at such 
annual general meeting, either as one of 
the Directors to retire in pursuance to 
the aforegoing or additionally thereto’’.

Special Resolution 2.3: That subject 
to the approval of 2.1 and 2.2, the 
numbering of clause 25, starting with 
clause number 25.12.2 be amended 
and that 25.12.4 becomes 25.12.3 and 
that every other clause that follows, 
move their numbering accordingly.

Explanatory note: The reasons for special 
resolution number 2.1, 2.2 and 2.3 are:

1. To replace clause 25.12.2 with the 
new clause 25.12.2 as set out under 
point 2.1 above in order to remove 
the ambiguous reference to both 
“Directors” and “non-executive 
Directors” in the current clause 25.12.2. 
This clause refers to the provisions of 
the retiring and rotation of directors.

2. Clause 25.12.3 is deleted as it 
already addressed in 25.12.2.

10. SPECIAL RESOLUTION 
NUMBER 3: AUTHORITY 
TO PROVIDE FINANCIAL 
ASSISTANCE TO RELATED 
OR INTER-RELATED ENTITIES
To authorise the Board, to the extent 
required by and subject to sections 44 
and 45 of the Companies Act and the 
company’s MOI, to cause the company 
to provide direct or indirect financial 
assistance to a related or inter-related 
company or to a shareholder of a related 
or inter-related company, provided that no 
such financial assistance may be provided 
at any time in terms of this authority after 
the expiry of two years from the adoption 
of this special resolution number 3.

Explanatory note: Notwithstanding 
the title of section 45 of the Companies 
Act, being “Loans or other financial 
assistance to directors”, on a proper 
interpretation, the body of the section 
may also apply to financial assistance 
provided by a company to related or 
inter-related companies, including, 
among others, its subsidiaries, for any 
purpose. Furthermore, section 44 of 
the Companies Act may also apply to 
financial assistance so provided by a 
company to related or inter-related 
companies, in the event that financial 
assistance is provided for the purposes 
of, or in connection with, the subscription 
of any option, or any securities, issued 
or to be issued by the company or a 
related or inter-related company, or for 
the purchase of any securities of the 
company or a related or inter-related 
company. Both sections 44 and 45 of the 
Companies Act provide, among others, 
that the particular financial assistance 
must be provided only pursuant to a 
special resolution of the shareholders, 
adopted within the previous two years, 
which approved such assistance whether 
for the specific recipient, or generally for 
a category of potential recipients, and 
the specific recipient falls within that 
category and the Board must be satisfied 
that (a) immediately after approving the 
financial assistance, the company would 
satisfy the solvency and liquidity test; and 
(b) the terms under which the financial 
assistance is proposed to be given are 
fair and reasonable to the company.
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In the normal course of business the 
company is often required to grant 
financial assistance, including but not 
limited to loans and/or guarantees 
in favour of third parties, such as 
financial institutions, service providers 
and counterparties (in respect of the 
provision of banking facilities, acquisition 
transactions and debt capital) for the 
obligations of the company or a related or 
inter-related company, or to a shareholder 
of a related or inter-related company, or 
to a person related to any such company. 
Special resolution number 3 will enable 
the company to provide such financial 
assistance to subsidiaries and juristic 
persons in the company or other person 
that is or becomes related or inter-related 
to the company for any purpose in the 
normal course of business.

11. SPECIAL RESOLUTION 
NUMBER 4: APPROVAL TO 
ISSUE SHARES IN TERMS 
OF SECTION 41(1) OF THE 
COMPANIES ACT
To approve the issue by the company of 
shares to any director, future director, 
prescribed officer or future prescribed 
officer of the company, or to a person 
related or inter-related to the company, 
or to a person related or inter-related 
to a director or prescribed officer of the 
company, or to any nominee of such 
person, in terms of any placement, offer, 
book-build or similar capital raising, at 
the same price and on the same terms 
as those upon which shares are issued 
to other investors in terms of such capital 
raising and in accordance with section 
41(1) of the Companies Act and the JSE 
Listings Requirements.

Explanatory note: The reason for special 
resolution number 4 is to authorise the 
issue of shares in terms of capital raisings 
if and to the extent that such shares are 
issued to directors of the company and 
related persons.

FURTHER DISCLOSURES IN 
TERMS OF PARAGRAPH 11.26 
OF THE JSE LISTINGS 
REQUIREMENTS
The following information listed 
below has been included in the 
integrated annual report:

The JSE Listings Requirements require 
the following disclosures, which are 
contained in the annual report of which 
this notice forms part:

 > major shareholders of the company 
— page 111; and

 > stated capital of the company — page 83.

Material changes
Other than the facts and developments 
reported on in the integrated annual 
report, there have been no material 
changes in the affairs or financial or 
trading position of the company since 
the date of signature of the audit report 
and up to the date of this notice.

Directors’  
responsibility 
statement
The directors, whose names appear in 
the 2019 annual financial statements, 
collectively and individually, accept full 
responsibility for the accuracy of the 
information given in this notice and 
certify that to the best of their knowledge 
and belief there are no facts that have 
been omitted which would make any 
statement false or misleading and that all 
reasonable enquiries to ascertain such 
facts have been made and that this notice 
contains all information required by law 
and the JSE Listings Requirements.

Voting and proxies
A shareholder who is entitled to attend 
and vote at the AGM may appoint one 
or more proxies (who need not be a 
shareholder of the company) to attend, 
speak and vote in his stead. On a show of 
hands, every shareholder of the company 
present in person or represented by proxy 
shall have one vote only. On a poll, every 
shareholder of the company present in 
person or represented by proxy shall have 
one vote for every share in the company 
held by such shareholder.

A form of proxy is attached for the 
convenience of any Transcend shareholder 
holding certificated shares who cannot 
attend the annual general meeting but 
who wishes to be represented thereat. 
Forms of proxy may also be obtained on 
request from the company’s registered 
office. For administrative purposes, 
the completed form of proxy should be 
deposited at or posted to the office of the 
transfer secretaries of the company, Link 
Market Services South Africa (Pty) Ltd, 13th 
Floor, 19 Ameshoff Street, Braamfontein, 
Johannesburg, 2001 (PO Box 4844, 
Johannesburg, 2000) or e-mailed to 
meetfax@linkmarketservices.co.za.

Alternatively, the form of proxy may be 
handed to the chairperson of the AGM 
or the transfer secretaries, at any time 
prior to the commencement of the AGM 
or prior to voting on any resolutions 
proposed at the AGM. Any shareholder 
who completes and lodges a form of proxy 
will nevertheless be entitled to attend 
and vote in person at the AGM should the 
shareholder subsequently decide to do so.

Attached to the form of proxy is an 
extract of section 58 of the Companies 
Act, to which shareholders are referred.

By order of the Board

Johann Zerwick on behalf of CorpStat  
Governance Services Proprietary Limited

28 April 2020
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TRANSCEND RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY FUND LIMITED (INCORPORATED IN THE REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA) 

Registration number: 2016/277183/06 | JSE share code: TPF | ISIN: ZAE000227765 | (Approved as a REIT by the JSE) | (“Transcend” or “the company”)

This proxy form is to be used by the shareholders of Transcend to 
vote at the annual general meeting (“AGM”) of the company that will 
be held on Friday, 29 May 2020 at 14:00 at 54 Peter Place, Peter Place 
Office Park, Block C, Cardiff House, Bryanston, Johannesburg, and 
is for use by certificated ordinary shareholders and dematerialised 
shareholders with ‘own name’ registrations on the date of 
the meeting. 

Each shareholder that is entitled to attend and vote at the meeting 
may appoint one or more proxies (who need not be a shareholder 
of the company) to attend, speak and vote in his stead. Please print 
clearly when completing this form and see the instructions and 
notes at the end of this form for an explanation of the use of this 
proxy form and the rights of the shareholder and the proxy. 

I (full name in block letters: 

of (address):  

being a shareholder of the company and the registered holder of: 

 ordinary shares in the company, 

do hereby appoint: 

or failing him/her, the chairman of the AGM, to attend and 
participate in the meeting and to speak and vote or abstain from 
voting for me and on my behalf in respect of all matters arising 
(including any poll and all resolutions put to the meeting) at the 
meeting, even if the meeting is postponed, and at any resumption 
thereof after any adjournment. 

My proxy shall vote as follows (indicate with a cross how you wish 
your votes to be cast). If you do not do so, the proxy may vote or 
abstain at his/her discretion):

Number of votes: In
 f

a
vo

u
r

A
g

a
in

st

A
b

st
a

in

1.  Ordinary resolution No. 1:  
Re-election of directors

1.1 Re-election of Robert Nicolaas Wesselo

1.2 Re-election of Michael Louis Falcone

1.3 Re-election of Faith Nondumiso Khanyile

2.  Ordinary Resolution No. 2:  
Election of Audit and Risk Committee members

2.1 Election of Michael Simpson Aitken

2.2 Election of Anne Michelle Dickens

2.3 Election of Faith Nondumiso Khanyile

3.  Ordinary Resolution No. 3:  
Appointment of independent external auditors

4.  Ordinary Resolution No. 4:  
General authority to issue shares for cash

5.  Ordinary Resolution No. 5:  
Authority to implement resolutions

6.  Endorsement of Remuneration Policy  
(non-binding resolution no. 1)

7.  Endorsement of Remuneration Implementation 
Report (non-binding resolution no. 2)

8.  Special Resolution No. 1:  
Approval of the independent non-executive 
directors’ remuneration

9.  Special Resolution No. 2:  
Amendment of the Memorandum of Incorporation

9.1  Special Resolution No. 2.1:  
The deletion of clause 25.12.2 in its entirety and 
replaced with a new clause 25.12.2

9.2  Special Resolution No. 2.2:  
The deletion of clause 25.12.3 in its entirety

9.3  Special Resolution No. 2.3:  
The renumbering of clause 25 of the Memorandum 
of Incorporation

10.  Special Resolution No. 3:  
Approval to provide financial assistance to 
related or inter-related entities

11.  Special Resolution No. 4:  
Approval to issue shares in terms of section S41(1) 
of the Companies Act

Signed at:  on  2020

Signature: 

Assisted by (where applicable) 

Please read the notes on the reverse side hereof.
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1.  Shareholders who have already 
dematerialised their shares through 
a Central Securities Depository 
Participant (“CSDP”) or broker and 
who wish to attend the AGM must 
instruct their CSDP or broker to 
issue them with the necessary 
letter of representation to attend. 
For administrative purposes, 
dematerialised shareholders, who 
have elected “own name” registration 
in the sub-register through a CSDP 
and who are unable to attend but 
who wish to vote at the AGM must 
complete and return the attached 
form of proxy and lodge it with the 
transfer secretaries of the company, 
Link Market Services South Africa 
(Pty) Ltd, 13th Floor, Rennie House, 
19 Ameshoff Street, Braamfontein, 
Johannesburg, 2001 (PO Box 4844, 
Johannesburg, 2000) or be e-mailed to 
meetfax@linkmarketservices.co.za  
at least 48 hours prior to the AGM. 

  Alternatively, the form of proxy may 
be handed to the chairperson of the 
AGM or the transfer secretaries, at 
any time prior to the commencement 
of the AGM or prior to voting on any 
resolutions proposed at the AGM. 
Any shareholder who completes 
and lodges a form of proxy will 
nevertheless be entitled to attend 
and vote in person at the AGM should 
the shareholder subsequently 
decide to do so. 

2.  All beneficial owners whose shares 
have been dematerialised through a 
CSDP or broker other than with “own 
name” registration, must provide 
the CSDP or broker with their voting 
instructions in terms of their custody 
agreement should they wish to vote 
at the AGM. Alternatively, they may 
request the CSDP or broker to provide 
them with a letter of representation, 
in terms of their custody agreements, 
should they wish to attend the AGM. 
Such shareholder must not complete 
the attached form of proxy. 

3.  A shareholder may insert the 
names of a proxy or the names 
of two alternative proxies of the 
shareholder’s choice in the space 
provided, with or without deleting 
“the chairman of the annual general 
meeting”, but any such deletion must 
be initialled by the shareholder. The 
person whose name appears first on 
this form of proxy and which has not 
been deleted shall be entitled to act as 
proxy to the shareholder.

  A shareholder is entitled to one vote 
on a show of hands on a poll, one 
vote in respect of each ordinary share 
held. A shareholder’s instructions 
to the proxy must be indicated by 
inserting the relevant number of votes 
exercisable by the shareholder in the 
appropriate box. Failure to comply 
with this will be deemed to authorise 
the proxy to vote or to abstain from 
voting at the annual general meeting 
as he deems fit in respect of all the 
shareholder’s votes. 

5.  A vote given in terms of an instrument 
of proxy shall be valid in relation 
to the annual general meeting, 
notwithstanding the death, insanity 
or other legal disability of the person 
granting it, or the revocation of the 
proxy, or the transfer of the ordinary 
shares in respect of which the proxy is 
given, unless an intimation as to any 
of the aforementioned matters shall 
have been received by the transfer 
secretaries or by the chairman of the 
annual general meeting before the 
commencement of the AGM. 

6.  If a shareholder does not indicate 
on this form of proxy that his proxy 
is to vote in favour of or against any 
resolution or to abstain from voting, 
or gives contradictory instructions, or 
should any further resolution(s) or any 
amendment(s) which may properly 
be put before the AGM, be proposed, 
the proxy shall be entitled to vote as 
he thinks fit. 

7.  The authority of a person signing a 
proxy in a representative capacity 
must be attached to this form of proxy 
unless that authority has already 
been recorded with the company’s 
transfer secretary or waived by the 
chairman of the AGM. 

8.  A minor or any other person under 
legal incapacity must be assisted by 
his parent or guardian as applicable, 
unless the relevant documents 
establishing capacity are produced 
or have been registered with the 
transfer secretaries. 

9.  Where there are joint holders of 
ordinary shares: 

 > any one holder may sign the 
form of proxy; and

 > the vote(s) of the senior shareholders 
(for that purpose seniority will be 
determined by the order in which 
the names of ordinary shareholders 
appear in the company’s register) 
who tender a vote (whether in 
person or by proxy) will be accepted 
to the exclusion of the vote(s) of the 
other joint shareholder(s). 

10.  It is requested that proxies be lodged 
at or posted to the company’s transfer 
secretaries, Link Market Services 
South Africa Pty Ltd, 13th Floor, 
Rennie House, 19 Ameshoff Street, 
Braamfontein, Johannesburg, 2001  
(PO Box 4844, Johannesburg, 2000)  
meetfax@linkmarketservices.co.za  
at least 48 hours prior to the AGM. 

11.  Any alteration or correction made 
to this form of proxy, other than the 
deletion of alternatives, must be 
initialled by the signatory/ies. 

12   The completion and lodging of this 
form of proxy shall not preclude the 
relevant shareholder from attending 
the annual general meeting and 
speaking and voting in person 
thereat to the exclusion of any 
proxy appointed in terms hereof. 

13.  The chairman of the AGM may reject 
or accept a form of proxy that is 
completed, other than in accordance 
with these instructions and notes, 
provided that the chairman is 
satisfied as to the manner in which 
a shareholder wishes to vote. 

14.  Subject to the restrictions set out 
in this form of proxy, a proxy may 
not delegate the proxy’s authority 
to act on behalf of a shareholder 
to another person. 

15.  Attached to the form of proxy is an 
extract of section 58 of the Companies 
Act, to which shareholders are referred. 

16.  In terms of section 63(1) meeting 
participants will be required 
to provide identification to the 
reasonable satisfaction of the 
chairman of the AGM and the 
chairman must be reasonably 
satisfied that the right of any 
person to participate in and vote 
(whether as a shareholder or as a 
proxy for a shareholder) has been 
reasonably satisfied.
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“AGM” Annual general meeting 

“All Share” The JSE All Share Index

“AltX” Alternative Exchange of the JSE Limited

“CEO” Chief executive officer

“CFO” Chief financial officer

“Companies Act” Companies Act 71 of 2008, as amended

“COO” Chief operating officer

“COVID-19” Coronavirus disease 2019

“DPS” Dividend per share

“Emira” Emira Property Fund Limited 

“enterprise value” The market capitalisation plus the aggregate debt outstanding

“GLA” Gross lettable area

“HEPS” Headline earnings per share

“IAR” Integrated annual report

“IASB” International Accounting Standards Board

“IFRS” International Financial Reporting Standards

“IHS”; “IHS (RF) (Pty) Ltd” International Housing Solutions (RF) (Pty) Ltd

“IHS AM” IHS Asset Management (Pty) Ltd

“IHS PM” IHS Property Management (Pty) Ltd

“IHS Res 1” International Housing Solutions Residential Partners 1 (RF) (Pty) Ltd

“Instratin” Instratin Properties Pty Limited

“IPO” Initial public offering

“JSE” JSE Limited

“King IV” King IV Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa 2016

“LTV” Loan to value ratio

“MOI” Memorandum of Incorporation

“NAV” Net asset value

“REIT” Real Estate Investment Trust

“SAICA” South African Institute of Chartered Accountants

“SAWHF” South African Workforce Housing Fund PVE (SA)

“Sunnyshore” Sunnyshore Trade and Invest 105 (Pty) Ltd

“stabilised portfolio” Transcend property portfolio excluding any disposal properties

“stabilised property” A stabilised property is subject to the natural turnover and vacancy rates that can be 

expected on an ongoing basis

“the Board” The Board of Directors of Transcend

“Transfer; property transfer” The date in which the property transfers and registers at the deeds office in the name  

of the buyer i.e. Transcend

“Transcend”; “the company” Transcend Residential Property Fund Limited

“WHO” World Health Organization
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Registered office of the company

Transcend Residential Property Fund Limited

(Registration number 2016/277183/06)

54 Peter Place Road, Block C, Cardiff House

Peter Place Office Park

Bryanston

Johannesburg, 2191

(PO Box 1686, Randburg, 2125)

Company Secretary

CorpStat Governance Services (Pty) Ltd

(Registration Number 2004/001556/07)

Hurlingham Office, Hurlingham Office Park

Block C, 59 Woodlands Avenue

Hurlingham

Johannesburg, 2196

(PO Box 724, Melville, 2109)

Property manager

IHS Property Management (Pty) Ltd

(Registration number 2015/009733/07)

54 Peter Place Road, Block C, Cardiff House

Peter Place Office Park

Bryanston

Johannesburg, 2191

Asset manager

IHS Asset Management (Pty) Ltd

(Registration number 2016/399895/07)

54 Peter Place Road, Block C, Cardiff House

Peter Place Office Park

Bryanston

Johannesburg, 2191

(PO Box 1686, Randburg, 2125)

Transfer secretary

Link Market Services South Africa (Pty) Ltd

(Registration number 2000/007239/07)

19 Ameshoff Street

13th Floor

Braamfontein

Johannesburg, 2001

(PO Box 4844, Johannesburg, 2000)

Legal and competition law advisor

Tonkin Clacey Inc

(Registration number 2014/082808/21)

24 Baker Street

Rosebank

Johannesburg, 2196

Cliffe Dekker Hofmeyr

(Registration number 2008/018923/21)

1 Protea Place

Sandton

Johannesburg, 2196

Sponsor

Questco Corporate Advisory (Pty) Ltd

(Registration number 2011/106751/07)

1st Floor, Yellowwood House

Ballywoods Office Park

33 Ballyclare Drive

Bryanston

Johannesburg, 2191

Independent reporting  
accountants and auditors

KPMG Inc.

(Registration number 1999/021543/21)

85 Empire Road

Parktown

Johannesburg, 2193

(Private Bag 9, Parkview, 2122)

Independent property valuer

Real Insight (Pty) Ltd

(Registration number 2012/101775/07)

5th Floor, North Wing

Hyde Park Corner

Hyde Park

Sandton

Johannesburg, 2196

Bankers

The Standard Bank of South Africa Limited

(Registration number 1962/000738/06)

2nd Floor, Rosebank Corner

191 Jan Smuts Avenue

Parktown North

Johannesburg 2193

(PO Box 8786, Johannesburg, 2000)

Nedbank Limited

(Registration number 1951/000009/06)

Head office at Nedbank

135 Rivonia Road Campus

Sandown

Johannesburg, 2196
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sigil design bureausigil design bureau

www.sigil.co.za


www.transcendproperty.co.za


